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PREFACE TO THE DEPARTMENT OF HISTORY AT BERKELEY ORAL HISTORY SERIES

The Department of History at Berkeley oral history series grew out
of Gene Brucker's (Professor of History, 1954-1991) 1995 Faculty
Research Lecture on "History at Berkeley." In developing his lecture on
the transformations in the UC Berkeley Department of History in the
latter half of the twentieth century, Brucker, whose tenure as professor
of history from 1954 to 1991 spanned most of this period, realized how
much of the story was undocumented.

Discussion with Carroll Brentano (M.A. History, 1951, Ph.D.
History, 1967), coordinator of the University History Project at the
Center for Studies in Higher Education, history department faculty wife,
and a former graduate student in history, reinforced his perception that
a great deal of the history of the University and its academic culture
was not preserved for future generations. The Department of History,
where one might expect to find an abiding interest in preserving a
historical record, had discarded years of departmental files, and only a
fraction of history faculty members had placed their personal papers in
the Bancroft Library.!

Moreover, many of the most interesting aspects of the history--the
life experiences, cultural context, and personal perceptions--were only
infrequently committed to paper.? They existed for the most part in the
memories of the participants.

Carroll Brentano knew of the longtime work of the Regional Oral
History Office (ROHO) in recording and preserving the memories of
participants in the history of California and the West and the special
interest of ROHO in the history of the University. She and Gene Brucker
then undertook to involve Ann Lage, a ROHO interviewer/editor who had
conducted a number of oral histories in the University History Series
and was herself a product of Berkeley's history department (B.A. 1963,
M.A. 1965). 1In the course of a series of mutually enjoyable luncheon

!The Bancroft Library holds papers from history professors Walton
Bean, Woodbridge Bingham, Herbert Bolton, Woodrow Borah, George
Guttridge, John Hicks, Joseph Levenson, Henry May, William Alfred
Morris, Frederic Paxson, Herbert Priestley, Engel Sluiter, Raymond
Sontag.

Two published memoirs recall the Berkeley history department: John
D. Hicks, My Life with History (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press,
1968) recalls his years as professor and dean, 1942-1957; Henry F. May
reflects on his years as an undergraduate at Berkeley in the thirties in
Coming to Terms (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1987).
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meetings, the project to document the history of the Department of
History at Berkeley evolved.

In initial discussions about the parameters of the project, during
which the varied and interesting lives of the history faculty were
considered, a crucial decision was made. Rather than conduct a larger
set of short oral histories focussed on topics limited to departmental
history, we determined to work with selected members of the department
to conduct more lengthy biographical memoirs. We would record relevant
personal background--family, education, career choices, marriage and
children, travel and avocations; discuss other institutional
affiliations; explore the process of creating their historical works;
obtain reflections on their retirement years. A central topic for each
would be, of course, the Department of History at Berkeley--its
governance, the informal and formal relationships among colleagues, the
connections with the broader campus, and curriculum and teaching at both
the graduate and undergraduate level.

Using the Brucker lecture as a point of departure, it was decided
to begin to document the group of professors who came to the department
in the immediate postwar years, the 1950s, and the early 1960s. Now
retired, the younger ones somewhat prematurely because of a university
retirement incentive offer in the early nineties, this group was the one
whose distinguished teaching and publications initially earned the
Department of History its high national rating. They made the crucial
hiring and promotion decisions that cemented the department's strength
and expanded and adapted the curriculum to meet new academic interests.

At the same time, they participated in campus governing bodies as
the university dealt with central social, political, and cultural issues
of our times, including challenges to civil liberties and academic
freedom, the response to tumultous student protests over free speech,
civil rights and the Vietnam War, and the demands for equality of
opportunity for women and minorities. And they benefitted from the
postwar years of demographic and economic growth in California
accompanied for the most part through the 1980s with expanding budgets
for higher education. Clearly, comprehensive oral histories discussing
the lives and work of this group of professors would produce narratives
of interest to researchers studying the developments in the discipline
of history, higher education in the modern research university, and
postwar California, as well as the institutional history of the
University of California.

Carroll Brentano and Gene Brucker committed themselves to
facilitate the funding of the oral history project, as well as to enlist
the interest of potential memoirists in participating in the process.
Many members of the department responded with interest, joined the
periodic lunch confabs, offered advice in planning, and helped find
furding to support the project. In the spring of 1996, the interest of

.
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the department in its own history led to an afternoon symposium,
organized by Brentano and Professor of History Sheldon Rothblatt and
titled "Play It Again, Sam." There, Gene Brucker restaged his Faculty
Research Lecture. Professor Henry F. May responded with his own
perceptions of events, followed by comments on the Brucker and May
theses from other history faculty, all videotaped for posterity and the
Bancroft Library.!

Meanwhile, the oral history project got underway with interviews
with Delmer Brown, professor of Japanese history; Nicholas Riasanovsky,
Russian and European intellectual history; and Kenneth Stampp, American
history. A previously conducted oral history with Woodrow Borah, Latin
American history, was uncovered and placed in The Bancroft Library. An
oral history with Carl Schorske, European intellectual history, is in
process at the time of this writing, and more are in the works. The
selection of memoirists for the project is determined not only by the
high regard in which they are held by their colleagues, because that
would surely overwhelm us with candidates, but also by their willingness
to commit the substantial amount of time and thought to the oral history
process. Age, availability of funding, and some attention to a balance
in historical specialties also play a role in the selection order.

The enthusiastic response of early readers has reaffirmed for the
organizers of this project that departmental histories and personal
memoirs are essential to the unraveling of some knotty puzzles: What
kind of a place is this University of California, Berkeley, to which we
have committed much of our lives? What is this academic culture in
which we are enmeshed? And what is this enterprise History, in which we
all engage? As one of the project instigators reflected, "Knowing what
was is essential; and as historians we know the value of sources, even
if they are ourselves." The beginnings are here in these oral
histories.

Carroll Brentano, Coordinator
University History Project
Center for Studies in Higher Education

Gene Brucker
Shepard Professor of History Emeritus

Ann Lage, Principal Editor
Regional Oral History Office

IThe Brucker lecture and May response, with an afterword by David
Hollinger, are published in History at Berkeley: A Dialog in Three Parts
(Chapters in the History of the University of California, Number Seven),
Carroll Brentano and Sheldon Rothblatt, editors [Center for Studies in
Higher Education and Institute of Governmental Studies, University of
California, Berkeley. 1998].
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INTRODUCTION by Irwin Scheiner

As a school child in New York City when sick with a bad cold or
worse, 1 was immediately sentenced to bed. One of the pleasures of
those days were long afternoons of listening to soap operas. Among my
favorites was "Our Gal Sunday": with great portentousness (and well
rounded vowels) the announcer asked, "Can a poor girl from a small
mining town in Montana find happiness married to Lord Henry Brinthrop,
England's most handsome and wealthy Lord?" Or something like that.

I capture, once again, much of my childhood delight and (the same)
astonishment when I look at Delmer Brown's life. How did a boy born in
Peculiar, Missouri, in 1909 become--well, become Delmer? Scholar or
administrator, in all of his enterprises, Delmer became an intrepid
adventurer. There has been, I think, in his character equal parts of
naivete and savvy, always intelligence, and an extraordinary degree of
curiosity and openness to new experience. In its best sense, then,
Delmer is an American of our mid-twentieth century.

How other than in this way can we understand the young Stanford
pre-law graduate applying for and accepting an appointment at one of
Imperial Japan's most prestigious "Higher Schools"? Arriving first in
Tokyo, Delmer trained across Honshu to the old castle town of Kanazawa
on the Japan Sea coast, the location of the school. Clad in the
suitable college garb of the mid-thirties (jaunty sport jacket and
loafers), Delmer lowered himself from the train, where he was met by the
entire upper administration of the school, also suitably garbed (tail
coats and grey trousers).

Within the year Delmer had become acclimated, deeply absorbed in
studying the language and then its history. I will not go into his
determined traveling about Japan (by bike and foot, train and bus); nor
his courtship of Mary Logan, who became Mary Brown, married to Delmer
and Japan, in spite of her desire (having lived most of her pre-college
life as a Japan missionaries' daughter) to live the remainder of her
life in the U.S.

Delmer's return to Stanford to earn a Ph.D. in Japanese history
(ultimately completing a dissertation and then a book, Money Economy in
Medieval Japan) marked the beginning only of the scholarly half of his
career. (World War II gave him the opportunity to display his
extraordinary talent as an administrator, negotiator, and conciliator.
But more on that later.)

When I first met Delmer in 1963, he had just finished
cotranslating from Japanese a major work by Muraoka Tsunetsugu on Shinto
thought, had finished a collaboration and translation with Ishida Ichirs
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on Buddhism and aesthetics in pre-Tokugawa Japan, and had begun his
extraordinary collaboration with Ishida on the interpretation and
translation of the Gukansh®d, a major medieval interpretive historical
text. Our conversations in our early luncheon meetings ranged widely
over Japanese history. But for Delmer--possessed in all ways by kami,
the animistic spirits of Japan--the route to understanding the Japanese
came through the analysis of their religions and, in particular, he
argued, through an understanding of the ways of these spirit/gods. Now
some thirty-five years after he began, he has not only edited but, in
fact, either translated or written a good part of the Cambridge History
volume on early Japanese history. His interpretive imprint now stands
powerfully to the forefront in any Western or Japanese interpretation of
Japanese history or the history of Japanese religion. The task he has
set himself is seemingly endless. Now as he reaches for his eighty-
ninth birthday, he has taken on the task of establishing a major center
for the study of Shinto at Berkeley.

However significant scholarship has been to Delmer, it has
absorbed only one half of his energy. Entering the navy shortly after
Pearl Harbor, Delmer was made an intelligence officer (reaching the rank
of lieutenant commander) and placed in charge of the naval Japanese
translating center at Pearl Harbor. Under his command he had as
brilliant and as eccentric a group of young men as one could imagine. I
am sure, from my later experience with him, he approached his task of
administering the unit with an absolute certainty that he could succeed
in organizing the most intractable of isolates and the most alienated of
poets.

Delmer's mode of operation as an administrator, as I have seen it,
is always to give the impression of his openness to the opinion of
others (which, in fact, he is) and his willingness to negotiate on all
points (which he does do). These are winning points. They also reflect
his optimistic (and very American) belief that good people can always
talk out a problem. But what must also be pointed out is that his
openness does not reflect either muddleheadedness, wishy-washiness, or a
willingness to modify his strongly held opinions. At the end of any
negotiation or discussion to which I have been privy, Delmer has sweetly
but determinedly attained his objectives.

As these memoirs show, Delmer Brown has had and continues to have
a distinguished and memorable career as a scholar and academic
administrator. There are so few people that I know of whose life and
contributions can be described as memorable. Delmer's are.

Irwin Scheiner
Professor of History

August, 1998
Berkeley, California
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INTERVIEW HISTORY--Delmer M. Brown

Delmer M. Brown, professor emeritus of Japanese history, spent his
entire academic career as a member of the UC Berkeley Department of
History, from 1946 to his retirement in 1977. As a young faculty member,
he was an observer of the loyalty oath controversy, 1949-1951, and a
participant in the ”Young Turk” faculty revolt in the history department
in the mid-fifties. He twice served as chairman of the department
(1957-1961 and 1972-1975). As a leader of a moderate faculty group
during the campus unrest of the sixties and seventies, he helped shape
faculty and administration response to the student movement, as he
himself was influenced by student challenges to the status quo in
classroom teaching and campus politics. Throughout his career, Delmer
Brown took an active role in faculty governance on the Berkeley campus
and in the statewide University of California, through his leadership in
the Academic Senate where he was chair of the powerful Budget Committee
(1966-1967), chair of the Berkeley Division of the Academic Senate and
the statewide Representative Assembly (1971-1972), and a member of the
statewide Academic Council (1966-1967, 1971-1972).

At the same time, he has been for more than half a century a
leading scholar of Japanese history. He first encountered Japanese
culture as a recent graduate from Stanford University, when he went to
the Fourth Higher School in Kanazawa, Japan, to teach English from 1932
to 1938. His fascination with the language, culture, and history of
Japan began during those six years and led him back to Stanford for a
Ph.D. in Japanese history, received in 1946 following his wartime naval
service as an intelligence officer at Pearl Harbor. Since then, he has
spent several years of each decade in Japan, with the Asia Foundation in
the mid-fifties, as director of the California Abroad Program, 1967-1969
and 1992-1993, and as director of the Inter-University Center for
Japanese Language Studies, 1978-1988. 1In 1997, he was decorated by the
Emperor of Japan with the Order of the Sacred Treasure. He still
actively pursues his research and writing and continues his travels to
Japan as he enters his nineties.

As one of the most senior professors emeriti of history, with such
a distinguished career and active role in campus affairs, Delmer Brown
was a natural choice to inaugurate the Department of History at Berkeley
oral history series. Interviewing began on March 15, 1995, and
continued for six sessions, a total of fourteen hours, concluding on May
1, 1995. The transcript of the interview was lightly edited and sent to
Professor Brown for his review in November and December of 1995.

At this point, as sometimes occurs when a scholar accustomed to
research and writing confronts the transcript record of his oral
interview, Professor Brown treated the interviews as a jumping off point
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for a more thorough elucidation of the topics covered. He searched out
facts about Department of History hiring patterns and curriculum changes
and found Academic Senate records for events he remembered well but
could not date. He elaborated significantly on some topics,
particularly the sections in the latter half of the interview on his
directorships of the Inter-University Center and the California Abroad
Program, his scholarly work and relationships with Japanese historians,
and editorship of the first volume of the Cambridge History of Japan.

He gave a fuller account of his study and scholarly writings on
Shintoism, wrote about his family and travels, and elaborated on his
views on language study and the Education Abroad Program. All of this
was returned over the course of the next three years to the oral history
office on disk. It was obvious from the conversational tone of his
clear prose that he had kept in mind the suggestions accompanying the
original transcript: "We urge our narrators not to try to formalize the
conversational language of the interview." Professor Brown retained the
informal flavor of an interview in his extensive additions; when
necessary to keep the interview format, he added appropriate questions
for the interviewer.

The resulting document lies somewhere between an oral history and
a written memoir, but questions of genre are not as important to its
value as the richness of the information and the wealth of insights into
the life, work, and thought of Delmer Brown and the record of more than
thirty years of history of the Department of History and the Berkeley
campus.

Irwin Scheiner, professor of Japanese history who has known Delmer
as a colleague in the department since 1963, has written an introduction
to the oral history which makes clear Delmer's importance as an
interpreter of Japanese history and the history of Japanese religion. He
also provides a snapshot of his ever-youthful, open, and optimistic
personal qualities which made him so effective as a faculty leader at
Berkeley. We thank Professor Scheiner for his thoughtful contribution.

On behalf of future scholars, we thank the Department of History
for providing the core funding to make this oral history series
possible, the Center for Japanese Studies for its contributions to the
Delmer Brown interview, and the various individual donors who are listed
on the acknowledgments page. Appreciation is due especially to Carroll
Brentano and Gene Brucker for initiating the series on the history of
the Department of History and for their ongoing efforts in planning and
securing support to continue it.

The Regional Oral History Office was established in 1954 to record
the lives of persons who have contributed significantly to the history
of California and the West. A major focus of the office since 1its
inception has been university history. The series list. of compleced
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oral histories documenting the history of the University of California
is included in this volume. The Regional Oral History Office is a
division of The Bancroft Library and is under the direction of Willa K.
Baum. Shannon Page and Sara Diamond provided editorial assistance in
preparing the Delmer Brown memoir.

Ann Lage
Interviewer/Editor

Regional Oral History Office

The Bancroft Library

University of California, Berkeley
March 2000
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I PERSONAL BACKGROUND AND EDUCATION, 1909-1932

[Interview 1: March 15, 1995] ##!

Family Background, Missouri and Kansas

Lage: This is our first interview about your scholarly career and the
history department and Japanese Studies at the university, and
about you. We are going to start at the beginning. I want you to
talk a little bit about your family and growing up in Kansas. It
seems like a long way from Kansas to Japan. We want to see how you
got there.

Brown: Well, my life started out not in Kansas but in Missouri. It is my
parents who were born in Kansas. My father went to Missouri, where
I was born, and I ended up in Kansas later on, after we lived in
Missouri.

Lage: And when were you born? Let's just get the facts.

Brown: I was born in 1909, November the twentieth. My father and mother
must have moved there two years before that, to a farm near a town
called Peculiar, Missouri.

Lage: Quite a name.

Brown: The story is that the people of this town wanted a peculiar name,
so they named it Peculiar.

Lage: That is wonderful. Tell me about your mother and father.

Brown: My mother and father were children of farmers who lived in
northeastern Kansas. They were farmers whose parents came from

'## This symbol indicates that a tape or tape segment has begun or
ended. A guide to the tapes follows the transcript.
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Illinois, apparently before the Civil War, in a migration that was
a big thing in the history of Kansas.

This migration from Illinois?

A migration from Illinoils, settling in Kansas. It connected with
the North-South conflict about whether Kansas would become a free
or slave state.

There were groups from both sides. Which side did your parents
represent?

They came from Illinois, so they were on the northern side, the
free side. Kansas eventually became a free state.

What kind of an ethnic background did they come from?

I don't know. I think there 1is more German blood on my father's
side. There is also Irish and English. Both sides seem to go back
quite far.

Tell a little bit about growing up on a farm and what experiences
might have shaped some of your later qualities or interests.

Probably the greatest influence was that I somehow developed a
sense of confidence, because my father seemed to think I could do
anything as soon as I could walk. On the farm he had me doing
grown-up jobs quite early. I remember his tying me up to a harrow.
Do you know what a harrow is?

No.

A harrow has iron spikes that rake over freshly plowed soil to
break it up. A harrow was about ten feet long and six feet wide,
pulled by horses. 1 remember being tied on a box on top of the
harrow, driving a team of horses. I must have been seven or eight
years old.

Was that standard for a boy on the farm to do that kind of work?

I don't remember too much about neighbor children. Yes, I think
they were probably given responsibilities too. Although the
neighbors that I remember best were more into raising cattle than
wheat and corn, which was what my father produced mainly. Although
we had cows, most everything. I remember being given a job quite
early husking corn and getting cornstalks chopped up into fodder
and put into a silo.
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The kinds of things that kids today wouldn't even know what you
were talking about.

You probably don't know about most of these things. That's right.
I have had nothing to do with such activities since the age of ten.
But I still remember them.

You were on the farm until ten. Then what happened?

Several interesting things happened before I left at the age of
ten. I remember going to Swope Park in Kansas City with my parents
for a Fourth of July celebration. That was a great occasion, not
only because of seeing Swope Park. I saw my first airplane then
and saw an airplane show with planes flying upside down--nose
diving and that sort of thing.

I remember the car that my father bought. It must have been
in about 1917. The first Model T car in the neighborhood. I
remember seeing him racing my cousin, who was driving a team of
horses. My father lost. I remember the horses passing the car
with great ease.

How did your dad happen to be the first person to buy a car? Was
he a more forward-looking person or better off? :

Maybe he was more successful financially. I don't know why. I
remember neighbors coming from some distance to see this new car.
We had to push it up the hill.

Those are fun memories. Not too many people go back to that kind
of memory. How about your mother? What was she like?

She was wonderful and thoughtful. Always gave us everything we
wanted. Like most loving mothers are, I think. Maybe more so.
She also was born in northeastern Kansas--that is where she and my
father met.

Did she encourage education or anything like that, that you can
remember?

Well, about education, neither of my parents went beyond high
school.

That wasn't unusual, certainly.

In the case of my father, he had three brothers who all went to
Kansas University. One, Uncle Orville, became a doctor in Phoenix.
Another, Uncle Herbert, was an engineer, and another, Uncle Guy,
owned a hardware store. Dad was the only one who didn't go to
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college. According to my grandmother, that was because he liked to
travel. He did travel a good deal.

After he got out of high school, he and a friend went on
horseback to the West. They got as far as Seattle and were gone
two years. According to his stories, whenever they ran out of
money they would get a job and work for a while. When he got home
after two years, he went the other direction, to Washington, D.C.
That time he went by train, not by horse, and attended the
inauguration of Teddy Roosevelt, which I think was in 1904.

After all that traveling he met Mother, and they got married.
I guess his father must have made it possible for him to buy a farm
south of Kansas City, at this place near Peculiar, Missouri.

He seems like a real enterprising young man.
He was enterprising. He was always doing strange things.
Doing strange things, you said?

I mean, he did odd things nobody else would do. Maybe that was why
he had to have that Model T Ford, just to be doing something
different. Traveling and doing things differently. That's, I
guess, why we moved away. He got bored, maybe, with farming. I
don't know what it was. He sold the farm at a good time, in 1919
when land prices were high. Then with the money, he bought a
hardware store in Kansas, so we moved to Kansas.

So that's when you got to Kansas?

Right. We returned to Overland Park, which is in the suburbs of
Kansas City, Kansas, or was then. I guess it is a part of Kansas
City, Kansas, now. We lived there for six years.

What do you remember about that? Did that bring a big change in
your life?

I remember most the things that my father would allow me to do.
Such as, run the hardware store when he was on buying trips to
Kansas City, even though I was maybe no more than fourteen or
thirteen years old. He even allowed me to drive a car when I was
twelve years old. We had no such things as driver's licenses in
those days. We were out in the country, and there was no traffic
problem.

When he saw that I was cranking up the car one day--we had to
crank it in those days--he suggested that I just drive it. If I
can crank ‘t, I ought to be able to drive it. And I did. I drove



a lot after that. Not too long afterward, the high school
basketball team wanted to borrow his truck. He said that they
could have it with one condition. That I, Delmer, would drive it
and nobody else.

Lage: So he had more faith in you than this other group of kids.

Brown: Exactly.

Lage: You had a brother, I guess, who died young. Was he a younger
brother?

Brown: That was Clarence, who was eighteen months younger than I. Shortly
after we moved to Kansas, he got spinal meningitis and died rather

quickly. It was a big shock to us all.

Lage: I can imagine. It must have been hard on your mother and your
father.

Brown: Oh, yes. After that he even stopped going to church for some
years.

Lage: Did he talk about that, why he stopped going to church?

Brown: Yes. He asked: Where was God? I think his despair over the death
of Clarence made him even doubt that there was a God.

Lage: And he did go back to it?

Brown: He did go back to it.

Lage: What religion was the family?

Brown: We were Methodists in those Missouri days. That's about the only
kind of church around. We used to go to church every Sunday, even
in cold winter. When it was way below zero we would go, pulled by
horses on a sled.

Lage: The car couldn't get through.

Brown: That was even before we had the car. He would take a buggy, remove
the wheels and make it into a sled, and we would go to church in
it.

Lage: It was an important part of your family life?

Brown: It was and continued to be all through their lives.
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What about politics in yovr family? Did you hear talk of politics
around the dinner table?

I heard a lot about politics. My father originally was a
Republican but usually voted Democratic. 1In the thirties he was a
great supporter of Franklin D. Roosevelt, and others who were more
radical than Roosevelt. So radical that when I got into the navy
and was being investigated, my mother tried to keep the
investigators away from my father. She was sure that he would say
something that would get me into trouble.

How interesting. I wonder what experiences that he had that turned
him--

He did a good deal of reading, although he never went to college.
He did more reading, I think, than his brothers. Especially in the
thirties, in the depression days. People were upset about economic
and social conditions in the country. He kept reading and
wondering what should be done and why they didn't do it.

I remember going on trips with him back to Kansas after we
moved to California. He was constantly talking to everybody that
we bought gasoline from, trying to find out what they thought about
the political situation, what they thought ought to be done. So he
had a continuing interest in political affairs and got pretty
deeply involved in some political activities. He was especially
interested in the cooperative movement and actually established
some cooperative branches in California after we moved there.

During the days of the twenties when the economic situation was
better, before you left Kansas, was he Republican? A Teddy
Roosevelt Republican?

He was a Republican in those days. He was not that much upset or
involved in political activities then. It was after the thirties
that he really got involved.

What about things like women's suffrage? You were pretty young
when that came about, but do you remember talk about that? Did
your mother vote?

I don't remember talking about such things. One thing I do
remember from the twenties is the Ku Klux Klan.

Oh, in Kansas.
My parents weren't involved in that, but we heard a good deal about

it. I think maybe the anti-Catholic position of the RKu Klux Klan
movement may have had some infl.ence on my father. !de seemed to be
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against Catholics. As a matter of fact, I tried to borrow the car
once because I wanted to date a Catholic girl. He wouldn't let me
have it.

Oh, my goodness. I guess that wasn't too unusual in Protestant,
midwestern culture.

I suppose fairly common in those days. I just don't know.

Is there more we should talk about the hardware store or the Kansas
life before we find out why you came to California?

I was telling somebody the other day one thing I remember of that
Kansas period, I don't know how much of an influence it had on me,
maybe some. I was locked behind jail doors once. That was because
my father went to the bank one day when it was robbed. I was with
him that day, but I wasn't in the bank. I stayed in the store or
somewhere while he was there. He was asked to go to the county
jail to see whether he could identify the robbers among the persons
who were in jail. He took me along. When he went inside the jail,
he asked if I couldn’'t go along with him. So I was locked in there
with him as we were looking at the inmates. It was an experience
which I will not forget. I even remember the looks on the faces of
these men because they, I think, understood what was going on.

So it made an impact.
It did.
Do you think your father did that for a reason?

Well, maybe he wanted to keep me out of jail. I don't know. I
never did ask him--I should have asked.

He sounds like a person who let experience be your teacher instead
of moralizing about things, from what you say.

It might very well be, yes.

Move to California, 1925

How did you get out to California, and why?

My father went to California to visit some relatives, to visit his
brother, who was living in Phoenix. Also, a sister of my mother
who was living in Santa Ana, in California. He went during the
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winter. Came back in January, as I recall. When I saw him getting
off the train, the snow was six or seven feet deep, very cold and
windy. As he came down the steps he said, "We are going to
California." By the next summer he had sold the hardware store and
our house and we were on our way to California, where we stayed.

Was that an unusual move at the time, or were other people finding
out about California?

After getting to California, we discovered there were a lot of
people from Kansas and other parts of the Middle West who had moved
there. But from our neighborhood in Kansas I know of no one else
who did that.

So this was a pretty adventuresome move?

I think it was really a decision suddenly made after being in
California in the winter.

Can’t say that I blame him. Where did you end up in California?
At Santa Ana, in Orange County.

You must have seen a lot of orange groves in those days.

Many orange groves in those days. As a matter of fact, when we
were back there for a visit, my wife Mary said it was so easy to
get lost in Orange County because everywhere you went you saw
nothing but orange trees. On the right and on the left and

straight ahead was nothing but orange trees. That's not true now.

No. Now when we think Orange County, we think politics, right-wing
politics.

Exactly.

Then you thought of orange trees.

High School in Orange County

What was it like? Was it a big cultural change?

It was a big shock for me, especially going to school. I had gone
to a high school in Kansas that had maybe thirty or forty students.
In Santa Ana, it was a thousand students and I didn’'t know a single
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one of them. My classes were big. Every class was taught by a
different teacher.

Seems like a big school to be out there in the middle of all these
orange groves.

Santa Ana is the county seat of Orange County, and it is the
biggest city there. It was an agricultural town. We had our banks
and everything. It was a fairly large town. I don't know what the
population was, but I know they had around a thousand students,
which seemed enormous. I met another student wandering around the
hall, Neil Hall from Nebraska. It turned out that we were not only
lost and confused but had a common interest in basketball.

Midwestern basketball.

We played a lot of basketball in Kansas and Nebraska. So we
decided to go out for the basketball team. Although we went out
for what is called the Class C team, which is limited to boys of
about one hundred and ten pounds in weight, there were forty who
wanted to play basketball for this Class C team. All the players
seemed to know each other. They had gone to the same junior high
school together. So when they started choosing up teams, the two
of us were the last to be chosen. Nobody knew anything about us.
But since we had played basketball, we soon were promoted, and
ended up on the first team.

So basketball was kind of a continuing interest?

It was. As a matter of fact, it really helped me to get adjusted
to that new situation. Our team was able to defeat most teams in
southern California, so we got on the sports page and became known
around school. That gave us confidence and gave us friends. We
even got into school politics.

Did you run for office?

Oh, yes. Class president, as I recall, either in the junior year
or the senior year.

You made the adjustment quite well.

Well, it was not only an adjustment through basketball, but classes
were a problem because they were huge, forty or fifty students in
one class. A very scary situation. One of the first experiences I
remember was in a history class where the teacher wanted us to
report on something we had read in the newspapers. Most of the
students would take a very short item and give a very short
summary. Being a newcomer and an outsider, I took this assignment
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seriously and selected a long article out of the Sunday newspaper
and wrote a paper that the teacher was really happy about and read
it to the class. That sort of got me off the ground, academically.
Also in geometry I did pretty well.

In Kansas I had been in an east Kansas contest in Latin and
algebra. 1 had somehow gained confidence in those fields. So
geometry was no problem. Because of success in classes like that,
I got on the honor roll and stayed on it, as well as played
basketball. I was busy.

You were. You were one of these well-rounded Californians.
Maybe California made me that way.

Did you like it when you moved out? Did you like the change in the
weather?

Yes, I liked everything. I remember that my first view of the
ocean was somewhat scary, when we first arrived in Californja. 1
don't know what it was. It made me dizzy, just looking at the
ocean. Such great expanse. I still remember that dizzy feeling
when looking at that huge ocean.

I think scholarly is not the right word when you are talking about
high school, but were these intellectual pursuits important to you,
or were you just excelling as one does?

I was interested in them. This goes back to Kansas again. I had a
teacher there, a Miss Harrison. She stimulated my interest in
learning more than any other teacher that I have had since than,
except for maybe one or two others. I don't know what it was about
her. She somehow got me looking into things and being interested
in learning and doing well at it. I don't know how she did it.

But I seemed to be excited because I knew she would be excited with
me. When I went back to Kansas later on, I went to see her. I was
already teaching at Cal at that time. She was interested that I
had become a teacher, but she was more interested in knowing
whether or not I had gotten a Ph.D. degree.

She was pretty impressed with that?

She apparently had worked in that direction herself, and she
therefore appreciated having a student who had made it.

It is kind of nice to think that you got back to tell her that she
had been important to you.
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Methodist Church Youth Group

You also mentioned in some of the material that you gave me the
youth group at church being an important part of your life.

It was. This was in Santa Ana. Back in Santa Ana we again went to
the Methodist church, the whole family. There was a pastor there
by the name of Dr. Warmer. I don't know what his first name was.

I never got that well acquainted with him, but my father was a
great admirer. Dr. Warmer was quite liberal. I think that was one
of the reasons my father liked him. He was liberal politically as
well as religiously.

Then I got into the young people's group, Epworth League I
think they called it in the Methodist church. Dr. Warmer's son,
George, was in my class at Santa Ana High School. George did not
play basketball. He was a quarterback on the football team. We
became good friends and went to a conference at Asilomar, for
example, together. I think this was after we had gotten out of
high school and were in junior college.

We met Dr. Brooks at Asilomar, who impressed us both. We used
to take walks with him and to talk with him about religious and
philosophical questions. Both of us became so impressed by Dr.
Brooks that we wanted to go to Pomona and study under him. We
actually went to Pomona to see if we liked it.

Pomona College

Is this the Pomona College?

Yes. We were in junior college at the time. Most people at junior
college were planning to transfer to a university. So we went over
to Pomona to see if we would like to go there. George did go and
did study under Brooks and became a pastor. He went on to seminary
and later became a pastor of the First Methodist Church in Oakland,
and even vice president of Boston University. I didn’t go to
Pomona. I wanted to go to Stanford.

Were you thinking at the time of studying to be a minister?

I may have been thinking a bit about it. I was thinking more about
becoming a doctor. My uncle, my father's eldest brother who was in
Phoenix, had no sons, and when we visited him--I think this was

when I wss still in high school--he said that I could take over his
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practice if I became a doctor. 1 began thinking about that, and
maybe that was what I was thinking about at that time.

Did you like the sciences? Did you take a lot of biology and--

That was one of the reasons I backed out of medicine. I did take a
course in zoology when I was in junior college. Somehow, I didn't
take to that. The thing that bugged me most was trying to draw
pictures of animal organs that I couldn't see. Even in the
microscope I couldn't see them, so how could I draw pictures of
them? Anyway, I think I was turned off finally when I got to
Stanford. One of my fraternity brothers, who was going into
medicine, had a skull with him one day. He was memorizing all the
bones in the inner ear, hundreds of them. I thought that was not
for me. That was when I decided not to go into medicine.

After you got to Stanford. 1 seem to remember that some of your
interest in the Far East started in the junior college.

In Santa Ana, it did. I had two teachers at Santa Ana who had a
great deal of influence on me. One was a philosophy teacher by the
name of Dr. Nealy. When I first had the urge to go to Japan, I
went to him for advice. I was really troubled about the amount of
money that it would take to go to Japan and China. I remember Dr.
Nealy saying, "You can't waste money on education.” He, in a
sense, was urging me to go ahead, even though it was costly. I
didn't accept his advice, but I retained a great admiration for
him.

This was an opportunity you had at the junior college?

There was another teacher, Dean Fisk, who was actually a teacher of
business law, but had a great interest in the Far East. Every
summer he would take students with him on a trip to Japan and
China. He did that for several successive years. The first year
that I was in junior college, I met and became good friends of
several who had gone to the Far East with Dean Fisk. I got
interested in going, but didn't make it.

It just seemed too expensive?

It was too expensive. Expense was a big item at that point because
I had decided I wanted to go to Stanford, not Pomona, which was
probably the most expensive place on the coast to go. My father,
being a practical type, saw no reason why I should go to an
expensive place when I could go to a state university like UCLA.

Or Berkeley.
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Yes. He said that if I wanted to go to Stanford, I could pay my
own bill, and that he wasn't going to help me. I went anyway. I
was as independent as he was.

Stanford University, 1930-1932 ##

I am curious about why Stanford?
Why I wanted to go to Stanford?
Right.

It was mainly because in southern California, Stanford was a famous
university. You heard more about Stanford than any other
university. I suppose that may still be true, but I am not sure.

My father, who was very much your vintage from southern California,
came to Berkeley.

I had other friends who went to Berkeley. As a matter of fact--and
this story goes back to that church experience again--we had a so-
called deputation team in Santa Ana, made up of young men
associated with the church who got together and gave services at
various churches. In that group was the George Warmer I just
mentioned. There were two others: Bill Hewett and Bob Reinhard who
both went to Cal and later became professors there. Bob Reinhard
became a medical doctor and was later a dean at the San Francisco
medical school. Bill Hewett taught at Davis in some field of
agriculture.

Interesting.

Out of that group I was the only one that went to Stanford.
Something attracted you to Stanford.

I guess it was just its reputation.

Did you go up to visit?

Yes, I think I visited before I went, although I may have seen it
for the first time after I was admitted. I can't be sure about

that.

You were thinking of medicine at that time?
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Medicine for a while, for a very short while. Then, I began to
gravitate toward law. I think maybe the interest in that also got
started under Dean Fisk. In class one day, he asked us if any of
us was planning on getting into politics. Nobody was, or if they
were, they didn't admit it. He deplored that and pointed out that
there ought to be more people with a sense of responsibility taking
an interest in politics. It was also clear from what he said, and
others said, that if you are going to go into politiecs, law was the
path to take. I think maybe that was why I shifted to law.
Actually, my major programs at Stanford were in the field of
political science, economics, and history, courses one should take
to prepare oneself for entrance to law school.

I just want to finish up with southern California and your family
before we get you into Stanford. What did your father do after he
moved out here?

He really didn't do anything. He built a house for us, to begin
with. He did most of the work himself. It was a very nice home.
Then he sold that and bought five acres of land west of Santa Ana.
Then the Depression came. We were stuck out there on West Fifth
Street. He tried to buy a hardware store. He scouted around a
good deal looking for a hardware store. He never really found one
that was what he wanted. He also took a job once that lasted only
just two or three weeks. I think he started telling the boss how
to run his business, or something like that. He is not ome to take
orders, let's put it that way. Anyway, that didn't last.

In a sense he never did work. He retired around the age of
forty, as it turned out, when he left Kansas. Fortunately, he had
made enough money in Overland Park to live. He had bought a garage
and a motion picture theater, as well as the hardware store. When
we went to California, he still had the theater and the garage. So
he just stuck it out without working.

That's always nice if you can do it. Did the Depression hit him
hard?

He couldn't move. He couldn't make any more money during that
period. It was a bit hard.

This was right when you were deciding to go to Stanford. You went
to Stanford in 1930.

That's right. That's one of the reasons why he wasn't going to
support me if I wanted to go to Stanford; he really couldn't afford
to. That 1s one of the reasons.
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Okay, that gives us a little background. I think entering into
college on the eve of the Depression--it gives you kind of a
special outlook.

Yes, I entered Stanford in 1930, and the Depression had hit before
that. At Stanford you didn't get much of a sense of the
Depression, because most of the others there had plenty of money.

I got into a fraternity, I think again for economic reasons. That
was a good way to get a job. They wanted me to come into the
fraternity and were willing to give me the job of hashing, which
paid my board and room. That was one of the reasons I went into
this fraternity. When I got in, I discovered almost all the others
had a car. Not only a car, but a nice car. Several had a
Hupmobile sports car.

Most of the others in the fraternity were from pretty well-off
families. One of them was Mike Sutro, who was a good friend of
mine. He became a lawyer, but I have lost track of him. He was
probably the wealthiest. His mother would come down in a big car
with a driver to visit him once in a while. He was however dressed
in cords and drove an old beat-up Ford convertible, acting pretty
much like the rest of us.

Was it hard for you to have to be scrambling to put yourself
through school and be in the midst of--

It wasn't hard. As a matter of fact it was rather easy, I thought.
Not only did I get board and room at the fraternity house for doing
relatively little work, I got a few other jobs. When football time
came, I got a job at the hot dog stands and became manager of about
half of them at the time of a big game. I would make as much as
ten dollars a day, which was extra. It would allow me to go into
the city [San Francisco] for dances. 1 thought it worked out
pretty well, although I went into debt for my tuition. 1In those
days, if you had a 'B' average you could borrow your tuition at no
interest, and you could pay it back whenever you had the money.

They didn't have scholarships but they had long--

They had some scholarships but, well, this was called a tuition
scholarship, I think. I didn't have that much trouble
economically. Maybe it was because I was one of the few who had to
work for a living.

Not too much competition for the jobs.

Right. [laughter]
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Developing an Interest in the Far East

What do you remember about Stanford in terms of shaping your
interests, professors that were important?

Since I had developed this interest in the Far East under Dean
Fisk--

And you had a real interest?

I had a real interest at that time. That interest was further
stimulated by a good friend by the name of Fred Humiston, who lives
here in Waterford [at Rossmoor] right now. Fred Humiston was in
high school with me. He went on one of these trips to the Far East
with Dean Fisk. That was in 1930, I think. He also went to
Stanford, and we were in the same fraternity house and often roomed
together. I saw his pictures and heard his stories about his trip
to the Far East. I suppose it was because of that I even took two
courses on the Far East. One was a course in Far Eastern
diplomatic history from Payson J. Treat.

He is a famous name.

When time came for graduation, I thought it would be nice to do a
little traveling before going into law school. My friend Fred
Humiston suggested that I try to get a teaching job in Japan. When
he was in Japan on that summer tour, he had met a young man by the
name of Ronald Anderson who had gone to Stanford and was teaching
English in Tokyo. He had Ronald Anderson's address and suggested
that I write him, which I did. Ronald was then teaching at
Kanazawa in western Japan and wrote back immediately saying that he
was moving to another school and, as far as he knew, nobody had
applied for his job in Kanazawa. He told me what I should do if I
wanted to apply, which I did. I ended up with a contract with the
Ministry of Education of Japan to teach in the Kanazawa Fourth
Higher School for three years.

Had you taken any Japanese language?

No Japanese language. They didn’t even teach Japanese at Stanford
in those years. They had a Japanese professor, but I wasn't
interested that much in Japan at that point. They hired me in
Japan not because I knew Japanese but because I could teach
English.

You knew English.
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They assumed that, since I had graduated from Stanford, I knew
enough English to teach their students. I accepted this job for
three years. If you didn't take it for three years, you couldn't
get travel to and from Japan.

They paid your way?

They paid my way over and gave me housing. That is another reason
why I was not that much upset by the Depression. I had this job in
Japan for six years during the Depression years and was paid very
well. I not only had travel to and from Japan but a three-bedroom
house, rent free. I had a live-in cook and maid and also a student
interpreter. I got the fabulous salary of four hundred yen a
month, which will buy you a newspaper in Tokyo now.

But what did it buy then?

It had great buying power then. I used to say and believe that a
yen in those days had about the buying power of a dollar.

Actually, on the exchange rate it was much lower, but I remember
saying that what I could get with a yen in Japan was about what I
could get with a dollar in the United States. It was not that much
different.

What did your parents think of your taking off to Japan?

My father said he couldn't understand why I should want to go to
"that God-forsaken place.” That is the way he put it. {laughing]
He was more or less against it. As a matter of fact, he was
against almost everything I did. He was against my going to
Stanford. He was against my going to Japan. He wasn't against my
going into the navy; couldn't help that. But he was against my
leaving the navy when the war was over. He thought I should have
stayed on. The salary was pretty good. I opposed him on a number
of--

He sounds as if he was supportive of you in your early life. Was
he not? Was he critical?

This Depression, I think, did have this effect on him. It not only
made it harder for him to make money and to live, it made him much
more critical of anything that I did that might cost money.

How about your mother? What did she think about your going off to
Japan?

I don't know. Most anything I wanted to do was fine with her.
{laughter] Although my dad wouldn’t support me when I went to
Stanford, she was always sending me a little money on the side.
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Lage: 1 was just curious about that, whether they thought that was a
little bizarre that you would take off to the Far East.

Brown: My father thought it was--foolish, I guess that is the way he might
have put it. Again, because it was not settling down and getting a
regular job.

Lage: You were doing well, financially.
Brown: Quite well. He was interested in traveling in his earlier days,

but somehow going to, as he called it, "that God-forsaken place"
didn't appeal to him. BHe didn't see why it would appeal to me.
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II TEACHING IN JAPAN, 1932-1938

Arrival and Getting Settled

So, we have you to Japan. Are you ready to shift into that area
and think about six years in Japan and what you saw?

Fine. The cultural shock of going to Santa Ana High School was
something, but going to Japan was something else. I guess maybe
the thing that in my memory reflects the shock about as much as
anything was getting off of the train in Kanazawa where I was to
teach--it turned out for six years instead of three. When I got
off the train--

How far is Kanazawa from Tokyo?

It is on the opposite side of the island from Tokyo. It is on the
Japan Sea side facing Siberia. Right on the Japan Sea, about five
miles from the Japan Sea. When I got off the train, I was dressed
like a Stanford student would be dressed, with cords and a green
shirt, solid green shirt. Here on the station platform were about
thirty men in morning suits, lined up and bowing--to me! I was the
new foreign teacher, and they were all the teachers there to
welcome me, in style. That is, in the proper way, formally dressed
with morning suits and bowing to me.

This must have thrown you?
It threw me. I really felt quite self-conscious about it.

Nobody prepared you. Did you talk to the young man that you
replaced?

I was somewhat prepared because Ronald Anderson was with me. He
went there and was with me for a day or two. He was on the train.
He told me a few things. But he didn't--I don't think that even he
realized that all these teachers would be at the platform to
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welcome me. Just one thing after another was so different and
startling that it was hard to get used to.

I moved into this house. The maid that Ronald had already
hired, and which 1 kept, was both maid and cook. She did all the
housework too. She lived in. I paid her the fabulous sum of
twenty-five yen a month out of my four hundred. She did
everything, all the house cleaning and the cooking and so on, and
was there all the time. I couldn't communicate with her. She
didn't know any English. That was a problem. Just to get hot
water to shave was impossible because 1 didn't know what the words
were. I had to start studying Japanese.

Had Ronald learned Japanese while he was there?

He had. He had been there three years so he was pretty good in
Japanese. But he soon disappeared. He had to go to his own job.
This student who was to help me as my interpreter went with me one
day to the department store to get a haircut. I realized that this
haircut was going to be somewhat tedious and long. 1 suggested
that he go off and do whatever he wanted to. I would go home by
myself. The haircut itself was kind of a shocker.

You mean the styling?

The way they do it. They give you a massage and everything for
twenty-five yen. 1 remember the price too. Anyway, when I got
through that, I started home and got lost. I had in my pocket an
address, written out in Roman letters, where I lived. Everybody
that I approached about getting home couldn't read that, and they
couldn't understand it when I read it. I was really lost. 1 was
finally able to get home because I was helped by two students
dressed in student uniforms. I guessed that they were students of
the school where I would be teaching, and they guessed that I was
their new foreign teacher, since there was only one. They
practically led me home by the hand.

It turned out that all of the students had studied a lot of
English but their conversational ability was very low. Therefore,
they couldn't really understand anything I would say, and I
couldn't understand what they were saying. They managed to get me
home. It became necessary to learn some language to survive in
that place, and I got busy at it right away.

I can imagine. What an experience. How big a place was Kanazawa?
About a hundred thousand people. Very big city back then. It is

bigger than that now. It was comparable to the capital of a state
in this country. It was the capital of a prefectu-e.
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Lage: How did your dress change? Did you conform?

Brown: I soon got myself a suit and dressed properly. I got rid of my
cords and haven't used any since. I began to dress like the
teachers dressed, with a suit and a tie.

Lage: But not a morning coat? That was for a special--

Brown: Whenever we went to a ceremony. I had to buy a morning suit
because we had ceremonies at the school on the Emperor's birthday
and at various other times during the year. When those occasions
came, I had to dress in a morning suit.

Lage: So you conformed to that?

Brown: I had to conform in a lot of little ways.

The Classroom, Basketball, and Social Life

Lage: How about the experience in the classroom? Was that very different
from what you had been accustomed to?

Brown: That was a shocker, too. We had about thirty-five students in each
class. Every student was dressed in exactly the same way with the
same uniform, always a black uniform with brass buttons up around
the collar. They would have a black hat with a white rim around
it, and the school emblem on its front. They always had a white
towel hanging from their right hip pocket, which they used for
various purposes. When I would go into the classroom I would see
all these faces, all with black hair, all about the same height,
same complexions, same uniform.

When I went into a classroom, the students would all stand up,
and they would remain standing until I got to the podium and bowed,
and then they would return the bow and sit down. I always had to
take roll call. Somewhere along the line I got the urge to know
their names, which were all strange to me. I worked on memorizing
the names of the students in my class in order to take roll call
without looking at the book. That took a lot of work. I always
had a poor memory for names, but I worked so hard on this that I
got so I could call out the names of all students in all classes
without looking at the book.

Lage: You had more than one class.
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I had five or six classes. That really paid off. They were
impressed that I could do that. And the teachers were impressed.

I even had teachers come to ask me the name of a certain student
third from the front row on the left side. I would be able to tell
them. That really impressed them. It paid off to do that.

Were these all boys?
All boys, no girls.
Did the girls go to school then elsewhere?

Yes. The classrooms were all the same, very simple, with a desk
and a stove in front, a coal stove which would be started only on
the first of November. No matter how cold it was in October, they
would have no coal for the stove. On November the first they would
get some. I can remember that most of them seemed not to wear
shoes but geta--wooden clogs. I still remember these bare feet
sticking out in front of their desks as I would walk into the
classrooms on the coldest days. Also I could see that many of them
had chilblains. So there was a lot of discomfort. It was cold
there. In the winter the snow would usually get six feet deep or
so. These students would have no socks on, and the stove was not
always that warm.

And in October it wasn't at all.
That's right. That was kind of shocking.

And the kind of respect accorded you when you are just out of
college must have taken you aback.

It was. I was about their age, maybe a year or two older than they
were. I had just gotten out of Stanford. Their school was
comparable to a junior college in this country.

I see. So you were only a few years older?

Yes. They didn't respect me for my age. I didn’'t have grey hair
at that time. All you could say was that I was their teacher. 1In
that country, somehow, that made a difference. They treated me
accordingly. We did have some interests in common. Because I was
about their age and had an interest in basketball. They soon
discovered this. So I went out and practiced with the basketball
team.

So they played basketball, too?
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They had swimming, tennis, and basketball teams, as well as teams
in various Japanese sports. When playing with the basketball team,
I tried to teach them things that they were not that much into,
such as feinting, fast dribbling, passing, et cetera. When
drilling them on throwing hard, I got myself into a hardball
contest with one of the biggest and strongest players. I won
because I had learned to throw a ball with a spin that could not be
caught. [laughing] On the last day I played with them, for some
reason, I took a long shot at the basket from midcourt and it went
in. They were amazed, and so was I. And that was the last day I
have played basketball. [laughter]

Why did you quit?

I don't know. I guess I figured I couldn't do any better than
that. I just thought that was a good note on which to end.

You could have started coaching them and taken them right to the
championship.

I had done that for a while. But I got into other things.

You were busy?

I was busy, and I had a lot of other interests. As a matter of
fact, that was one of the things that puzzled them about me. When
they get into a sport, they stick to that, specializing in it and
dropping everything else. Whereas I had more general interests. I
also went out for swimming. I went to the pool and did some
swimming and diving. I did a lot of other things, such as playing
Mah-Jongg with the teachers and so on.

How did you get a social life going with these rudimentary Japanese
skills?

My social life was quite limited. I did play Mah-Jongg with the
teachers and went on hikes with them.

Did the teachers speak some English?

In addition to me, there were about eight Japanese teachers who
taught English. It was primarily with them that I associated.

How was their English?
Terrible.

They were probably glad to have the time with you.
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It was a problem. They had studied their English in Japan. Many
had studied it at the university level and gotten rather deep into
such things as Shakespeare and Chaucer. But their conversation was
definitely limited. They had a great vocabulary. What they taught
was English translation. They would take some English text,
something really difficult, from Emerson or some other famous
author. That would be the textbook for the class. They would
translate it into Japanese page by page, paragraph by paragraph.
Usually no more than a page was covered in one class session.

Every student would be able to understand that page and understand
every word on the page and would be examined on it later. That is
the way they taught English.

The teachers were coming to me frequently to get me to explain
a particular word or phrase. Often very difficult things, but
sometimes quite simple. One teacher was interested in translating
a song on a record that he had purchased. He came across the words
"and how!" in the song, and there was no question mark after "how".
Why is that? It was questions like that they asked.

That would be a hard one to explain.
That is a hard one. They had a lot of questions that were hard.

Usually within a short time, maybe a year or two, they were talking
to me in Japanese. Even the English teachers.

Learning Japanese

So your Japanese--you must have learned it relatively quickly?

I had to pick it up, as I say, to survive. I studied it. I worked
on it pretty hard. I had a tutor once or twice a week. Then I had
to use it all the time just to get around. I started reading it,
too. I went through elementary school textbooks in Japanese. I
worked on it pretty hard. That's why I stayed on for another three
years. During the first three years I had begun to make some
headway on the language and felt that I should stay longer and get
into it more deeply.

Did you teach English in your classes the same way that the
Japanese taught it?

No, no. I would have a text but used various methods for different
classes. It was supposed to be oral English, speaking. They
wanted me to teach them how to speak, to understand spoken English.
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#i#
Was it oral English?

Yes, at the beginning it was mostly oral. That is, I would choose
a text, and after they had read it, we would talk about it.

They weren't beginning students?

No, they had been studying English, on the average, seven or eight
years before they got into my classes.

So they had a lot of background, but not in conversation.

They had had the kind of teaching their Japanese teachers were
giving them, even in junior-high and senior-high schools. Before
they got into this Fourth Higher School, they had studied English
for at least five years. 1In some cases they would have had a
foreign teacher, but not often. They had a big vocabulary. If I
would write a word on the blackboard, they would get it. So I did
a lot of writing on the blackboard. Key words of anything I had to
say had to be written on the blackboard.

Later on, I discovered what they really needed more than oral
English was the ability to translate from Japanese into English.
In other words, to write English. I spent more and more time
teaching that, which gave me the opportunity to learn more written
Japanese. I first had them read the Japanese that they were trying
to translate; and I had to find out what the original meant. I
learned a lot of Japanese in that kind of teaching.

Were you also learning a lot about Japanese culture and their
values?

Yes, this is why I became interested in Japanese studies, just
living there and being shocked by all these cultural differences.
I began to ask myself questions about why they did this and why
they did that. Questions were coming up all the time.

Maeda Toshiie Diary Translations

For example, when I walked to school in those days, I regularly
passed a fascinating statue that must have been more than twenty
feet high. Since I could not read the Chinese characters engraved
on it, I had no idea who was represented. But the subject soon
came up in my clusses, and [ l=arned from my students that it was a
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statue of Maeda Toshiie [1538-1599], founder of the Maeda clan
whose heads were daimyd of Kaga throughout the Edo period [1603-
1868). The statue was located in a garden, one of Japan's three
most famous castle gardens. Called the Kenroku Park, it probably
had been built near the entrance to the castle in the seventeenth
century.

Now you have to tell me what a daimyd is.

A daimyd was a great military lord who ruled over an area usually
made up of one or more provinces. Every daimyd had a castle, which
was the center and base of his control. On my way to and from
school, I had to walk by that statue of a famous daimyd, pass
through the beautiful Kenroku Park, and walk along what was left of
the moat and walls on one side of the Kanazawa castle. And since
these historical sites were always coming up in conversations with
students, I soon became involved in the study of Kaga history.

My interest in Maeda Toshiie and Kaga continued throughout the
remainder of my six years in Kanazawa. My interest was undoubtedly
stimulated too by the fact that I, as a foreigner, could not enter
the castle grounds, even though the castle was right beside the
Fourth Higher School where I taught. I was not permitted to enter
the castle grounds because that was the headquarters of a Japanese
army division. After World War II, the new Kanazawa University was
built on those castle grounds, and the old Fourth Higher School
where I had taught became the university's lower division. So now
anybody can enter that place surrounded by the remains of castle
walls, but not when I worked and lived there.

But my research was focused on Maeda Toshiie, not on the
castle. Before my first three years were over, I had read Japanese
books about him and had translated into English a diary (the
Toshiie Onyawa or Toshiie Tales) said to have been written by him,
but probably had been kept by one of his retainers.

Was this published and in the bookstores, in the library?

No. After translating Toshiie's diary, I got interested (during my
second three-year term) in documents that he had written and
signed. My search led me to the Sonkeikaku Bunko, the archives of
the Maeda clan located in Tokyo near the First Higher School which,
after World War II, became the lower division of Tokyo University.
The archives were and still are located in Tokyo because, after the
Restoration of 1868, strong daimyd like Maeda were moved from their
feudal bases to Tokyo where their descendants have continued to
live in considerable comfort and style. At the Sonkeikaku Bunko,
and with the help of a librarian and good friend by the name of
Imai Kichinosuke, I found fifty-two documents written and signed by



Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

27

Toshiie. These, as well as the Toshiie Onvawa, I translated into
English.

My goodness, you were really driven.

[laughs] Well, I had a lot of help, not only from the local
historian who was responsible for editing the Kaga shiryd (Kaga
Documents) but from my good friend Imai Kichinosuke of the
Sonkeikaku Bunko. When I returned to Japan again after the war, I
saw Mr. Imai several times and he presented me with a copy (one
hundred of these were said to have been made by a company
specializing in reproductions) of a rare medieval emakimono
(picture scroll) on the life of Sugawara no Michizane [845-903].
That three-scroll emakimono, as well as my multivolume set of the
Kaga shiryd, are among the materials that I gave to the East Asian
Library [EAL] at Cal a few years ago. I intend to see that the EAL
also receives other Kaga books and manuscripts.

I did give translations (with commentary) of key documents
written and signed by Toshiie to a Dutch officer of the Asiatic
Society of Japan, hoping that he would accept them for publication
in the society's monograph series called the Transactions of the
Asiatic Society of Japan. But this Dutch officer, whose name I do
not recall, took the manuscript with him to Europe where he got
caught up in the war and was killed. The manuscript too was
apparently destroyed. Since I had not kept a copy of the final
draft, and got interested (after returning to Stanford) in other
questions in medieval Japanese history, I never took the trouble to
prepare and resubmit another such manuscript for publication. So
nothing of what I wrote during those pre-war years is in print.

A Deepening Interest in Japanese Studies

Were you thinking at the time that this might become a life's work?

Yes, but I had not yet decided just which path to take. I was not
at all sure that history was the right way to go, but I had
definitely decided to spend the rest of my life learning, and
learning with others as a teacher, about the life and culture of
the Japanese people. A great curiosity had been aroused.
Everything that was happening in my daily life in that distant part
of Japan was so strange--I just had to keep trying to understand
the processes by which their institutions and ideas had been
developed, and were still developing.
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Did you find that they also thought you were strange? Or did they
treat you--

They did. Oh, yes. I was strange, all right.
Did they ask a lot of questions of you?

Yes. 1 suppose the questions they raised caused me to ask
questions. Students were constantly asking me to tell them about
America. "What is this college life like in America? What do
college students do in America?" They didn't know enough about
America to make their questions specific. When they did make the
questions specific, they were often funny. I had one student ask
me if we play baseball in America. Baseball came from America, but
it had been in Japan so long and had become such a big thing, they
did not know or had forgotten that it was introduced from America.

I didn't realize that, that it had been in Japan that long.
Yes. Baseball is big there, and has been for a long time.
Yes, I knew that.

It is probably bigger, and more people see it, than in this
country. They were also interested in other strange things in the
field of sports; kendo (swordsmanship) was really something. I
went to see them practicing that one day. When I saw this
traditional sport, I soon discovered that winning is not the whole
story. The way you do it is extremely important. I remember going
to see some students practicing with bows and arrows one day. This
is another traditional form of martial arts called kyiids.

Archery.

Yes, archery. They were shooting at a target and usually missing
it. The students explained that certain students were doing it
just right, even though they weren't hitting the target. This was
puzzling. The importance they assigned to the way, to the form, to
the style, to the manner in which they did things was what really
mattered. It was the psychological stance that was significant.

That impressed you at the time?

I was more puzzled than impressed.
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First Wife, Mary Nelson Logan Brown

Did you meet your wife during this time in Japan?

Mary and I met after I had been in Japan alone for two years. I
met her at a summer resort called Nojiri, which is high in the
mountains of central Japan, a resort where missionary families
often went during the summer. In Japan it is pretty hot in most
places, and so it was great to go to the mountains during the
summer. Kanazawa was one of the hottest places. So I too usually
escaped. I went to Nojiri the second summer. That is where I met
Mary.

She was teaching elementary school children in Birmingham,
Alabama, and had returned to Japan to visit her father, Dr. Charles
A. Logan, who was a missionary in the city of Tokushima on the
southern island of Shikoku. He and the two youngest of his three
daughters (Mary and Martha) were in Nojiri to spend the summer with
him. That was when I met Mary.

Had she been born and raised in Japan?

Yes. Her father had gone to Japan as a missionary for the Southern
Presbyterian Church back in about 1904 and was stationed--from the
first--at Tokushima. It was there that their two youngest
daughters were born: Mary in 1908, and Martha in 1910. Dr. Harry
Myers, who had married Dr. Logan's sister, had also gone as a
missionary to Kobe--where there was that big earthquake a few
months ago [January 17, 1995)--at about the time of the Russo-
Japanese War in 1904-05.

Tokushima had no English-language school but Kobe had the old
and famous Canadian Academy. So all three Logan daughters went
through high school at the Canadian Academy where they stayed in a
Canadian Academy dormitory but frequently visited their Uncle Harry
and Aunt Grace. Before attending high school in Kobe, the three
girls had had little formal schooling, only when Dr. and Mrs. Logan
spent a one-year furlough in the United States. All three
daughters had lessons for several hours on weekday mornings from
their mother Patty, who used textbooks that had been prepared for
the at-home education of children. Patty was obviously an
excellent teacher as well as a loving wife and mother, for all
three girls, after graduating from the Canadian Academy, entered--
and later graduated from--Agnes Scott College in the outskirts of
Atlanta, Georgia.

And what was her full name?
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Mary Nelson Logan Brown.

She was born and raised there and went to teach in Alabama. That
was probably a cultural shock of its own.

Yes, but she had experienced three rather drastic changes before
going to Birmingham. The first came in 1910 when she was only two
years old and her parents returned to the United States by way of
Europe on their first sabbatical leave. Mary later remembered only
that she had been a nuisance because of consistently refusing to
drink her milk. The next was in 1919 when Dr. and Mrs. Logan spent
their second sabbatical leave in Decatur, Georgia, where Mary was
enrolled in the fifth grade. Then came the really big change in
1925 when she, at the age of sixteen and accompanied only by her
younger sister Martha, sailed to the United States to enroll at
Agnes Scott College.

But Mary seems never to have suffered cultural shock from any
of these moves. Indeed I have the impression that she thrived on
them, soon developing good friends in each new place and always
getting high grades in her school work.

Although Mary did not return home to Japan a single time
during her four years at college (between the ages of sixteen and
twenty), she continued to have the loving support of family and
relatives. All during those years (and later as well) there was a
weekly exchange of letters between the daughters, and between the
daughters and their parents. Moreover, in Mary's third year at
Agnes Scott, Dr. and Mrs. Logan returned to the United States on
their third sabbatical leave and lived right on the Agnes Scott
campus. That was because Dr. Logan had been invited to teach a
course there and was assigned a house in which the whole family
could live. They all rated 1927-28 a glorious time.

At Agnes Scott, Mary developed good friends, spent some time
with a boyfriend from Canadian Academy, was a member of the hockey
team, majored in math, was tied with another girl for highest
honors, and was elected to membership in Phi Beta Kappa. She once
told me that she liked math because answers were always right or
wrong--not fuzzy as when dealing with questions in history or
philosophy.

So when she moved to Birmingham to teach, she had already
become quite well adjusted to American life. Also there was a year
between graduation and teaching that she spent with her father in
Tokushima, following the sudden death of her mother Patty in 1928.
Mary never told me much about that year with her father but it must
have been rather dull since there were apparently no other young
Americans in towr. 1In any ‘:as< she seems to have been delighted to



Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

31

return to Birmingham where she not only had a lucrative position
paying $100 a month but lived in the home of a good friend--a
classmate from Agnes Scott named Martha Riley Selman--and bought a
new Ford that was used for a trip with friends to Washington, D.C.,
at the time of the inauguration of Franklin Roosevelt in 1932.

So when she returned to Japan in the summer of 1934, the
purpose was to visit her father and her sister Martha, who had
returned to Japan to stay with their lonely father. And it was in
the summer of that year that we met and married.

So she ended up staying there?

She ended up staying there, because her father suggested that she
give up the job and that we get married right away, not the next
Christmas. [laughter] So we got married at the end of that
summer, in Nojiri, with about thirty-five missionary families
present. Then she went back to Kanazawa with me.

That changed your life. Now you had someone to talk to all the
time.

That changed my life, very definitely. Yes, things were quite
different. It was a new start.

Did she seem to have more of an understanding of the Japanese
people?

Yes, she knew spoken Japanese quite well, having probably learned
Japanese from maids and neighborhood children about as early as she
learned English. We would go on excursions around Kanazawa and
overhear Japanese talking together in their local dialect. To my
surprise, Mary would giggle to herself and then tell me what they
were saying. And when Japanese salesmen came to the door, it was
she--not me--that figured out what they were trying to sell.

She had not studied the reading and writing of Japanese, but
when she saw that I was working on Japanese readers, she joined me.
It was easy for her and she soon caught up because she already knew
most of the words represented by the characters we were studying.
However, she soon lost interest in such study, for she did not
share my urge to read books about Japanese history. In fact, she
seems to have had no urge to learn more about Japanese culture. At
times I even thought that she was not that happy about living in
Kanazawa, where there were no more than a dozen other Americans.

She didn't necessarily want to spend her life there.
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Yes. But we did spend a lot of time there. Maybe twenty years
after we got married were spent in Japan. She never complained,
but I often wondered if that was her preference.

Didn't you ask?

Yes, but she would say, "Whatever you want." [laughter]

Those days are gone.

Japanese Students

What kinds of Japanese people did you get to know? You got to know
your students. What sort of a social background were they from?

Well, they were all outstanding. Each had been admitted to the
Fourth Higher School because of passing an entrance examination
given to three or four times as many as could be admitted. That
meant that almost every student that I talked to--and many visited
me at my home--said that he had graduated third or fourth from the
top of his middle school class. (Middle schools provided five
years of education beyond the elementary school of six years.)
When I heard that an individual had graduated at that high
position, I usually asked about those who had graduated first,
second, or third in his class. In almost every case the answer
was: "Oh, he entered the military academy." This indicated that
the brightest and most able students had decided to become army or
navy officers.

Those admitted to this particular higher school, and
presumably to one of the other dozen or so, went on--almost without
exception--to one of the five national universities. The brightest
and most ambitious ones usually took an examination for admission
to the top two: Tokyo or Kyoto. I never heard of a graduate of the
Fourth Higher School who was not admitted to a national university.
Those graduating from Tokyo or Kyoto at the top of their class
usually entered the foreign service or some other governmental
office. At least one of my students (Uryu-san) became an
ambassador. Other top university graduates went on for training as
academicians or joined some major corporation. Muto-san, the
student who lived with me for that first year as my interpreter,
became a professor of philosophy at Kyoto University and is famous
for a three-volume study of Kierkegaard. Nakano-san joined a
leading brokerage firm and was head of its New York office for five
years.
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I have seen Uryu-san and Muto-san on recent trips to Japan,
and Nakano-san volunteered (after retirement) to teach economic
Japanese to students at the Inter-University Center who were
training themselves for doing business in Japan.

Well, I wondered about the social class of the people you had
contact with. You have given a good answer here.

Most of the people I had contact with were students, teachers, and
missionaries who were the foreigners in town. Then there was a
German teacher--that is another story. All were quite different
and interesting. The main thing about the students was that they
were successful, and they didn’t come from any particular social
group. It is true that Muto's father was a successful businessman
in Kebe. I have biographies, incidentally, of many of these
students. When they finished my class, they were supposed to write
an autobiography in English. That was their final examination, as
it were.

Was that your assignment, or the school's assignment?

That was my assignment. And I have copies of them. I did find out
about the family background of most of my students. My impression
is that most of them were from ordinary, middle-class families.

And maybe even lower than that.

But there was an ability to move up?

The big thing was: they were bright enough, energetic enough, and
ambitious enough to get ahead in school. If they did that and were
successful, they would come to this school.

I remember one day going out behind my house in the garden,
shortly after we were married. Here was a woman coming in to pick
up the garbage. She was the garbage collector. Being gung-ho in
those days about learning Japanese, 1 started a conversation with
her. She said, after a bit of talk about the weather, that her son
was in the school where I was teaching.

She was obviously of a very humble family, and she was working
to get enough money together to enable her son to go to this
school. I don’'t know that I took the trouble of finding out--I
don't think that student was in my class. But he undoubtedly
became a very prosperous professional, probably an engineer or
teacher, but from a very lowly background. So I don't know that
the students came from a particular class.

That is interesting. Something I wouldn't expect.
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Brown: Yes, it was a shocker.

I have another story. It is a little later, but it shows the
same thing. At a nearby train station, an 0ld man had a little
shack for the articles he needed for shining shoes. I used to go
regularly to him to get my shoes shined.

Once I went on a busy day, so his wife was helping him. She
was almost blind, so blind that she couldn't see me. She didn't
know I was a foreigner. When she was shining my shoes she was
within six inches of my shoes, trying to see what she was doing. I
got to talking to her. I don't know what we were talking about.
Finally she looked up at me and she said, "Are you a foreigner?" I
said, "Yes." Then she started asking me questions. Why am I in
Japan? Where I came from? One thing and another. She finally
said, "I have a nephew who is at Harvard." At Harvard!

I guess what all this says to me is that it is not class or
social level that matters, it is education. If you can make it in
education, that makes the difference. Education is important.
That seems to explain why all Asian students, even to the second
and third generation, are good students. They like to learn. It's
somehow drilled into them. I think it comes from the Confucian
background that is common to that whole area. Confucius himself
was interested in learning. There developed in China a so-called
literati class, a class of learning. That emphasis upon education
and learning is a fascinating feature of Japanese, Chinese, and
Southeast Asian culture.

Lage: Yes, it does seem to be.

An American in Japan

Lage: What encounters did you have with Japanese militarism or animosity
towards Americans? You were there while relations were really
getting bad with America.

Brown: Oh, yes. I was mostly considered a potential or real spy.

Lage: Really? By whom?

Brown: By the police and the military. Near the entrance to the castle
was the police station.

Lage: And you had this great interest in the castle.



Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

35

Yes. The police station was there, too. [laughing] One of the
policemen was assigned to me. I think he really had responsibility
for all foreigners. He didn't know any English, but it was his job
to keep track of us, what we were doing and even what we were
thinking.

With no English, that must have been hard.

He spoke to us in Japanese. This man would come to me--maybe once
a month or more often. I would invite him in, give him tea, and we
would talk. I could see that he had to write a report when he got
back. He would ask where I had been, where I was going, what I was
doing, and above all, whether I had any interest in Marxist books.

In Marxist books?

Yes. They were afraid of communism, you see. As a matter of fact,
I went into a classroom one day and about a third of the class was
missing. I was told that one of the students had been found in
possession of some books on Marx. He and his friends were all
picked up for questioning by the police. This policeman that came
to me would always get around to the subject of Marx.

Were you ever tempted to tease about 1t, or was this pretty
serious?

I knew it was coming. The position I usually took was, "Well, I
don't know much about it. Tell me." I would ask him, "Who is this
man by the name of Marx, anyway?" [laughter] And so on. If he
would ask about it, I would say, "Do you think there is something I
ought to read in this area?" I had fun with him.

One day I was walking down to school by the police office. I
saw him on the other side of the street and went across to see him.
I said, "I haven't seen you for a while." He said, "It's been kind
of busy." I said, "You don't know I am going to Kyoto next
weekend." He practically dropped in the ditch by the road.

Was that not--

He was supposed to know that. Here I was telling him something
that he was supposed to find out, you see. He had to know right
away, for his report, why I was going to Kyoto, and so on. He was
especially worried about me when a friend of mine from Kobe--I
think he was consul general in Kobe at that time--came to visit us
in Kanazawa. The consul general may have been interested in
visiting me because he wanted to find out what was going on in that
division headquarters, I don't know. But because he did visit me,
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this policeman really became quite inquisitive about him, about
what he did while he was in Kanazawa, et cetera.

Then I went on a trip--this is even before I got married--to
Korea and Manchuria one spring vacation. I took count. I think I
was questioned seventeen times by policemen before I got to Seoul
in Korea. I really was a problem for them because I didn't know
where I was going or how long I was going to stay. I had no plans.
I was playing it by ear.

Did you have to tell them before you went?

We were supposed to, but I just hadn't worked things out yet. I
would often be awakened in the middle of the night on a train by a
policeman who had just come on duty at a particular station to find
out where I was going. It was really a nuisance. They were quite
worried about espionage.

Did it disturb you that you had all this questioning?

No, it didn't. It sort of amused me, I don't know why. 1 suppose
I should have been bothered, but I wasn't. That's what they were
supposed to do. In class, of course, the students were always
asking me about America's policy toward Japan.

##

Shortly after you got there was the Manchurian Incident [1931], the
Japanese invasion of Manchuria.

The Manchurian Incident, yes. That was when the Japanese military
began to take over--it was a long process. That was just the first
stage of it. Invariably, I would go into class and find some such
question on the blackboard as, "Please explain why America is so
unreasonable about Japan's position in Manchuria."

They would question you?

They would want me to explain, would want me to justify the
American position. The United States was being quite critical of
Japan. It was because of the American position on Japan's role in
Manchuria that the Japanese eventually pulled out of the League of
Nations. The international situation was always coming up.

Were you well enough informed to answer them?
I read the newspapers. I would try. My own position gradually

shifted in the face of all this questioning. In the beginning,
coming out of America and the university at the time of the
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Depression, I had a lot of questions of my own about the way our
government was operating and about our foreign policy. Nationalism
was not a big thing with us at that time.

But in the face of these questions that I got from students
and teachers over and over, day after day, I gradually became
nationalistic, more defensive of the United States and what we were
doing. I found myself not simply explaining, but justifying, in a
way that I maybe shouldn't have. But that was the way I felt.

It is sort of a psychological phenomenon. I have heard other
people talk about it.

I know this happened to my teacher at Stanford, Professor Yamato
Ichihashi. 1In the United States he went through the same kind of
change in the face of questions about Japan. He became more and
more nationalistic and more defensive.

Did you find any of your students or the other teachers who
questioned their own government's policy?

Very few. This also puzzled me. They all seemed to have exactly
the same position. All seemed to believe in the official Japanese
position about the foreign situation. More precisely, they all
felt that what Japan was doing in Asia was good for the Asians.
They had a kind of sacred mission that they kept talking about. It
was harped on, over and over.

They didn't think of themselves as oppressors?

They seemed to believe what they were saying. That too was
puzzling.

I remember a discussion in one class about American opposition
to Japanese activities in China. One student said, "Can't the
Americans, can't you, understand that the military is not there
because we want more territory? They are there to help the Asians,
to help the Chinese." My answer was, "I hear what you are saying.
But from the American point of view, there is only one key fact
that they see and know: Japanese troops are not in Japan, but in
China." [laughter]) That didn't satisfy them. They were in China
for a good cause, a righteous cause.

It shows how we are shaped by our own points of view.
What about impressions you got of militarism?

I said that a division was stationed in the castle. On the way to
the school I passed through what was known as the "Parade Ground."
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It was a place for military exercises. That’'s where we also had
our biggest ceremonies. The brother of the emperor came once, and
we had the whole place filled with people. When I walked through
there on the way to school, usually the military was out there
training, with guns. I would hear guns being fired all around me.
I had the uneasy feeling that a lot of those guns were aimed at me.
They had blanks in the guns, I think. Still, I didn't feel any
special antipathy. 1 did have a few rocks thrown at me at some
distance. I wasn't hit. Although they got very angry at the
United States at various times while I was there, and the students
would ask me to explain American positions as if I had some
responsibility for those positions, there was not much antipathy.

Did they ever ask you about American immigration policies or
American treatment of Japanese?

Oh, yes, they would ask about that. But that wasn't such a great

issue as the American position on Japanese activities in Asia.
That's really what they were mostly interested in.

Neighbor and Fellow Teacher, the Nazi

My interest in international relations was further aroused by my
neighbor, the German, who was a Nazi.

He was a fellow teacher?

Yes, he taught German and I taught English. He had a house just
like mine. There were two houses. One for the German teacher, one
for the English teacher. This German couple was about the same age
as we were. We saw each other often. We ate dinner with them
frequently and played a German version of bridge called Skat. We
learned how to play it and spent a good deal of time with that.

But we also talked about politics.
In Japanese?

No, in English. He was very good in English, although there was a
definite accent. He was very bright and interesting, but a Nazi.
He had gotten a Ph.D. in philosophy and was a sculptor. He came to
Japan with an interest in a famous sculptor who lived in Kanazawa.
He came after I did, and I remember that soon after his arrival, he
got one of the Japanese German teachers to run down a book that had
been written about this sculptor, a book that he had heard about
before coming to Japan. He got hold of that book and hired a tutor
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who started teaching him how to read it. His study of Japanese was
limited to the study of that book about a former Japanese sculptor.
It took him weeks to get through the first page. He wouldn't study
anything else, just that book.

I must say, he learned Japanese very rapidly. I became
convinced that it was a good approach, which I have frequently
recommended to students. I am convinced that I learned Japanese as
rapidly as I did because I was working on historical materials in
which I had a special interest. I think I learned more Japanese
than I would have if I had just been studying textbooks.

This German, who was a Nazi, soon revealed that he was a Nazi.
I saw him at a summer resort called Karuizawa, for example, where
he was associating with other Nazis. He was "Heil Hitlering"
everybody as he went down the streets of Karuizawa. He made no
bones about being a supporter of Hitler. He justified everything
that Hitler was doing and doubted whether democracy made any sense
whatsoever. He was constantly raising questions about ideals which
I had assumed were important--

And universal, almost universal.

Yes. It was really troubling to talk to him. We really got angry
at each other, over and over. But since we lived next door, we
still continued to see each other. I must say, he made me rethink
and rethink my own position about what was important and valuable.
Getting his position and the Japanese position, both of which were
entirely different from my own, was really--

Did it solidify you in your own tradition, make you--

Oh, yes. It forced me to think things through and to understand
why our ideals are important and what they really meant. I somehow
had to work out in my own mind just who a liberal was and what he
believed. I could do that, I think, because it was so different
from what he was saying about liberalism: that it was nothing but a
form of weakness. Power and strength was what he talked about.

Fascinating. Do you think that stood you in good stead, this
process you had of thinking things through? Would it have affected
you?

It stimulated me, yes. 1 had to get ready for my next conversation
with him. My next defense was coming up.

What about the next part of your 1life? Did this carry through to
confronting some crisis or--
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To the extent that it stimulated my thinking about cultural values,
my own values, and the values of the Japanese and the Germans, a
kind of comparative slant appeared.

Or maybe affected your scholarship?

I think so. It didn’t make me more excited about or receptive to
his ideas, but I still had to try to understand them and understand
how they got that way, and why.

Sounds like an historian to me.

Yes, right. 1In a way, the Germans and the Japanese were moving

down the same authoritarian track. I was, in a sense, responding
to both. It was really stimulating.

"Emperorism”--The Religion of Japan

I became interested quite early in the emperor's position and what
it had to do with the strange behavior and value system of the
Japanese people.

This strangeness struck me quite sharply one day when I was
going to the back of the school where the basketball court was
located. On the way I saw that every student passing a certain
place stopped and bowed before going on. After seeing this two or
three times, I asked somebody why. The answer was: "They are
bowing to a picture of the emperor."” And when I expressed surprise
and asked if I could see the picture, the answer was, "Oh, no! It
is locked up in a vault.”

Later on I also discovered that the teachers took turns
guarding the vault, but this foreign teacher was not requested to
take a turn--he was not my emperor!

At every national holiday ceremony that I attended during my
six years of teaching at that school, this sacred picture of the
emperor was taken from its vault (presumably in a ceremonial way
that I had no opportunity to observe) and placed in an alcove at
the back of the stage in the school's ceremonial hall. For this
special occasion every teacher, including this foreign one, was
expected to be dressed in a morning suit, and every student was
expected to have his uniform clean--even the towel that was
traditionally hung from his right hip pocket was unusually clean!
Clearly the central object of reverence was the picture.
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As soon as the principal of the school walked in carrying a
box in which we knew was a copy of the Imperial Edict on Education
(handed down by Emperor Meiji in the year 1890), the curtains in
front of the emperor's picture were pulled open. And as soon as
that happened, everybody was expected to bow, and to remain bowing
as long as the curtains before the emperor's picture were open.

It is hard to look at the picture while you are bowing.

You have to peek! [laughter] By peeking I saw that it was a
picture of the emperor, and not a very big one. It was however
obviously treated as something quite sacred. So while the
principal ceremoniously unrolled the Imperial Rescript, and began
to read it in a ritualistic way, we had to keep bowing.

Whenever our principal read the Rescript on one of the
national holidays, he was careful to read it right. I was told
that there had been several occasions, at other times and places,
when the Rescript was read improperly and when negligent and
disrespectful principals were forced to commit suicide.

When our principal would finish his reading of the Rescript,
which was on a scroll, he would slowly and respectfully rewind it
and then put it back into its special box. After he walked--slowly
and with great dignity--from the platform, the curtain before the
emperor's picture would be closed, and everybody could leave, but
only in a proper and orderly fashion.

The sacred position of the emperor in the hearts and minds of
the Japanese people was revealed at other times and places. Once
at the station where I was taking a train for a neighboring town, I
spotted a virtually empty car on the train that I was taking. When
I started to enter, I was firmly told that no one was permitted to
enter that car. I soon saw why. In the very middle of the car sat
four men dressed in morning suits, sitting up stiffly and holding a
box on their laps. Someone explained that these men were
delivering a picture of the emperor to some school. Presumably
when they arrived, the picture would be placed in a vault and be
brought out only for important ceremonies when the Imperial
Rescript on Education would be reread to all assembled teachers and
students.

A missionary teacher, a Japanese man that I was talking to
just before I came home in 1938, said that the religion of Japan is
not Shinto or Buddhism, or Christianity, but Emperorism. In a
sense, he was right.

For more than a thousand years the emperor has been revered as
a direct descendant of the Great Sun Goddess. Whenever a new
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emperor is placed on the throne, a Great Enthronement Ceremony
(daiic-sai) is held. The one for Emperor Akihito lasted more than
a year. At the heart of this most sacred rite, it is said and
believed that a part of the Great Sun Goddess enters the body of
the new emperor, making him the highest and most sacred priest of
Japan, a kind of pope.

Since the end of World War II, he has of course been treated
quite differently. Soon after the war, Emperor Hirohito even
publicly stated that he was not divine. But in the pre-war years
when I was teaching in Japan, he was so divine that few people--
especially foreigners like me--ever saw him. 1 remember reading
that when he was going to some special affair in the city of
Nagano, a terrible mistake was made. Everything possible had been
done to clean up the streets along which the emperor was scheduled
to pass--even steps had been taken to see that no one was on the
second floor of any building where he or she might look down on the
emperor. But someone at the head of the procession turned right
when he should have gone straight ahead. This meant that the
emperor proceeded down a street that had not been properly prepared
and cleaned. I forget how many people committed suicide over that.
But, as I recall, even the minister of the Interior had to resign.
This was another indication of the emperor's importance and
divinity.

Is this the subject of the book you are working on at this point?
I am working now on a book on the Great Goddess. I want to see how
this religious development is related to the whole of Japanese

culture. I want to look at the problem holistically.

Interesting. I think we should wind up, because we've spent a long
time.

Militarism in Japan

[Interview 2: March 20, 1995]) ##

We talked quite a bit last session about your time in the thirties
in Japan. We were just getting to your observations of the growing
militarism. You were going to tell me about an incident with the
Young Officers' Movement that you observed.

That's right. I said something about my experience seeing soldiers
in Kanazawa where I lived all during that period. I was very much
aware of the presence and power of the military. Did I say



Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

43

anything about my relations with military officers in the school in
which I taught?

No, I don't believe so.

This school where I taught, the Fourth Higher School, was somewhat
like a junior college. It was a preparatory school for the
universities. There were only about fifteen of these schools
around the country. No student got into the university without
going through one of these higher schools. Therefore getting into
it was difficult. As I think I said earlier, only students
graduating at the top of their middle school classes could expect
admission. And all graduates, almost without exception, were
admitted to one of the national universities and eventually rose to
high positions in business or government.

But army officers were assigned to all these dozen or so
prominent preparatory schools. Their function was to take care of
the students' required military training. Some of this took the
form of several days of training in the outskirts of town, which
came several times during the year and was never cancelled because
of inclement weather. Students seemed to dislike such training,
especially when it came in the dead of winter or at a time of heavy
rain.

One day I went into one of my classes and discovered that
about half of the students were absent. When I started asking
about this, I discovered that they had had an all-weekend military
training session in the rain. One morning when they were supposed
to get up for training at dawn, some of the students just wouldn't
move. They stayed in bed. The officers lowered the boom on them.
They were expelled from school temporarily, because of this
disobedience. So this military side of the education was quite
apparent and very interesting.

It doesn't sound like the students were too enthused about it.
No, they weren't. They weren't exactly opposed to military
training, they just didn't like this long, tedious training,
especially if it was raining or cold.

Creature comforts, rather than philosophy. [laughter]

That's right.
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The Party and the Geisha Girl

I had one personal contact with a high-ranking army officer
assigned to our school. The occasion was a faculty dinner party.
Since our school was only for male students, and the teachers were
all men, no woman was present as a guest, although there were women
waiters and geisha girls. But this top military officer,
considered to be a member of the faculty, was present.

I have referred to this as a dinner party but it was not like
a dinner party in this country. Not only were there no wives or
female teachers present, we sat on the tatami floor of a large
Japanese-style room. Each of us sat on cushions arranged around
the room, and before each of us was a small table to which
waitresses brought (on their knees) one special dish after another.
Geisha girls were also present. I don't need to explain about
geisha, do I?

I don't think so, except in the context of this story.

Several aspects of that party were interesting. One was my going
to the affair with my German Nazi neighbor, a self-assured man who
was well over six feet tall. After taking off our shoes he
preceded me (naturally) through the entrance way to the main
banquet room. We both knew, as we entered, that we were expected
to bow and greet those who had arrived before us. He decided to do
it in the Japanese way, kneeling down on the mat and greeting our
colleagues in Japanese. As he did this, I looked at the faces of
our fellow teachers and got the distinct impression that this
German was performing a ludicrous stunt--that this was an odd-
looking foreigner trying to act like a Japanese and making a fool
of himself.

It wasn't expected of a foreigner?

No. So I decided not to do it that way, to do it in the American
way. I stood up and just bowed and said "Good evening" in English.

In English?

I even did it in English. In other words, I jumped to the
conclusion that I was supposed to act like a foreigner, and because
I wouldn't be able to do it quite right in the Japanese way.

I think this had something to do with the way I behaved toward
the Japanese thereafter. I did not try to be a Japanese, although
I worked hard at using the Japanese language. On ceremonial
situations, where it didn't really mnatter that mu:ch what you said,
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I felt that speaking in English was what was expected, and even
appreciated.

The other experience that I had was with this army officer.
Maybe I should talk about the geisha girl first.

I would like to hear a little about the geisha girl. [laughter]
Are you listening, Margaret? [Calls to Mrs. Brown]

She's on the phone. I can hear her voice. Were you married at the
time?

I was married, just recently married, but the wives were not
invited.

Which was standard?

Which was standard. Mary had been in Japan long enough to realize
that she would not be invited and was therefore neither surprised
nor hurt.

Five or six geisha girls were present. They were not waiting
on tables--waitresses were doing that--but entertaining the guests
by serving them sake, conversing and joking with them, and (later
on in the evening) singing, dancing, and playing the samisen, a
three-stringed musical instrument introduced from China around the
sixteenth century.

During the dinner one particular geisha came to my table to
pour sake and to talk. Like each of the colleagues who had come to
share cups of sake with me, she politely kneeled in front of my
table, took my small sake cup (with both hands), daintily dipped it
into a bowl of water that was nearby to get it clean, and handed it
to me to hold while she poured some sake into it from a nearby sake
bottle. (The maids saw to it that empty bottles were immediately
replaced.) Then after I had taken a sip or two, I would dip the
cup into the water and hand it (with both hands) to her and while
she held it (with both hands), I would pour a drink for her. As
this was going on, she was raising stock questions as to why I had
come to Japan and whether I really liked their foul weather. Then
she asked me where and how we ate. I told her that we had a
Japanese maid who knew how to cook both Japanese and Western meals.
Then she said, "How do you talk to her?" My reply was: "We talk to
her the way I am talking to you." She seemed a bit startled by
that and blurted out, "Oh, we are talking in Japanese, aren't we?"

How funny! Was she flirtatious in talking to you?
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No, I wouldn’'t say so. This is hard to understand but it was
generally assumed that no foreigner could possibly speak Japanese.
They were so convinced of this that even when we said anything, it
was assumed that we were speaking in some foreign language, not
Japanese. This geisha girl too seemed to think that since I was a
foreigner and was talking, I must be talking in some non-Japanese
language.

That is a very funny mindset.

Yes. It is a mindset that I ran across on other occasions. So I
wasn't that much surprised by her reaction. She did, at least,
laugh when she realized that we were speaking in Japanese.

Anyway, most of the four-hour dinner party was taken up with
eating (we probably had fifteen or twenty different small dishes of
various delicacies, topped off with as much rice as one wanted) and
exchanging drinks and talking. One would normally be visited by,
and visit, each of the guests present, as well as drink and talk
with one or more geisha. So I must have talked with that
particular geisha two or three times.

Lots of drinking, it sounds like.

Oh, yes. Lots of drinking. I was exchanging drinks with this army
officer when he said to me, "Why don't you go to the geisha house
with us after the party?" He had seen me talking to this girl.

But I said, "I am married, and I don't think my wife would like me
to do that." I think it was he--maybe it was the principal of the
school that I was also exchanging drinks with--who said, in urging
me to go to the geisha house after the dinner party, "The way to
handle the wife is to stay out all night. She will be so glad to
see you when you do come home in the morning that she will forget
everything." [laughter]

There was one follow-up to that party. 1 was going to school
one morning on a streetcar when I saw the same geisha girl. I was
a bit worried because I knew very well that any sort of
relationship with a geisha would get out. It was a very serious
matter, probably leading to deportation. That's what I had been
told.

But if you had gone to the geisha house that night, would that have
not gotten out?

That would have been in the privacy of the geisha house. But this
was in a public streetcar. She was standing just a few feet away
and students were all around. I was convinced that she had noticed
me--most everyone noticed foreigners because we were so few in
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number and so different--but she acted as if she had no idea who I
was. (Later I was told that geisha are trained not to recognize
customers in public places.) Anyway, I was relieved that she did
not recognize me. That was the last time I ever saw her.

The Young Officers' Movement, 1936

Getting back to the military connection, in 1936 there was a famous
incident in Tokyo called the February 26th Incident, in which young
army officers almost seized control of the government. There
weren't too many of them, maybe a hundred or two. They used their
weapons to methodically assassinate five or six key government
leaders. Then they established their headquarters in the Sanno
Hotel, which still exists. For several hours, while they were in
control even of radio stations, it was thought that they might have
taken control of the entire Japanese government.

As it turned out, the army soon regained control. Rebel
leaders were arrested and tried. Several were condemned to death.

This is thought to have been a turning point in modern
Japanese history. After that, the army and navy exerted far
greater power in political and international affairs. The uprising
was led by young military officers taking military action against
their superior officers who, they said, were too cozy with Japan's
greedy politicians and bureaucrats.

Were they of a more militaristic bent than the--?
The young officers, you mean?
Right.

They were junior army officers who felt that the government of
Japan was really being run by corporation heads who really did not
care about the welfare of the people, who were more interested in
making money than serving the country. So these rebels set out to
assassinate the principal leaders and to see that "righteous"
military men were placed in positions of control. Their enemies
were not only powerful industrialists and politicians but top
military officers who were not paying enough attention to a
"righteous form of imperial rule." What they wanted was to
establish a government that would be run by the emperor (another
restoration) with the advice of "righteous" generals and admirals
that were named.
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A student by the name of Royal Wald wrote his dissertation
under me on the "Young Officer Movement" of those years. His
research showed that most of these young officers were from rural
areas that had been hit hard by the economic depression. Although
Japan's depression does not seem to have been as serious as it was
in the United States, there was a sharp drop in the price of silk
after 1929 that caused a collapse in the Japanese export of silk
and that made life quite miserable for farmers in areas where
people were making a living from the sale of raw silk. And it was
from such areas that most of the discontented young military
officers came. Miserable conditions at home seems to have been
connected with their objections to the way government was being
run.

In a sense the rebels, although defeated and ruthlessly
punished, succeeded. While they did not succeed in getting their
"righteous" officers placed in positions of control, their
rebellion was followed by the appointment of prime ministers and
cabinet officers who placed more and more control in the hands of
military leaders. That gave the military greater control over
affairs of state. I think most scholars of the period would agree
that after 1936 the military--the army and the navy--really
controlled Japan.

Was that something you would have noticed as somebody living there
at the time? Or does this come in retrospect from your studies?

Oh, no. We could see it. It was in the newspapers every day.
So you were following that kind of--

Oh, yes. I was reading the newspapers and listening to the radio
every day, like everybody else. The students, teachers, and most
everyone that I met and talked with were concerned. One of my
colleagues at the Fourth Higher School said that he was humiliated
by the development, saying that Japan was now like the Balkans.

Shortly after the February Incident, all schools were closed
for the spring vacation. And that was when Mary and I went to
visit Mary's missionary cousins (Dr. and Mrs. Smythe of the Kinjo
Gakuin college for girls) in Nagoya, which is one of Japan's three
largest cities. We stayed in their beautiful home and had a most
pleasant Easter vacation. During our stay I met a young army
officer who had come to visit Dr. Smythe, apparently because he had
been attending Dr. Smythe's Bible class. This young man turned out
to belong to the same regiment to which most of the young rebels
belonged. Consequently he knew many of the persons whose names had
been appearing in the newspapers and radio broadcasts. And it soon
became clear that he felt the same way and would have joined them
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in the rebellion if he had been on duty at the time. Instead he
was in Nagoya recuperating from illness. Since he had said enough
to Dr. Smythe to indicate his connections and leanings, and Dr.
Smythe passed the word along to me, I became interested in meeting
and talking to him. So we were introduced. We spent hours
together because he was interested in talking about the affair, and
I was interested in listening. My Japanese was better than his
English, and so the sessions were entirely in Japanese.

Too bad you didn't have a tape recorder.

It is too bad I didn't have a tape recorder, like this one. I did
write a long letter for Professor Treat later on, but I have no
copy. Recently a man at Stanford was going through the papers of
Professor Treat and found several letters that I had written to
Professor Treat, but not that one. It was one that I wanted
especially to see because I had spent a long time writing it, and I
kept no copy. If I could have looked over that letter before this
interview, I would be much wordier in responding to your question.
I do recall, however, a distinct sense of discontent and anger that
he shared with fellow officers who had decided to rebel against
their greedy and selfish leaders.

Was he also from an area that had been hit economically?

Apparently. I don't remember asking what part of the country he
came from, but his home must have been near Nagoya because that is
where he had come to recuperate. He said or implied that he too
would have been out there shooting at those greedy officials if he
had been well. Instead, he was ill and at home.

It is interesting that he felt free to talk to you.

That is also interesting. I have gotten the impression on other
occasions that the Japanese are willing to say things to foreigners
that they might not say to a Japanese. I don't know just why this
is. Of course the young officer had already talked to Dr. Smythe
in Japanese and probably was not surprised to meet his Japanese-
speaking foreigner. I do not know why but many Japanese seem to
talk more freely to foreigners than with each other.

Maybe they knew you didn't have corridors into power, to report on
them, or--

That might be. I certainly didn't know anyone to report to.

Of course, you did have your officer that you had to report to, the
officer that interviewed you periodically about your activities.
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Oh, yes. I didn't tell him about that conversation. You mean the
police officer in Kanazawa?

Right.

That is interesting. I don't think he asked me about my stay in
Nagoya. If he did, I would have told him when and where I went but
would certainly not have told him that I had been talking to a
young radical. That might have caused him and me a lot of trouble.

Right. That's very interesting. You were really seeing all this
history in the making.

That's right. Getting to talk to a young military officer involved

in the February Incident of 1936. One does not often have that
kind of experience.

Decision to Leave Japan

We could probably spend our whole interview talking about this time
period, because it is so interesting. But I think we should try to
move on, why you left Japan and how you happened to go back for
graduate studies.

About leaving Japan, I had a problem. I had an opportunity to stay
in Japan another three years, having received an offer of a
position to teach English at the Peers School in Tokyo, a special
school for members of the royal family. I was tempted to take the
position because that would enable me to achieve greater mastery of
the language, and to learn more Japanese history, especially if I
were to study under Japanese historians at the Tokyo University,
the country's most prestigious university.

I was undoubtedly influenced by the knowledge that Professor
Serge Elisseeff of Harvard had studied at Tokyo University before
beginning his teaching career in Paris, and later accepting an
appointment at Harvard. And it so happened that Professor
Elisseeff was in Tokyo during that spring of 1938, just when I was
trying to decide whether to stay on in Japan for another three
years. We too were in Tokyo at the time, having arrived there to
spend the spring vacation with Mary's father, Dr. Charles A. Logan
and his new wife Laura. So I went to see Dr. Elisseeff and to seek
his advice on what I should do. Knowing that he had spent several
years at Tokyo University, I fully expected him to recommend that 1
take the route he had taken. But to my amazement, this was not
recommended. Instead he said, quite emphatically, that if my aim
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was to become a professor in Japanese history at an American
university, I should spend no more time in Japan but return to the
United States and become a candidate for the Ph.D. degree at an
American university. It was more important, he pointed out, to
obtain an American Ph.D. than to spend more time gaining a better
knowledge of Japan's language and history.

It was more a career--

Yes. He was thinking about my future as a teacher, because I had
to think about getting a job and making a living. And other
people, too, made recommendations along that line. So I decided
not to take the job.

That would have put you there right in 1941, wouldn't it?

That's right. That would have been a really troublesome period.
Already the war with China had started. That began back in '37,
and I left in '38. The situation didn't look good. Maybe that
influenced me.

How about your wife? Did she want to get out of Japan?

I think, as I said earlier, she probably preferred to live in the
United States. That may have been another factor. Although she

always said that whatever I wanted to do would be what she wanted
to do. [laughter]

So I applied for admission to Stanford for work toward a Ph.D.
in Japanese history. At that time I also applied for a
scholarship, because I was married and we had to think about making
a living after we got back. I applied to the Rockefeller
Foundation and they offered me a scholarship with the condition
that I go either to Harvard, Colombia, or Berkeley.

Herbert Norman and Howard Norman

After talking to various people, including Howard Norman and his
brother Herbert Norman--

Who were they?
#

Howard and Herbert Norman were born in Japan as sons of a
distinguished Canadian missionary. We first be:ame acquainted with
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Howard and his wife Gwen because he, the older of the two sons, had
become a missionary and was living near us in Kanazawa. Their

home, located beside the parade grounds mentioned above, was where
Dr. Harper Coates (Howard's predecessor in Kanazwa) had also lived.

Before going on about Howard and his brother Herbert, I feel
impelled to say something about Dr. Harper Coates because he was,
in addition to being a conscientious and diligent missionary, a
distinguished Buddhist scholar who had much to do with my interest
in, and study of, Japanese history. He had become immersed in the
study of Japan's Buddhist Reformation of the thirteenth century and
in comparing it with the Christian Reformation, which came
approximately three centuries later.

Interested in studying it, or interested in becoming one?

He was interested in studying Buddhism, not in becoming a Buddhist.
Indeed I think it is fair to say that he became engaged in a
serious study of Hdnen, a leading figure of Japan's Buddhist
Reformation, because he thought such study would make him a better
missionary. That surely was what drove other missionaries, such as
Dr. Daniel Holtom and Dr. Karl Reischaurer, to immerse themselves
in the study of Japanese religion and history, and to turn out
distinguished books and articles. Dr. Coates had been in Japan
several years by the time of my arrival in 1932, and had worked
with a Japanese scholar in producing a two-volume study of Honen.
[Honen, The Buddhist Saint: His Life and Teachings (1930)] It is
still a valued reference for graduate students engaged in research
at the Institute of Buddhist Studies in Berkeley, an institute
supported by a popular Buddhist sect rooted in the teachings and
writings of Honen. Dr. Coates' impressive command of Japanese, and
his enthusiasm for gaining an in-depth knowledge of a Buddhist
leader who is often compared to Luther, certainly rubbed off on me,
and made me quite willing to spending several hours a day on the
study of Japan's language and history.

Do they call it protestant Buddhism?

No, they refer to it as their Buddhist Reformation, not using a
Japanese equivalent of "protestant". The history of Japan's
Buddhist Reformation is however often compared to the history of
the West's Protestant Reformation, although the former came three
centuries earlier. Several Buddhist sects emerged in Japan during
the thirteenth century, just as several Protestant denominations
were founded in Europe and America during the sixteenth and
seventeenth centuries. So it was logical that Dr. Coates should
have become interested in a Buddhist teacher whose writings are as
important to modern Buddhism as the writings of Luther and Calvin
ar: to modern Christianity.
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Somehow--I don't even know what question to ask you--but it
intrigues me that the Christian missionaries who were going to
Japan to convert Japanese to Christianity would develop this
extreme interest in the native religion.

I think that they were doing it in order to convert the Japanese.
So it wasn't just an abstract interest, but he had a reason for it.

Yes, they were really interested in the Japanese and felt that they
had to know something about their religious beliefs and practices
if conversions were to be made. Their position was not unlike that
of a businessman who feels that he must know the tastes of his
potential customers in order to make sales pitches, or write ads,
that will sell goods. Many missionaries--not all to be sure--were
quite sure they would be successful only if they studied the
Japanese language and religion.

Dr. Coates was certainly open-minded and tolerant. I remember
an incident in which these qualities were manifested. A
distinguished American scholar of Shinto came to Kanazawa while I
was there. I did not meet him and do not remember his name, but
priests of a local Buddhist temple invited him to make a public
presentation of his views and findings. But this foreign scholar
knew no Japanese and the priests at the temple knew no English. So
Dr. Coates was invited to serve as interpreter, and he readily
accepted. So here in this distant part of Japan, at a time when
the nationalism of Japan was being referred to as
"ultranationalism", we have a Christian Baptist missionary (Dr.
Coates) interpreting for an American scholar speaking on Shinto at
a Buddhist temple.

That is wonderful. [laughing)
So you decided that Harvard wasn't the place?

Well, it was Dr. Elisseeff that convinced me I should not do
graduate work at Tokyo University, and Herbert Norman who convinced
me I should not go to Harvard, even though I had received a
scholarship that was contingent upon going there for graduate work,
or to Columbia or Berkeley. And I felt I had to show how my
contact with Herbert was preceded by a rather special relationship
with his brother Howard, whose predecessor in Kanazawa was Dr.
Coates.

Howard, like Dr. Coates, had a deep and special interest in
the life and culture of the Japanese people. But unlike Dr. Coates
who had to start his study of the Japanese language after arriving
in Japan as a missionary, Howard had been born in Japan and had
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used Japanese since childhood. But like Dr. Coates, he seems to
have felt compelled, as a missionary, to gain an in-depth knowledge
of the Japanese people. His study was however not centered on
religion but on literature. He read widely in modern Japanese
literature and translated the works of famous authors into English.

Now I come to Herbert Norman who had told me about his
experience at Harvard, and who was later to become famous for his
book The Emergence of Modern Japan, and as a Canadian diplomat. I
first met Herbert during the summer of 1936, I think it was, when
he was a graduate student at Columbia and was back in Japan for
some special study. Herbert was not a missionary like his father
and brother, but was deeply interested in the history and culture
of the Japanese people and decided to become a candidate for the
Ph.D. degree in history. He started his graduate training at
Harvard but moved to Columbia because, he said, the professors at
Harvard (such as Dr. Elisseeff) were specialists in literature or
philology, not in history. During a long walk I had with him and
his Japanese friend at Karuizawa (we talked only in Japanese), he
explained why he had left Harvard. 1 feel quite sure that what he
had to say had a great deal to do with my final decision not to
become a candidate for the Ph.D. at either Harvard, Columbia or
Berkeley, but at Stanford where there was a Japanese professor of
Japanese history (Professor Ichihashi Yamato) but where I would not
receive a Rockefeller Foundation scholarship.

I should note here that I did not see Herbert again until
1946, when he was Canada's chief diplomatic officer in Tokyo. And
it was not long afterward that his name began to come up in
Washington hearings linked with the McCarthy witch-hunt because he
had been associated with groups and activities tagged as pro-
Communist. This was obviously a great embarrassment to Herbert.

We do not know for sure, but it is felt that these charges and
suspicions may have caused him to commit suicide in Cairo, where he
was then serving as Canada's ambassador to Egypt.

What a sad story.

Yes. I know he had some influence on my decision not to stay on in
Japan, and also on my not going to Harvard, Columbia, or Berkeley,
because even though that is where my scholarship said I should go,
those universities did not offer courses in history by professors
who knew Japanese and who used Japanese sources.

But Stanford did?

Stanford had a Japanese professor by the name of Yamato Ichihashi.

And you had studied wita bilm as an undergraduate.
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I had taken a course with him. And Professor Treat was also at
Stanford. So I felt that I could get better guidance in Japanese
history at Stanford, which had a professor who was teaching courses
in Japanese history and who knew the Japanese language. Even
Berkeley did not have such a professor of Japanese history at that
time.

Which was a situation you later remedied.

Right. [laughter]
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II1 GRADUATE SCHOOL AND THE NAVY

Stanford University, and Professor Yamato Ichihashi

So I gave up the scholarship and applied for admission to the
Graduate Division at Stanford for work toward the Ph.D. in Japanese
history under Professor Yamato Ichihashi. That was probably a
mistake, because it turned out that Professor Ichihashi was not
deeply involved in Japanese historical research. His graduate
training had been in economics at Harvard, not in Japanese history.
He had received an appointment at Stanford to teach Japanese
history not because of achievement in that field but because he was
a Japanese who had received his Ph.D. at Harvard, and because
Professor Payson J. Treat (a specialist in Far Eastern diplomatic
history) and President David Starr Jordan (a marine biologist who
had spent some time in Japan) felt that Stanford should add a
specialist on Japan to its faculty. So he was given an appointment
in the history department.

He wasn't in the profession?
Yes. And there weren't many books at Stanford.
So the library wasn't adequate--

Yes, one could say that. I soon discovered that Professor
Ichihashi's interest in Japanese history was quite limited. He was
making a special study in the remarkable cultural developments of
the eighth century and had taken voluminous notes on the art and
architecture of that Nara period. He was intrigued by the
remarkable changes made in Japan during those years, when the
country’s leaders were avid students of the splendor of Chinese
T'ang culture and were adopting ambitious bureaucratic,
educational, religious, and economic reforms (usually following
Chinese models) that were indeed amazing. But as far as I know, he
never published anything in this field.
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When I wrote my first seminar paper for Professor Ichihashi,
using documentary material on local Kaga history that I had
accumulated in Kanazawa, he seemed to have no interest whatsoever
in the history of that part of Japan in the sixteenth century.
Consequently he raised no questions, made no recommendations, and
volunteered no comments about the historical problem I had taken
up. Moreover, he expressed no interest in the Japanese sources I
had used and raised no questions about my translation of
specialized Japanese terms. Nothing was ever said about books and
articles (English or Japanese) that I might read. I even
discovered that neither Professor Ichihashi nor the Stanford
library had a file of the Shigaku Zasshi, the leading Japanese
historical journal (comparable to the American Historical Review in
the United States). Instead, he merely indicated words and
punctuation marks that should be added to, or removed from, my
English sentences.

Although he gave me an A for the paper, my disappointment was
great. I seriously considered moving to another graduate school.
But during the hours and days that I mulled over the problem of
working under a professor of history who seemed incapable of
stimulating, encouraging, or helping me to carry out research in
Japanese history, I finally concluded that moving to another
graduate school made no sense. It would not only take additional
time and money but would undoubtedly be interpreted as an academic
failure that would have to be overcome. So I decided to stick it
out: to say to myself and Mary that Professor Ichihashi's unhelpful
and authoritarian samurai ways would not prevent me from getting
the Ph.D. degree and preparing myself for a career of teaching and
research in Japanese history.

Professor Lynn White

So what did you do for guidance?

I received guidance, stimulation, and encouragement from other
professors at Stanford, notably from Professor Payson J. Treat and
Professor Thomas Bailey (who showed me how a lecturer can stimulate
student interest in learning more about human experience in a
particular field of history) and from Professor Lynn White (whose
historical theories and explanations of developments in European
medieval history aroused in me a great curiosity about whether such
theories and explanations could be applied to similar developments
in Japanese medieval history). Both my M.A. thesis on the
introduction and spread of firearms in medieval Japan and my Ph.D.
disse ta~ion on the use of coins in medieval Japan were reports on
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research arising from an urge--aroused in courses taken from Lynn
White--to find out whether firearms and money had affected the
course of history in Japan as they had in Europe.

Although both the M.A. thesis and Ph.D. dissertation were
submitted to a committee headed by Professor Ichihashi, he provided
no bibliographical or analytical help for either. Moreover, no
Japanese sources for either study were found in the Stanford
library where Japanese holdings were then quite weak. (Nowadays
they are very strong). Therefore most of my research for the M.A.
thesis was done in materials found at Berkeley, and for my Ph.D.
dissertation in materials held by the East Asian Library at
Harvard.

You mean, the topics were European and you looked at it--

Yes, problems were raised by Lynn White in European history that I
felt should be raised in my study of Japanese history. For
example, Lynn White had a special interest in technology--am I
getting too far off?

No, I think, without spending too much time, this is important.

Well, Lynn was a most stimulating historian. He was in his
thirties at that time, young but already a full professor and said
to be the most distinguished medievalist in the United States. He
was a fascinating lecturer and had this special interest in the
effects of particular technological advances on the subsequent
military, political, economic, and even religious life everywhere.
His lectures were fascinating, and attracted large numbers of
students.

Were these new questions that he was asking that people hadn't
asked before?

They were at least new for us, and very stimulating.

[tape interruption}

Lage:

Brown:

Okay, now we are back on after a phone conversation. We are
talking about Lynn White and his new theories.

In his technological studies, he was digging up information about
when the stirrup, for example, was first introduced to Europe.

Then he would tell us what happened after the stirrup was
introduced, which led to the fascinating conclusion that only after
the stirrup was introduced could soldiers fight while they were on
horseback. Otherwise, they would fall off. He felt that the whole
tradition of fighting on horseback was tied up with the spread of
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knighthood in Europe. None of this could have happened if there
had been no stirrups.

So one of the first questions he raised with me was: How about
stirrups in Japan? He had seen and studied pictures of haniwa
(clay figurines placed around burial mounds erected all over Japan
during the Burial Mound age that came to a close in about 600 A.D.)
and had discovered that one of them was a representation of a man
riding a horse. And that the man had a stirrup on one foot. That
startled Lynn, especially when he learned that this particular
haniwa was probably made in about the fifth century. This meant
that it had been made two or three centuries before any known
evidence that stirrups were used in Europe. So he wanted to know
what sort of an effect the knowledge of stirrups had on warfare in
Japan. That was the subject of the first seminar paper that I
wrote under Lynn White.

The seminar was in medieval studies?

In medieval studies. At Stanford, we had to take an examination in
six fields of history. Japanese history was only omne.

So everybody had to take a field of Japanese history?

No, no. Very few took that field, especially in those pre-war
years when so few budding historians had any interest in that
remote area of human culture. But all candidates for the Ph.D. in
history were required to take an oral examination--lasting several
hours--in six fields of history: the area in which one intended to
specialize and write his or her Ph.D. dissertation, and five
others. But there were at least a dozen fields. Therefore
candidates interested in modern American history could still select
six fields without studying Asian or African history. So not many
selected the Japanese or Far Eastern fields.

In the roughly forty years that Professor Ichihashi was at
Stanford he had only two Ph.D. dissertations written under him, one
by me and one by Dr. Nelson Spinks who did his research on the
Russo-Japanese War without using Japanese sources, and who later
joined the State Department as a foreign service officer. (I last
saw Nelson in Bangkok where, as I recall, he was consul general.)

My six fields were Japan (Ichihashi), Far Eastern Diplomatic
History (Treat), Medieval European history (White), English
history, modern U.S. history (Bailey), and Latin American history.
(I was also required to take a written examination in International
Law, as well as in French and German.)
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The oral examination was an ordeal--preparations for which
made me quite ill--that I will never forget. Professors in each
field had given me a long list of recommended books and articles;
and I simply did not have enough time to read them all carefully
and thoughtfully. Moreover, most of my professors (except Lynn
White) seemed to be interested mainly in historical events and
personalities, not in historical meaning and analysis; and for some
reason Lynn White was out of town on the day of the examination.

Although I passed, I felt I had really flunked every field
except Japanese history, and possibly U.S. history. 1In the
Japanese part of the examination, as I had expected, there were no
questions about developments about which I had written my M.A.
thesis and intended to write my Ph.D. dissertation. Professor
Ichihashi did, however, ask bibliographical questions that enabled
me to parade the names of unfamiliar Japanese titles.

Meeting the foreign-language requirements for the Ph.D. also
created considerable dissatisfaction, mainly because the languages
I needed most (Japanese and Chinese) were not listed as languages
that would satisfy language requirements for the Ph.D. As I have
said, Nelson Spinks had received his Ph.D. without using Japanese
sources, and Japanese was not then taught at Stanford.

Except for the courses in European medieval history, and the
papers on Japanese historical problems that emerged from those
courses, my three years of graduate work at Stanford were not
intellectually exciting. Consequently at the end of my oral
examination ordeal, my old curiosity about the evolution of human
experience in Japan was nearly gone. And since Stanford's holdings
in Japanese materials were virtually nonexistent, and there was no
possibility of getting to Japan for research, I felt very little
excitement about research on my chosen topic: the circulation and
use of coins during Japan's sixteenth-century period of political
centralization. That was undoubtedly one reason I began listening
--in the summer of 1941--to army, marine, and navy officers who
approached me about taking a commission that would permit me to use
my knowledge of Japanese in intelligence work.

How did you come to be interested in coinage?

Again it started with what I had heard and read in Lynn White's
courses in medieval European history. As I have said, while I was
in Japan I had become interested in the study of Maeda Toshiie who
was an important figure in the amazing developments of the
sixteenth century. So I could not but be interested in the
emergence of comparable changes in Europe at that time, and in how
Lynn White explained them.
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It was because of his ideas about the importance of guns in
medieval European history that I got into the problem of how the
introduction and spread of guns--in the middle of the sixteenth
century--were related to the military successes of Japan's great
centralizers: Oda Nobunaga (1534-1582), Toyotomi Hideyoshi (1536-
1598), and Tokugawa Ieyasu (1542-1616). My findings were written
up as my M.A. thesis.

And that question was connected with my interest in precious
metals and coinage in Japan, for I had read that silver mining had
become important in Japan during the sixteenth century, and Lynn
White was arguing that the discovery of precious metals in
Czechoslovakia, and the discovery and importation of massive
amounts from the New World, had paved the way for Europe's
commercial revolution.

He also asked 1if there were comparable developments in Japan?
What I had picked up suggested that there was, but I needed answers
to a number of related questions: How much new silver was being
mined in Japan during those days? How was this related to the
production and distribution of coins? Did coins and monetary
exchange have a meaningful connection with Japan's incipient
commercial revolution, and was the centralization process in turn
tied up with expansive foreign trade (centered on the exportation
of silver) and a succession of military victories (centered on the
production and use of guns by the great centralizers)? I began to
feel that by looking into the question of money I could begin to
understand why and how Japan, too, was moving rapidly toward a
commercial revolution in the sixteenth century, and why and how the
political and social fragmentation that characterized Japanese
society before 1550 was rapidly giving way to the relatively
unified political and cultural order that characterized society of
the Edo Period, which began early in the seventeenth century.

So money enabled the trade and commerce?

Yes, you have to have an adequate supply of money for trade to
thrive.

On the other hand, they may not have developed gold and silver
mines if gold and silver were not needed for money, because trade
was--

That's right. Because they needed a good medium of exchange, they
placed great value on precious metals.

Anyway, it was in the sixteenth century that they discovered
important silver mines. And at that time there was a great demand
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for silver in China as well as an increasing demand for it in
Japan.

You found correspondences?

Yes, and that was the subject of my Ph.D. dissertation.
So Lynn White had quite an influence.

He did.

He sounds like a very inquiring mind.

He was. Later he became president of Mills College and after
several years there he returned to the teaching of medieval history
at UCLA and was elected president of the American Historical
Association.

As a matter of fact--I guess I can tell about this now--I was
chairman of the history department at Berkeley when Lynn resigned
from his position at Mills. From a friend of his, we heard that
Lynn would be interested in an appointment at Berkeley. I was
delighted at the possibility of being associated with him as a
colleague in the same history department. But I did not hear much
enthusiasm from my colleagues whose teaching and research were in
the general area of European history. At that time--I will get
into that later--our sights were pretty high, and many thought that
Lynn, having been in an administrative position so long, would no
longer be a productive and creative historian. So we didn't make
him an offer, but UCLA did.

Was he about your age?
He was a little older. He must be five or six years older.

Because you weren't a young student when you came back to Stanford.
You were maybe more mature than the--

Yes. When I came back to Stanford in '38, I was twenty-nine and he
was five or six years older.

Were there other professors at Stanford that were particularly
important for you?

Before we leave Lynn White, I should say, too, that he was very
much interested in the history of Christianity. He took the
position that you really couldn't understand medieval history
without understanding the role of the church and Christianity. His
courses paid a lot of attention to that. That, too, may have had
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something to do with my later interest in religion in Japan, I
don't know. He had a lot of influence on me, I must say. Whenever
I would write something I would always seek his reaction to it.

Even later?

Even later. After he went to UCLA, he was appointed chairman of
the Budget Committee on that campus at just the same time that I
was serving as chairman of the Budget Committee at Berkeley. That
meant that we were both on the statewide Budget Committee at the
same time, and for some reason I was made chairman of that
committee.

Did you have a good relationship with him?

Oh, yes. It was very pleasant.

Very nice. It is nice to see those ongoing influences. Was there
anything in the teaching styles that would be worthy of note as it
might have affected you, negatively or positively?

The kind of enthusiasm and ideas he had surely influenced all his

students. I suppose I tried to emulate him in some way or another
as I tried to lecture.

Professor Fagan of Economics

Another professor at Stanford had a great influence on my teaching.
That was Professor Fagan in the economics department, from whom I
was taking a course in public finance. He was a vivacious and
enthusiastic lecturer who, from the beginning to the end of every
lecture, constantly walked back and forth on the platform,
constantly used the blackboard not only to write names and terms
that were important but to make checks and marks of various types
to emphasize what he was saying. His use of the blackboard was
very effective. At the end of the hour it was a meaningless mess,
but in making the mess he had added life and interest to everything
said. Even now, I tend to do a lot of writing on the blackboard as
I lecture, surely because of the Fagan influence.

Kind of a way of punctuating--
Yes, that's right. If he wanted to emphasize something, he would

write the word on the blackboard and underline it and then circle
it or put exclamation marks around it.
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It draws attention and keeps attention. Why were you taking public
finance?

That was a course I took in my undergraduate years, when I was
planning on becoming a lawyer and before I had gone to Japan and
was drawn into Japanese studies. That makes the Fagan influence
all the more remarkable, especially since my thinking about public
spending and saving (spending in times of depression and saving in
times of prosperity) still has a Fagan stamp.

Another Stanford professor that I will not forget is Professor
Chen (I probably have the name wrong) who was my Chinese teacher
for a year. I had come to realize the importance of Chinese for
the study of Japanese history and therefore decided that I should
learn how to read Chinese historical materials. But Professor
Ichihashi recommended against studying Chinese, saying that would
be a waste of time.

Oh, a little nationalism there. [laughter]

Maybe, I am not sure. But I decided that I should study Chinese
anyway, and Professor Chen permitted me to take his course without
registering or obtaining an official grade. 1 never told Professor
Ichihashi that I was studying Chinese.

Were there very many correspondences in the language? Was it a lot
easier learning Chinese?

Oh, yes. The Japanese also use Chinese characters.

Are the words at all similar?

The words are entirely different; Japanese and Chinese are two
different languages. It was the reading that I was mostly
interested in. So, I worked pretty hard on Chinese. I took the

examinations like everybody else, but I couldn't get any grade.
(laughter] I enjoyed that work and learned a good deal from it.

Professor Payson J. Treat

Let's see, about other teachers--I worked a good deal under
Professor Payson J. Treat, who was a very distinguished diplomatic
historian and a stimulating lecturer.

What was his area, was it Europe?
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No, it was mostly relations between Japan, China, and the United
States, from the point of view of the United States. It was really
a course in American diplomatic history in the Far East. He had
done a good deal of writing in the field of United States relations
with Japan and China, but he didn't know either of those languages.

He was a great teacher. He was very much interested in his
students. He worked hard on his lectures. He was highly respected
and did a lot of writing. He was stimulating to work with because
of his teaching. But I had problems because he was embarrassed, I
guess that is the way to put it, by having a student who could read
Japanese, and he couldn't. He said once that he should have done
it, but he just didn't feel like he could devote that much time to
it, and never got around to it. But I must say, he was very
supportive. I had a course from him when I was an undergraduate.
When I got to graduate school, I did a lot of work under him. My
Far Eastern field was under him.

Did he try to get you to use your Japanese in some of the areas
where it would help him?

No. I sort of felt that he was not interested in things that I
might pick up in Japanese.

He would rather stick with the American side of it?

Right. [laughs]

Master's Thesis on Firearms in Sixteenth-Century Japan ##

Are there other professors that we should mention? And I do want
to ask you about the library. You mentioned there wasn't much of
ic.

Oh, yes, about the library. As a result of the library being so
weak, when I worked on my M.A. thesis on firearms--the introduction
and spread of firearms in sixteenth-century Japan--I did all of my
research at Berkeley.

So Berkeley had the sources?

Berkeley's was not that good, but they had some materials that I
could use, and I got quite a lot of information from a famous
historical encyclopedia of sources which Berkeley had. In looking
into it on such subjects as guns, I got excerpts from sources in
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chronological order about guns--when they were used, introduced,
made, and so on.

I was able to pick up considerable information that indicated
that guns were first introduced by the Portuguese in 1549 and that
within twenty or thirty years, most of the big armies had at least
a third of their soldiers equipped with guns. Warfare was being
changed as a result of these guns, and the generals who were making
guns were usually successful. They were the cones wheo were
gradually unifying Japan under one central government.

A chaotic political situation had prevailed for a couple
hundred years before the sixteenth century. But suddenly, after
the introduction and the spread of firearms, generals emerged who
gradually brought the whole country under one central government.
The making and use of guns seemed to have something te do with it.

It's interesting, while you were studying guns and firearms, this
military situation--

Again, that came from Lynn White, who talked about what happened
after guns were introduced in Europe and how this affected warfare,
politics, and a lot of other things. But in Japan, the case was
simpler in a way, because you didn't have to wait for the guns to
develop; they came in as highly developed weapons. Therefore, the
impact was more definite, clear, and sharp. You could see the
effects of these changes. Within thirty or ferty years after guns
were first introduced to Japan, battles were fought in quite a
different way.

Guns were being fired behind breastworks as early as the
1580s. This meant, for example, during the time of Hideyoshi (the
great general who succeeded in bringing the whole of Japan under
one rule after the assassination of his predecessor, Oda Nobunaga,
in 1582) there developed a strategy of placing gunners behind
breastworks. Since they weren't very effective out in the open,
the strategy was to get the enemy to attack and let his gunners sit
there waiting for the enemy to approach. He broke up his gunners
into three groups. While the first group was firing guns, the
other two were getting ready to fire. You had the principle of
continuous fire, constant gunfire with only one-third of the guns
being fired at a given time. And they could do this only behind
breastworks. So the idea was to get the enemy to attack. By
maintaining constant gunfire, they could mow down the enemy
soldiers as they approached. This basic strategy was used by
Hideyoshi in all his major battles.

Then there was a showdown, later on, with one of his generals:
Tokugawa Ieyasu, the fcunder of the Tokugawa clan and the Shogun.
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In that engagement both generals used the same strategy, trying to
get the other to attack. They had their soldiers waiting behind
embankments for the enemy to attack. They even sent messages
accusing each other of being too cowardly to attack. But both
waited patiently for the other to attack. And so there was no
battle.

They both had trained in the same strategy! [laughter]

Finally, they came to terms and became allies. So that was the
subject of my M.A. thesis, and I did all of that work here at
Berkeley.

Then for my Ph.D., I went into coins. 1 really was not able
to get much done on that before I got into the U.S. Navy.

So that is our next topic.

Should I say something here about the materials needed for
research?

Yes.

When I was working on my dissertation after the war, I went not to
Berkeley this time, but to Harvard.

So you finally gave up and went to Harvard?

Yes, I went there for dissertation research. Professor Elisseeff
was still there, and he was very helpful. The library had many
Japanese collected works that included valuable materials on
mining, coinage, and exchange. I spent six months at Harvard,
working all day long, day after day, in the library. Then I
returned to Stanford in June in order to complete and submit my
dissertation.

So you weren't being directed at all at Harvard, just using their
sources?

I was enrolled. [laughing] I was on the G.I. Bill at that time.
And you were enrolled at Harvard?

At Harvard. I was enrolled on some kind of an individual study
program under Professor Elisseeff. I saw him once a week. That
was mostly to ask him questions about things I couldn't understand
in my reading. I must say, I was impressed with him. Usually the
questions I would ask, he couldn't answer. But he would say,
"Let’s find out." He would start working through dictionaries, and
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we would work on it until we could figure it out. I was impressed
by his being able to say that he didn't know and then patiently
work it out with me.

Naval Intelligence Officer, 1940-1945

Should we get into your war service? It is a big topic, but it
must have been important.

All right. 1 spent over five years in the U.S. Navy.
Yes, how did you get into it?

Officers from all three branches of the military service approached
me during the spring of 1940--after I had managed to pass the Ph.D.
oral examination--about applying for a commission. Each said his
service was in need of officers who knew Japanese, and pointed out
that only a few American men of military age knew enough Japanese
to be useful. And since I had lost much of my old excitement for
research, and felt that it was no longer possible to avoid war with
Japan, I expressed interest.

Finally I applied for a commission in the marines and was
asked to appear at an office in San Francisco for an Japanese
examination given by Colonel Laswell, who I later worked with in
Pearl Harbor. Colonel Laswell had been sent to Japan for three
years of intensive study of Japanese during the 1930s. In those
pre-war years every branch of the military service, as well as the
State Department, had several men making a three-year intensive
study of the language at any given time. And apparently an equal
number of Japanese officers were engaged in an equally intensive
study of English in the United States. Colonel Laswell had been
one of those language officers.

This was accepted?

Yes, this was apparently the subject of a bilateral agreement. 1
became personally acquainted with three: Ural Johnson who became an
American ambassador to Japan; another foreign service officer, Bill
Yuni, who became consul general in Kobe; and an army officer who
eventually was promoted to the rank of general. The latter was
stationed in Kanazawa for the third year of his training--the
Japanese government had assigned him to the army division located
there. 1 remember being impressed with the conscientious and
methodical way this American army officer--who was living with his
wife in a nice foreign-style home--was studying Japanese.
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And Colonel Laswell, who tested my Japanese for a commission
in the marines, had also studied Japanese full-time in Japan for
three years. The passages that he tested me on had obviously been
taken from a textbook that he had studied, presumably one that had
been studied during his third year of his stay. I was surprised
that it was so simple, suggesting that my own study of the
language--never in an established program under professional
teachers--had probably given me a better command of the language
than they had achieved, but of course their study had been centered
on military language and mine on history.

Then I had a physical examination for admission to the marine
corps. Here I was, a five-foot-six runt, lined up with other
candidates who were all big, strapping fellows. When the doctor
came to tap on my heart, or whatever he was doing, he looked at his
file and he said, "They must really need you bad!" [laughter]
Apparently he had orders to pass me no matter what. My eyes were
not that good either.

I was in the process of receiving a commission in the marines
when I was approached by a naval officer. (Earlier I had also been
approached by an army officer but had expressed no interest since I
had already applied for a commission in the marines.) But when I
told the navy officer that I was about to receive a commission in
the marines, he said: "We can handle that. After all, the marine
corps is part of the navy." He said that the navy had a special
need for men with my kind of ability, which was in reading rather
than in speaking or hearing. He pointed out that the marines would
value me as an interpreter out in the field, whereas the navy
wanted men like me who could read. Since I realized that reading
was my strong point, I could not but express interest. But I had
to remind him that I had gone rather far toward being commissioned
in the marines and said that I didn't think he could engineer a
change at that late point. But he did.

Shortly, I received a notice that I was to appear at the U.S.
Naval Intelligence Office in San Francisco for an examination in
oral and written Japanese. The examination was by Dictaphone.
When I turned it on, I was asked to write out the English
equivalent of a certain Japanese article that was in a Japanese
newspaper on the desk. Then I was asked to write in English what
was being said in Japanese on the Dictaphone--this was spoken by
someone who obviously knew Japanese very well. (I knew the speaker
was not a Japanese man, because I had heard that there were no
Japanese in the navy, not even American Japanese.) I never once
saw or met the person who was examining me. But later on, after I
was assigned to duty with the Naval Intelligence Office in San
Francisco, I met and worked with him. He never identified himself
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during the examination because he was an undercover civil servant
of naval intelligence.

He was Bill Magistretti, who was a very interesting and
capable man. While attending high school in San Francisco, he had
made friends with Japanese classmates and developed an interest in
learning the Japanese language well. He therefore went to Japan
and gained admission to a Japanese middle school, a public school
for the education of boys after they had completed six years of
elementary school. He attended that middle school for five years
(apparently dressing in a Japanese school uniform and complying
with all middle school regulations) and graduated close to the top
of his class.

After returning to the United States, which was three or four
years before the outbreak of war between Japan and the United
States, he entered the University of California at Berkeley and
took some kind of special program that allowed him to graduate
within a year or two. Then he was picked up by the navy as a
civilian employee to work in the Office of Naval Intelligence. He
continued to amaze me with his ability to reel off the readings of
Japanese first names, which is hard for most native speakers of the
language. I was soon ordered to duty in Pearl Harbor, but he
stayed on in San Francisco. Toward the end of the war he was made
a foreign service officer in the State Department. And when I was
in Hong Kong in 1953-54, we spent an evening with him and his wife.
It turned out that although he had this remarkable proficiency in
Japanese, he had not yet been assigned to duty in Japan.

Did you also have a strong sense that the war was coming?

Yes. I hated to see it come, but it just seemed like it was
inevitable. Everyone seemed to think that. Of course, I had
gained a first-hand sense of what the Japanese army had in mind,
and witnessed the intensity of their interest in the whole of Asia.
It looked like war could not be avoided.

I have been puzzled about my thinking at that time. I don’'t
know precisely what I was thinking, but I had to reflect about it
when my son, Ren, became a conscientious objector at the time of
the Vietnam War. Talking to him about his objections to that war
made me wonder why I had not objected to war against Japan. I had
accepted a commission in the navy a few months before the Japanese
attack on Pearl Harbor, but the attack left no doubt that I had
made the right decision.

Do you think you were more conflicted than the average person,
though, having lived in Japan, with friends there and all?
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Sure. I know that I wouldn't have felt good about killing a
Japanese, but they were obviously--as a nation--intent upon
fighting and killing us. My direct contact with Japanese military
men in Kanazawa, and with Japanese soldiers during my visit to
Korea in 1933 and to Peking in 1935, convinced me that the military
(as well as the state which became increasingly dominated by the
military) had embarked on a course of action (later called
aggression) that could be stopped only by military defeat. I
should also say that I was never engaged directly in military
combat, working always at a desk, first in San Francisco and for
the remainder of the war in Pearl Harbor.

What were your assignments? What did they put you to work doing
with your Japanese?

After I got in the navy in San Francisco--I was there for several
months--I was made responsible for investigating the Japanese in
California, to see if I could find evidence of sabotage, or
espionage. My work was mainly looking through Japanese newspapers
that were published on the West Coast. There were a lot of
newspapers up and down the coast published in Japanese for persons
who read Japanese. A lot of the newspapers had both English and
Japanese sections, one for those who could read Japanese and the
other for those who could read English. Those were the materials
that I worked with.

But before I was shipped out, there came this problem about
whether or not to move the Japanese away from the West Coast. 1
was asked to write the report for Naval Intelligence. I remember
writing it and remember concluding that there was no evidence that
any Japanese American had ever been involved in espionage. There
was no sense that any one of these Americans had ever been disloyal
to the United States or done anything to support the Japanese
cause. I had to say that, and I did say that. But the army, which
apparently was the unit making the decision, had already decided to
evacuate the Japanese. My report had no influence on its decision.

I don't know anything about that decision process but I wonder
if it wasn't something that the public was demanding. So what I
wrote didn’'t really matter.

They weren't listening to facts.

No. The decision had more or less been made for them, I think. I
don't know.

That's interesting, that you did write the report, and you had been
the one who read all the papers. Were there several people doing
the same sort of work?
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Brown: Yes, there were two or three of us. This man that examined me was
in this field too. We did a few other things.

Lage: Did you ever go out and talk to Japanese Americans?

Brown: Not much. There was telephoning tapping. I would listen to some
of that.

Lage: Of people that particularly might have been under surveillance?
Brown: Yes.
Lage: That is an interesting part of your career.

Brown: One of the things being done then was to broadcast programs to the
Japanese in Japanese, telling them what we wanted them to know
about the war.

Lage: The Japanese Americans in California?

Brown: To Japanese everywhere, even in Japan. I do not know where the
programs were initiated, but one of my jobs was to check them.
They wanted to be certain that wrong words and phrases were not
getting into the broadcasts.

Lage: I see. Did you find any strange things?
Brown: No.
Lage: So then you were transferred to Hawaii?

Brown: Yes, that was because a commander came into the office from Hawaii
one day, asking if there was anyone there who knew Japanese. He
said that the Office of Combat Intelligence in Pearl Harbor was in
urgent need of such officers. Magistretti had such a capability,
as did my wife Mary who had a desk in the same room with me.

Lage: Well, that is nice.

Brown: But this commander was not interested in Magistretti or Mary. They
were not commissioned officers. But he was intently interested in
me. He asked about the kind of work I was doing and was clearly
not impressed with its urgency. Although I had just received
orders for naval training at Fort Schuyler in New York, as soon as
this commander got back to Washington I received new orders that
all previous orders were to be cancelled and that I should proceed
to Pearl Harbor by the first available air transportation. So I
never received any formal naval training and was on duty in Pearl
Harbor for the remainder of the war.
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Pearl Harbor

You could just as well have been a civilian.

Right, that is a good point. The civilians they needed were all
given commissions, especially in intelligence. We had thousands in
our office--at first called Combat Intelligence--but every single
person was either a naval officer or enlisted man and were all
white males, certainly no Japanese and no blacks.

But they all spoke Japanese, these you were working with?

Yes, but before I get into that I would like to tell of an
experience I had on my flight to Hawaii by a Pan American seaplane.
We took off from Treasure Island--after about four failures to get
the plane to rise up out of the water--with all windows blacked out
so that we could not be easily sighted by the enemy. It was a
spacious plane with sleeping compartments, tables around which four
passengers sat, and open spaces where we could stand or walk
around--not at all like the cramped seating on a plane today.

I sat at a table opposite a young naval flier whose name was
O'Hare. I knew that he was a flier because he had wings on his
uniform and, although obviously a few years younger than I was, had
the rank of commander or lieutenant commander. I was not surprised
at his high rank--I was then only a lieutenant junior grade--
because I knew that fliers were often promoted rapidly. And his
name meant nothing to me. I had been so busy getting ready for the
trip, that I had not been reading the newspapers, and there was
then no airport at Chicago called the O'Hare Airport. You know
that name, don't you?

Oh, yes. Goodness.

Well, O'’Hare was the man sitting across the table from me. But
when he introduced himself, the name rang no bells, and we
proceeded to talk about this and that for a couple of hours without
his indicating that he was anything more than an ordinary navy
flier. Then we got up for a stroll around the plane, and I began
talking to another passenger, who asked: "Do you know who that man
was your have been sitting with?" And when I said "No", he clued
me in. For several days, a young naval flier by the name of O'Hare
had been given "a key to the city" by the mayors of one American
city after another all over the United States. He had been honored
by parades, dinners, and cheering crowds and had even been invited
to the White House where he was greeted by President Roosevelt and
given an accelerated promotion to the rank of commander. Imagine!



Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

74

When I returned to the table and rejoined O'Hare, I must have
acted somewhat differently. But he never said anything about his
having received such great honors, or about his single-handedly
shooting down six Japanese zero fighters off the island of
Guadalcanal.

He probably appreciated somebody who could just talk to him.

That's right. He wasn’t interested in talking about all those
things. He didn't talk about himself like I am talking now.
[laughter] Then when we got to Hawaii, he knew and understood,
apparently, that I was there for the first time. So he took me to
the navy officer's club, showed me how to get there, and even
carried one of my bags. Then, a few days later, I read in the
newspaper that he had been killed in a training exercise near
Hawaii.

After all he had done, he was killed on kind of a--

Twenty-five years or so later, I was taking a flight to Washington
and I was hung up in Chicago. As I was going around through the
airport, I saw a plaque about the O'Hare Airport, and for the first
time I realized that the O'Hare Airport was named after the man I
had met on the way to Hawaii.

In Hawaii I reported to duty at a place that was then
identified as Combat Intelligence, which was in the basement of a
big building in the main part of Pearl Harbor. I was first
indoctrinated into various sections of the office. The most
interesting and maybe the important part of the indoctrination was
learning about the use and the potentialities of IBM machines,
which were not like IBM computers today, but they had sorters,
punchers, printers, and various other machines that were used for
analyzing information.

It was sort of the precursor to the computer?

Yes, they were the most sophisticated machines available then, and
were used extensively and intensively.

The cards that are punched?

That's right. Basic data were placed on cards and then sorted and
printed up for different purposes. These printouts, bound into
huge volumes, were used for our cryptoanalytical work.

I think it was on my first day in that office that the
commanding officer made this amazing statement: "This is not a
normal kind of duty. Here we take the position that if you feel



Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

77

message sent out by Japan's naval headquarters. Gradually it
became quite clear that a powerful naval attack was being ordered
against a particular U.S. naval base. But the name and place of
that base was designated by a code-letter K, as I recall, which had
not been used in previous messages. And so the office was not sure
which base would be the target of attack.

Then, the book tells us, Commander Finnegan had a hunch that K
stood for Midway. But he had to be sure. So he developed the
scheme of having an American plane fly over the island of Midway
and radio a message, in plain English, about what it was doing and
where it was going. Not long afterward a Japanese message was
intercepted stating that an American plan flying over K had radioed
such and such a message. In that way Admiral Nimitz learned of the
Japanese plan to attack Midway. He immediately ordered all his
ships (most of which were then in Australian waters) to head for
Pearl Harbor for refueling, and then to proceed to Midway. There a
historic naval battle was fought, generally considered to have been
the turning point in the Pacific War.

So it was important work you were doing.

Yes. Admiral Nimitz once came in to see us. We were working right
under his office, and nearby. He told us once that our office and
the work we were doing was as valuable to him as another fleet.

Interesting. Now, your wife got sent over, I read.

Oh, you saw that? Well, that's a long story. Do you want me to
get into that?

I don't know. Let's just note it, because maybe we don't need to--

It sort of got me into trouble. I was in trouble with the navy
twice. Once was over her, and another was over something else I
can get into. I was at a cocktail party once in Hawaii and was
talking to a general connected with Military Intelligence in
Honolulu. My interest in Japan and the Japanese came up.
Eventually, I must have said something about Mary having been born
and raised in Japan, and working with Naval Intelligence in San
Francisco. He said, "Oh, we need people like that out here." I
said, "Well, I need her too, but I can't get her out here because
of the regulation against navy dependents coming to Hawaii."

For safety's sake, or to keep you fellows busy?

It was assumed, I suppose, that if wives and children were
permitted to live in Hawaii, officers and enlisted men would not
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work so hard and might even try to avoid sea duty. Probably there
were security reasons as well. I don't know.

So there was no possibility of getting Mary (a navy wife) to
Hawaii. The general said, "I know about that regulation. But if
we need her, we can get her." [laughing] I said, "Luck to you."

I tried to stay out of it, saying, "You have to do everything,
because as a navy officer I can't do anything about getting my wife
over here." He said, "I know that."

So pretty soon my wife began indicating, in her letters, that
overtures were being made about her going to Hawaii. She even
indicated when she was arriving, but I made the mistake of
inquiring about when her ship was to arrive. That indicated that I
as a navy officer (I had my uniform on) was asking about the
arrival of his wife.

So I was called into the office of a man that I later used to
see at the golf course. He was then a commander, as I recall,
whose job it was to enforce this regulation. He asked me--I think
I was a lieutenant commander--no, a lieutenant. He said,
"Lieutenant, don't you know that there is a regulation against navy
wives coming to Hawaii?" I said, "I do." "What's going on!" he
said. He was very rough. I told him, and he said, "They didn't
tell us that she was a navy wife. My advice to you, young man"--I
still remember this--"is to get word to her to go back home,
because if she gets over, I am going to send her back on the very
next boat." So I said, "Yes, sir" and left. As I passed the desk
of the yeoman who was on duty outside the commander's office, he
said, "You know, you could be court martialled for something like
this!"

I went immediately to the army intelligence office in Honolulu
to see the general who had said he would take care of the matter.
But when I left the elevator on the floor where the general's
office was located, an army officer stepped up and asked, "Are you
Lieutenant Brown?" And as soon as I said I was, he said, "Before
you talk to anyone here, Commander So-and-So at Pearl Harbor wants
you to return to his office in Pearl Harbor immediately."
flaughter] When I started up the steps to his floor of the
administration building in Pearl Harbor, the commander was waiting
for me, although it was then the noon hour. He said, now quite
decently, "I didn't realize your wife was so important.”
[laughter]) He had apparently looked into his files and found that
Mary's coming to Hawaii had been approved at a high level.

Pretty high up, probably.

Yes, pretty high up, and he couldn't do anything about it.
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work so hard and might even try to avoid sea duty. Probably there
were security reasons as well. I don't know.

So there was no possibility of getting Mary (a navy wife) to
Hawaii. The general said, "I know about that regulation. But if
we need her, we can get her." [laughing) I said, "Luck to you."

I tried to stay out of it, saying, "You have to do everything,
because as a navy officer I can't do anything about getting my wife
over here." He said, "I know that."

So pretty soon my wife began indicating, in her letters, that
overtures were being made about her going to Hawaii. She even
indicated when she was arriving, but I made the mistake of
inquiring about when her ship was to arrive. That indicated that I
as a navy officer (I had my uniform on) was asking about the
arrival of his wife.

So I was called into the office of a man that I later used to
see at the golf course. He was then a commander, as I recall,
whose job it was to enforce this regulation. He asked me--1I think
I was a lieutenant commander--no, a lieutenant. He said,
"Lieutenant, don't you know that there is a regulation against navy
wives coming to Hawaii?" I said, "I do." "What's going on!" he
sald. He was very rough. I told him, and he said, "They didn’'t
tell us that she was a navy wife. My advice to you, young man"--I
still remember this--"is to get word to her to go back home,
because if she gets over, I am going to send her back on the very
next boat." So I said, "Yes, sir" and left. As I passed the desk
of the yeoman who was on duty outside the commander's office, he
said, "You know, you could be court martialled for something like
this!™"
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to see the general who had said he would take care of the matter.
But when I left the elevator on the floor where the general's
office was located, an army officer stepped up and asked, "Are you
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you talk to anyone here, Commander So-and-So at Pearl Harbor wants
you to return to his office in Pearl Harbor immediately."
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for me, although it was then the noon hour. He said, now quite
decently, "I didn't realize your wife was so important."”
{laughter) He had apparently looked into his files and found that
Mary's coming to Hawaii had been approved at a high level.

Pretty high up, probably.

Yes, pretty high up, and he couldn't do anything about it.



Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:
Brown:

Lage:

79

I had another run-in with him because a few months later, the
newspapers reported that the navy had decided to have a shipload of
children, whose parents (civilian or military) were living in
Hawaii, brought back home.

Had they been sent to the mainland?

Yes. A number of children had been evacuated at the beginning of
the war, and if the parents were still there, their children could
now be brought home. Although our case was different, it looked as
though it might be possible to get our five-year-old daughter
Charlotte included.

Oh, I see, I didn't know you had children by then.

Yes, Charlotte was born in Palo Alto while I was doing graduate
work at Stanford. She was such a beautiful and smart child that
she put on a show everywhere we went. She and my sister Margie,
who was then living with us and attending San Jose State College,
made those difficult years of graduate study a quite happy time.

She stayed over with whom?

She stayed with my father and mother in Santa Ana after Mary left
for Hawaii. But we missed her and were thrilled by the thought
that she might be brought to Hawaii. But again I realized that
there was this navy regulation and decided that Mary, not I, should
fill out the forms for having children brought back to Hawaii. So
Mary took over, and I tried to keep out of the picture. The
request was approved; my parents were notified; a lady was employed
as her guardian; and Charlotte boarded the ship in San Francisco.
The trip was apparently quite terrifying for Charlotte who, at that
early age, was not only separated from all members of the family
but was on a ship that was constantly zigzagging to avoid being hit
by any torpedo fired by a Japanese submarine. She still remembers
unpleasant incidents that occurred on that voyage.

Somewhere along the line, but before Charlotte had actually
arrived, this same tough commander called me into his office, and
as I entered his door he said, "What are you up to now?"
[laughter]

Was this all very gruff?
Oh, yes.

He wasn't laughing as you are now?
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No, he was serious about it. Actually angry. I had gotten under
his skin. I told him what my wife had done and that we had
obtained assurances that having our daughter brought to Hawaii was
both proper and legal. He thought and fumed, and finally said:
"Well, I don’t think I can do anything about it. But the next time
I see you, I suppose you will be trying to get your grandmother
over here!” [laughter]

I had another run-in with a high-ranking naval officer, but
this was with the admiral who was my own commanding officer at the
Joint Intelligence Office of the Pacific Ocean Area. This incident
came after I had been on duty in that office for two or three
years, and when I had become one of the six officers (four were
Annapolis men and two of us were reserve officers) that took turns
serving as senior officer present (SOP) during the night hours when
the more senior officers were never on duty. During the day we
would be out-ranked by two or three senior officers, but at night--
which was often the time of actual combat at sea and when the
office was running full tilt, but when the admiral and a few
officers immediately under him were almost never present--one of us
had to be on duty. At those times we were responsible for
everything done or not done by some 2,000 officers and enlisted men
who were then present. So when I was on night duty, I had a number
of responsibilities not connected directly with cryptoanalysis.

The next time I came on daytime duty, I was told that the
admiral wanted to see me right away. The two officers whose rank
placed them between me and the admiral (both Annapolis men) went
with me into his office. The admiral--obviously quite angry--
handed me a copy of telegraphic message to Washington and asked if
that was my signature. I said that it was. He then asked me if I
approved the wording of that message. I said that I didn’t know
because I had not yet read it. He then blurted out: "Do you mean
that you sign messages that you have not read?" When I replied,
"Yes, sir!" he became almost livid and was not very receptive to
the explanation that it had been presented to me at a very busy
time of the night and that the yeoman had assured me there was no
reason why I should take the time to read the several messages
before signing them. I may even have said that I was working on a
Japanese message that I felt needed my attention more than those
routine messages to Washington. Anyway I was not contrite, and
that may have upset him more than my signing an unread message.

I can imagine.

I learned later that the admiral had been assigned to the Joint
Intelligence Center of the Pacific Ocean Area with the
understanding that he would improve relations between that office
and the one in Washington. And the message that I had signed was
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worded in a way that probably worsened relations. It said
something like this: "Why don't you guys get off your duff and
answer that question we put to you about ten hours ago?"

On the way back to our desks from the admiral's office, one of
the Annapolis officers that had gone in with me made this
interesting remark: "Man, it is wonderful to be a reserve officer!"”
{laughter] He went on to say that for a regular officer in the
navy, something might have been added to his fitness report that
would block promotion.

It could affect your career.

Definitely. But as a reserve officer, I didn't care about that.
The worst thing they could do would be to send me back home, which
wouldn't be too bad.

They needed you, anyway.

They needed me, and I guess I must have realized that, and he
realized that. So I didn't hear anything more about it.
[laughter]

I think we need to finish up for today, but to complete talking
about the war--this is a hard topic at the end--we need to record
your reaction to the dropping of the bomb on Japan.

Do you want to get into that now?
Should we just try to finish up with some thoughts about that?

All right. I remember when that happened. I had no advance notice
of it. Maybe some of my officer superiors, the Annapolis people
around might have known it, but I doubt if they knew about it
either. It was kept pretty quiet. I happened to be at a friend's
house in Honolulu when I heard about the dropping of the bomb. It
was a blow. So I remember precisely what I was doing when I heard
about it. It was something quite hard to digest, to get used to.
It reminded me of looking at that Pacific Ocean for the first time,
which made me dizzy. The whole idea of a bomb as destructive as
that is kind of hard to understand and to deal with. Of course, we
didn't know then about the extent of the damage caused, but it was
obviously horrendous. The problem was much talked about,
especially about whether it was right to use such a weapon of mass
destruction.

Did people talk about it at that time?
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Brown: Yes, there was talk about it, even in the navy. But I think there
was a general feeling, or hope, that this might help bring the war
to an end quickly--that maybe this was necessary to make the
Japanese surrender. I think most of the Japanese would say, too,
that if it hadn't been for that bomb, they would not have
surrendered as soon as they did. The war would have dragged on
much longer.

Lage: You having lived there, the people of Japan were much more real to
you.

Brown: Yes, I couldn't help but feel the hurt and the suffering that was
caused by all that bombing of cities. I did go to Japan in 1948,
about three years after the war was over. 1 saw huge sections of
Tokyo and Yokohama that had been burned out, not by the atomic
bomb, but by other bombs that were very destructive. Three-fourths
of the city of Tokyo was pretty much burned out or gutted. It was
a horrible sight to see.

Lage: Just by conventional bombing?
Brown: Right.

Lage: That is sort of forgotten, because the A-bomb has all the
attention, but conventional--

Brown: Well, the A-bombs hit those two cities (Nagasaki and Hiroshima),
and that was spectacular. The destruction was horrible in those
two places, but nearly every city of Japan was bombed out.
Kanazawa was not bombed and Kyoto and Nara were skipped, but most
other big cities were devastated, many people killed or left
homeless. Life there was pretty miserable for a long time
afterwards.

Lage: On that sad note, let's finish for today.

Brown: Yes.

Leaving the Navy, December 1945

[Interview 3: March 29, 1995] ##

Lage: We pretty well have you out of the navy, but we haven't found out
how you got out. You said there was a story involved with that.
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I had a chance to go with the navy to Japan in connection with what
was called the Strategic Bombing Survey. I don't think we got into
that, did we? The Strategic Bombing Survey was a big survey
project in which not simply navy people, but other military
personnel and civilians were sent to make a study of the conditions
in Japan following defeat and surrender. But I didn't want to go
to Japan under those circumstances. I really wanted to get out of
the navy--to return to my academic work. I tried to do that, but I
was classified as "essential" and could not get released.

But having served at one post for over three years, I was
entitled to a transfer to some other post. So I put in a request
for transfer to the Washington office, feeling that I might not be
classified as "essential" there.

That sounds very clever. Did your wife have any trouble getting
out of her job?

No, she was working in the Army Intelligence Office in Honolulu,
but the war was over and they had no reason to hold her. Moreover,
she was a civilian employee. So around September of 1945, Mary,
Charlotte, and I boarded the Lurline for our return to the
mainland. Although Charlotte and Mary had taken ships to Hawaii,
this was the first ship I had sailed on throughout the war; and I
was a naval officer. Once or twice I had gone aboard a ship that
was in the harbor to see a movie. But because I was unfamiliar
with ships and with how to act when boarding, I went only with an
Annapolils officer who could tell me what to do next, such as
saluting the officer of the quarterdeck and asking for permission
to come aboard. So the trip back to San Francisco on that famous
passenger boat was not simply pleasant, it was instructive.
Although the Lurline was nothing like a battleship or cruiser, its
crew was still made up entirely of navy officers and enlisted men.
So we heard a lot of navy lingo. Men were assigned rooms in
according to rank, and the women were assigned rooms in another
part of the boat. This was therefore not exactly a luxury cruise,
but it was the first time I had had a chance to do what a navy man
normally does: go to sea.

That 1s why you say you aren't really a navy man.

That's right.
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Completing the Ph.D. Dissertation

You went on to Harvard. I think we talked about--when we discussed
Stanford we discussed--

Yes. I went to Harvard because the library was good.

But you were still enrolled as a Stanford graduate student, is that
correct?

No, not officially enrolled. I was a candidate for the Ph.D.
degree and had worked on and passed my oral examinations before I
got into the navy back in 1940. I knew what I wanted to work on
for my dissertation, but hadn't really gotten started when I got
into the navy. So, when the war was over, I really wanted to
finish that dissertation. And I knew that I couldn't do much at
Stanford because the Japanese collection there was practically
nonexistent. I felt that the best place to do this work would be
at Harvard. They had the best library then, and probably still do,
although Berkeley's now is pretty close to first place.

So when I was released from the navy in December of 1945,
Mary, Charlotte, and I moved from Washington to Cambridge so that I
could carry out research for my Ph.D. dissertation in Japanese
materials at Harvard. Since I had built up entitlement under the
G.I. Bill, I registered at Harvard for individual research under
Professor Serge Elisseeff who had advised me, back in 1938, to
return to the United States for graduate training. I think he was
a bit disgusted that I had not come to study at Harvard in 1938,
rather than return to Stanford. As I have already said, I too came
to regret that I had elected to return to Stanford, although only
Stanford had Lynn White. So I finally ended up studying under
Professor Elisseeff. It was fun to spend an hour or two with him
every week.

For questions about language or questions--

Usually about specialized economic terms that I ran across in
sixteenth-century Japanese materials.

I spent a delightful six months at Harvard. I met with
Professor Elisseeff once a week, and spent the rest of the time in
the library.

Very independent, it sounds like.
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Yes, quite independent. The main thing was that I was not a
candidate for the Ph.D. at Harvard, so I had no required courses to
take.

Sort of a research fellowship?

Yes, I was a research student working on my dissertation and using
the library, where I found excellent sources.

Then the three of us returned to Stanford during the summer of
1946. I went in about June with the idea of finishing my
dissertation during the summer. None of my students, I think, have
done their research and written up a dissertation in such a short
time as that, but I did.

Does that mean it was a shorter dissertation or you were more
motivated?

Well, it was short, but it wasn't that bad. I had done quite a lot
of work. Anyway, it got me the Ph.D. degree, and it was later
published as volume I of the monograph series of the Association of
Asian Studies.

And this was on coins?
This was on money economy in medieval Japan. [Money Economy in

Medieval Japan: A Study in the Use of Coins (Monograph No. 1 of the
Far Eastern Association, 1951).]
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IV THE HISTORY DEPARTMENT AT BERKELEY, 1946-1950s, AND BROWN'S
CHAIRMANSHIP, 1957-1961

Woodbridge Bingham

But while I was at Harvard, I received a letter from Berkeley, from
my friend Woodbridge Bingham, who I had known for some years. I
think I told you that I met him in Peking.

That I can't remember. Did you tell me?

Maybe I didn't. My contacts with Woodbridge and Ursula Bingham are
long. They started in Peking. Mary and I went on a trip to Peking
shortly after we were married. That was back in about 1934. We
spent a month or so there during my spring vacation. Woodbridge
Bingham called me on the telephone one day. He had read in the
newspaper about our arrival and about our staying in a particular
missionary home.

Why would that have been in the newspaper?

There was an English newspaper in Peking, and every day it would
report on foreign visitors to Peking.

I see. A small community that--

Yes. That is, the American community. This missionary home had
been converted into a kind of inn, and this missionary woman was
taking in guests. It was a well-known place to stay. She
automatically turned over the names of her guests to this English
newspaper in Peking, which Woodbridge Bingham took and saw that I
was a visitor from Japan. He was planning on going to Japan on his
way home the following summer, and so he wanted to talk to me. He
invited us to have tea at his home.

It turned out that he was living in a beautiful Chinese
mansion. We heard it was part of the home of the previous Enpress



Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

87

Dowager. I will never forget our visit there because it was the
first time I had ever been in such a grand Chinese mansion. We
arrived at the front entrance in a jinrikisha, told the guard who
we were, and were escorted through one courtyard after another
before arriving at the room where we were to have tea. It seemed
like we walked a long distance before meeting the Binghams.

Why were the Binghams in such an exalted setting?

He was there doing his research on his Ph.D. dissertation. He, and
especially his wife, had money. Her family is connected with some
big and famous furniture company, the name of which I cannot
remember. She is still alive. She and her family have plenty of
money. So even though they were graduate students, they could
afford a comfortable place in which to live.

While I was there--this gets into, I am afraid, all kinds of
stories--I met a future ambassador of China to the United States,
Hu Shih, at a meeting that Bingham invited me to attend. I met
quite a number of visiting scholars while I was there because of
Woodbridge Bingham's contacts. This Hu Shih was one. Knight
Biggerstaff, later a professor of Chinese studies at Cornell, was
another. Knight and I discovered that we were distant relatives.
We even discovered that the same relative had recommended that we
look up the other, apparently not realizing that I was in Japan and
he in China.

But you still met each other.

But we still met each other in Peking.

Wow, what coincidences.

Yes, that was fun.

So, you had had this long-term connection with Bingham.

Yes. Then he came to Japan, where I saw him. Later on we were in
the navy together in Pearl Harbor. We were in the same
intelligence office but in different branches, but saw each other
off and on. I remember having lunch with him on Waikiki Beach one
day at the Halekalani Hotel, which is a very famous, old hotel
where they still have hula dances and Hawaiian music every evening.
A delightful place. As we were having lunch together under a great
banyan tree, Woodbridge said the last time he had been sitting
under that tree, he was studying Latin. He explained that his
grandfather was a missionary to Hawaii--coincidentally, James
Michener's book on Hawaii is more or less centered on the Bingham
family. So he had gone to Hawaii as a child and studied Latin
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under that tree where we were having lunch together during the war.
The Bingham connections were very interesting.

Lage: Did Bingham get his interest in Asia through this missionary
connection?

Brown: Yes, it seems that Bingham missionaries were also in China. In
fact at a later dinner party at the Bingham mansion, we met a
relative who was then a medical missionary in or near Peking. But
there were other roots to his interest. His father, Senator Hiram
Bingham of Connecticut, took Woodbridge with him on a trip around
the world when Woodbridge was still in high school or college, and
they seem to have spent considerable time in China. Like many
other members of the Bingham family, Woodbridge graduated from
Yale. Then he went to Harvard where he received his M.A. degree in
Asian studies but transferred to Berkeley for work toward the Ph.D.
He was working on his dissertation for that degree when I met him
in Peking.

Lage: And then he received a teaching appointment at Berkeley.

Brown: Yes, I think he was already teaching at Berkeley when the war
began. Then he joined the navy and went to Boulder, Colorado,
where he studied Japanese intensively for one year, after which he
was promoted to the rank of lieutenant j.g. and received orders to
proceed to Pearl Harbor for work in the Joint Intelligence Center
of the Pacific Ocean Area.

Lage: So that was the Berkeley connection?
Brown: Yes, I think that Mary and I may have visited him and his wife
Ursula on our way from Hawail to Washington in September of 1945,

after I had requested and obtained a transfer to the Washington
office of radio intelligence.

Brown's Recruitment to UC Berkeley, 1946

Brown: Anyway, I got a letter from Woodbridge Bingham asking if I would be
interested in a job at Berkeley. I wrote "Yes" immediately. So I
had this offer before I left Harvard.

Lage: You wrote back, "Yes." Why was it so easy to make the decision?
You hadn't wanted to go to Berkeley for school.

Brown: Well, even though Berkeley didn't have a good Japanese library, it
was still a distinguished university and I knew that. Later on,
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the chairman of the history department at Stanford, Professor
Robinson was his name, expressed some irritation with me because I
accepted the job at Berkeley without first talking to him. I think
he was saying that they intended to offer me a job at Stanford.

But I don’t regret having made the decision. If I had had a
choice, I still would have gone to Berkeley.

It wasn't the library that was attracting you, though. They didn't
have much of a library at that time.

No, but the library got better.

Yes, we'll be talking about that. So you took that job rather
quickly. Was there any interview process or--

There was a process, as there always is with appointments, but I
remember that first letter and my response to it. There were other
letters as the offer was formalized. Probably I was not formally
appointed until some time during the summer. I have forgotten the
details. I spent a mad summer at Stanford finishing my
dissertation and submitting it in time to get the degree, before
starting to teach at Berkeley in September.

So, even though it says "lecturer" here in the 1946 Berkeley
catalogue--

Well, it was understood that that appointment would change
automatically to assistant professor if and when I received the
Ph.D. degree. And I did receive the degree before I started
teaching.

But not before they printed this, most likely?

No, not then.

UC Berkeley's East Asian Languages Department

Did you have any discussions about if the University planned to put
more emphasis on Asian studies, or whether the library might be
improved?

I did know something about the history of Asian studies at
Berkeley. There had been distinguished people here at the
beginning of the twentieth century. The East Asian Language
department was already distinguished. Professor Peter Boodberg, a
very distinguished scholar in Chinese rftudies, was already here.
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Where?

In the East Asian languages department.

Peter Boodberg. And they had Ferdinand Lessing.

He was also here, and I soon got acquainted with both of them.
And Florence Farquhar, associate professor of Japanese.

Yes, I remember her, but I knew Lessing and Boodberg better.
Then they had a lecturer in Siamese.

Oh, yes. Mary Haas. She was very distinguished. I had many
contacts with her. She was a delightful woman.

And Susumu Nakamura, lecturer in Japanese.

Yes, I had many associations with him down through the years. He
was a great teacher of Japanese. But, since he had not written
much and wasn't that much interested in research and writing, he
never really got a regular appointment. As I recall, he was always
a lecturer.

He has an M.A. in this listing.

Yes. But, as you know, a Ph.D. is what matters at the university
level.

Mary Haas was a lecturer here.

She was a very distinguished scholar.
Did she go on to be a professor?

She was a distinguished professor.

And Florence Farquhar had an M.A. at this point, but she was
associate professor.

I don't remember that much about her.
Maybe she didn't stay. So, the language department--
The East Asian language department was quite distinguished. They

had Professor Kuno who had a divided appointment between East Asian
Languages and History. Then there was a professor of political
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science, Professor Yanaga, who later went to Yale. Sc they had
done a lot in the Asian field. I was delighted to go.

Key Players in the History Department in the Late 1940s

Wonderful. Well, we have got you to Berkeley. Are you ready to
describe the history department in these early years, what it was
like, who were the key players?

Some of these people that I still know and am still close to were
here, especilally Ken Stampp. He was already here when I got here,
as I recall.

We are looking at the catalogue of courses from 1946, and it tells
who was here.

Ken Stampp was already here. Probably over the years, I have had
more close associations with him than anyone else, although his
field is in American history, quite far from mine. He is a bit
younger than I am, but he was appointed earlier. He was, I think
for health reasons, not in the military service. So he was able to
go up the academic ladder a little farther during the war, whereas
I hadn't yet started.

Why the close association? Was this as a friend?

Well, socially, and politically--as far as affairs were concerned
in the history department. Professor Ernst Kantorowicz, Professor
Paul Schaeffer, and I shared the same study on the fourth floor of
the library for two or three years.

So, offices were shared? Are they still?

Not now. I think every professor has his own office. But then the
space situation was worse. It was a very nice office with a view
of the Golden Gate Bridge. It was then located near the
departmental office of the East Asian Language department.

What building did you say it was in?

In the library, fourth floor of the Main Library. The southwest
corner was where the East Asian Language department office was, and
on the other side of the elevator was the study that I shared with
Kantorowicz and Schaeffer.
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Establishing the East Asian Library, 1947

A room nearby became the office of the East Asian Library, when it
was established. That resulted from the recommendations of a
committee made up of Boodberg, Brown, and Bingham. I haven't told
you about that story?

No.

Somehow or other, I have been talking so much about myself these
days that I forget who I have told what.

Have you been talking to other people also?
Yes, right.
That's dangerous.

[laughter] That committee was responsible, I think, for getting
the East Asian Library started.

How early in your career at Berkeley did that start?

Quite early. I came in '46, and it must have been '47 or '48. 1
have forgotten the exact year.

What was their background? Why did the three of you come together
like that?

I think there was a general feeling that we should have a separate
library. That is, those of us working in the area and using the
library felt that it could not really get much better unless we had
books centered in one place. Cataloging and ordering, all these
functions were somewhat special for the East Asian field. All
three of us were urging that a separate library be established, and
so we were made into a committee. I think we were appointed by
President Sproul.

Did the fact that you had your office close to the East Asian
Languages department have anything to do with it?

No, my being in a study with Kantorowicz and Schaeffer was because
that room had been assigned to the history department, which then
assigned it to the three of us. Kantorowicz and Schaeffer had been
in it several years before I was permitted to occupy a desk there.
Other rooms on that floor were also assigned to the history
department, including ones for professors who were departmental
chairmen. HNow that I think of it, all history professors seem to
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have had their studies on the fourth floor of the main library in
those years.

But still, it seems like it would make it easier that you happened
to be there.

Yes, I was close to the office of the East Asian language
department, but that was because I was a history department
professor, not because of my interest in the Japanese part of East
Asia.

Dr. Elizabeth Huff was the first librarian of the East Asian
Library.

Was she already within the system?

No, she received her Ph.D. at Harvard and, as I recall, was
appointed at Berkeley soon after receiving her degree. 1 remember
being a member of the selection committee for the position, and
reviewing the records of several applicants. She was obviously the
person best qualified for the position, and she did a superb job of
building up what came to be one of the best, if not the best, East
Asian library in the United States. Her office was just across the
hall from the study that I shared with Kantorowicz and Schaeffer,
and for several years that was the only office the East Asian
Library had. Dr. Huff soon acquired more books and got all those
in Asian languages placed in a separate section of the stacks,
which could be entered by a fourth-floor door near her office.

Then in '48 was the summer that I went to Japan because the
SCAP, the Supreme Commander of the Allied Powers, invited me to go
to Japan as a consultant for higher education. Apparently,
President Sproul heard about this and asked me to come in to see
him. 1In his great voice, he said, "Brown, how much money can you
spend for books while you are in Japan?" My response was that 1
would have to talk with Dr. Huff and her staff. I went back to say
that I could spend something like six thousand dollars. And to my
amazement, and to everybody else's amazement, he said, "I will give
you ten."

It sounded almost like he was initiating this.

Yes, he was. You cannot overlook the importance of his role in the
history of the East Asian Library.

Do you have any sense of where Sproul was coming from? Did he have
some particular interest in East Asian studies, or did someone else
have his ear?
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I think he felt that the University of California should be a
leader in this important new field, and that we ought to have a
good library.

You don’t know any behind-the-scenes lobbying?

No. Somebody may have gotten to him. Professor Boodberg, for
example, may have put the bug in his ear, I don't know.

But anyway, when I was in Japan during that summer, I was
pretty busy with my consulting job. I had a desiderata list that
the library had prepared for me, which I handed to wholesale
dealers. Since I was connected with the occupation, I was entitled
to ship these books home free. Hundreds of volumes were sent back,
but I didn’'t spend even half of the money that President Sproul
gave me.

Professor Denzel Carr was in the East Asian Language
department at the time. He was a distinguished linguist who knew
many Asian languages--as I recall, he taught courses in Chinese,
Japanese, Mongolian, and Indonesian. It was decided that he and
Betty McKinnon, a member of the East Asian Library staff, should go
on a book-buying trip to Japan, using the money that I was unable
to spend during the previous summer. Betty had been born in Japan
and had much of her schooling there. She was therefore good in
Japanese (her mother was Japanese and her father an American
missionary to Japan) and was appointed by Dr. Huff as a specialist
in the acquisition and cataloging of Japanese books. She and
Professor Carr purchased many more good books that year, in part
because the price of books was then quite low in Japan. That was
an important year in the history of the East Asian Library.
Following that trip, Betty McKinnon became Mrs. Carr.

Was there a focus to the purchases, historical or literary?

No, we worked from a desiderata list that had been created by
members of the East Asian Library staff. That list included major
source collections, leading academic journals, and major studies in
areas in which UC professors were offering courses on Japan:
literature, history, politics, sociology, anthropology, religion,
and art. (Later on, courses were offered too in Japanese music and
architecture.) And since that time, several great collections
(such as the Mitsui one) have been purchased, and more documentary
collections (such as series of volumes published by Shiryd Hensan
Sho of Tokyo University) as well as important studies in the
several disciplines have been added, making the East Asian Library
one of the country's strongest reference libraries in the several
humanities social science disciplines. It has become especially
strong in books published in Japan Juring the last half of the
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nineteenth century, in war crime materials, in academic journals,
and in documentary collections of different feudal houses and
religious institutiomns.

Original source material, but in a published form.

Yes, the Japanese have published a great number of such
collections, and our library seems to have most of them. Dr.
Donald Coney, who was librarian in those years, helped Dr. Huff
obtain funds for the purchase of special collections that came on
the market, such as the Mitsui collection which is an EAL gem.

After the law school was moved to its present location on
Bancroft, the East Asian Library was moved into the law school's
old building, Durant Hall. That was a great event in EAL history.
After that, the library not only had its own building but enough
space for staff offices, as well as for a well-equipped reference
room. But within a few years, the building could house only a
small portion of the Asian language holdings. Now the Chancellor
is raising something like $24 million for a new EAL library, and
plans are being drawn up.

Are you involved in any of these current things?

No, not now. The main task 1s getting the money. They have
received, I am told, more than half of the $24 million needed.

It is a lot more than you took off to Japan with you that summer.

That's right. EAL is rated very high, if not at the top, among
East Asian collections of the United States, and in terms of both
volume and quality. In my field of religious studies, I feel,
however, that Harvard has a better collection.

##

Having that kind of a library in your field, how does it affect the
development of the history department or the attraction for
graduate students or new faculty?

It makes study and research in the Japanese field very attractive.
It is difficult, if not impossible, to do distinguished research if
you don't have proper library facilities.

Is this something that, when you are recruiting faculty you
mention?

It is something that everybody knows about. We do not have to tell
them. When an offer of an appointment in the Asian field is
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accepted, surely the appointee is aware of the stature of the
university and the quality of the library. It is pretty hard to
dissociate one from the other.

It is kind of a given, but I guess I am asking it now--maybe I am
getting political--but these questions are being raised now because
the library budget is cut back.

Yes. The whole problem of the library now is very complicated
because of computers. We are moving to a position, I think, when
big library holdings will all be on database.

Maybe those documents now would be on database, those basic
documents.

Yes, the basic document collections will eventually, I presume, be
copied on databases that can be put on computers and be accessed by
any student or scholar, like me out here in Walnut Creek. I now
gain access to UC catalogues without leaving my study. Eventually,
I presume we will have access not simply to the catalogues of
libraries throughout the state of California but to those of Japan
as well. Moves are now being made in that direction.

The catalogue. Not the books themselves, but the notice that they
are there.

Yes, not yet the contents of books, just their titles. We still
have to check out the books.

But maybe that is changing also.

Yes, just a few days ago I had a long conversation with Shigeru
Handa of the old Tenjin Shrine in Nagoya, a man who had just
completed a CD-ROM database on Japanese culture. He is working
with Professor Lewis Lancaster of the East Asian Languages
department in expanding the database to include such ancient
Japanese classics as the Kojiki and the Nihon shoki written early
in the eighth century A.D. He says that he has already finished
about 80 percent of the former, sometimes referred to as the bible
of Shinto. When both the Japanese original and the English
translation of that source are put on CD-ROM, a researcher will be
able to find, within seconds, any single reference (in both
languages) to a particular word, name, institution, ritual, phrase,
et cetera, that may appear in that source. And he or she will be
able to do so while sitting before the computer at home, anywhere
in the United States.

Research is being revolutionized, really, by this sort of
thing. And I think the revolution is just getting startad.
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You are right.
That affects the whole library situation.

And the choices of what to build up, what to concentrate on. But
is that document of importance to you--the actual artifact--is that
something that you as a scholar are interested in?

There are people who want to study the original documents, to see
even the texture of the writing. That is a specialized field.
Those people, of course, must see the actual, original document.
But for an historian, and most people using these sources, the main
thing is the contents: what is said and written in a document. You
can get the contents just as well from a copy as you can from
seeing the original. For most research and study purposes, I think
the copy, especially if you have a computer and the copy on
database and can be accessed by computer, may be more useful than
the original.

The ability to search the document.

Higher Education Consulting in Japan, 1948

You mentioned earlier the 1948 consultation in Japan that you did
for the SCAP, you called it. Shall we talk about that?

Okay. A lot of things happened during that summer.
What exactly were you hired to do?

I was invited to go to Tokyo as a consultant in higher education.

I think the reason that I was invited was that a friend of mine
from Stanford, Donald Nugent, initiated the invitation. Donald
Nugent's story is long and complicated, but I became associated
with him even before World War II when I was in Japan and he was a
graduate student at Stanford studying under Professor Ichihashi.

He wanted to come to Japan, as I had done, to teach English. So I
had something to do with finding a job for him in Wakayama. He
taught there for at least three years. We used to go down to visit
him, and he and his wife came up to Kanazawa to visit us.

Then during the war, Nugent became a marine officer and served
in Guadalcanal and various other places. I think he was given a
commission in the marine corps because he had studied some
Japanese, although I'm not sure just how much. After the war,
instead of getting out of the service as I did, he stayed on. He
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became a high official in SCAP (the Supreme Commander of the Allied
Powers, who was General MacArthur)--SCAP was divided up like a
government into various divisions and departments. There was an
education division and Nugent was its head, a big job. He was like
a cabinet member on General MacArthur's staff. The education
division under him was huge.

It was responsible for all the education in Japan? Was that the
idea?

Responsible for it is not quite the right way. They supervised it
and made demands.

Were they looking into the value content in the--

They were into the business of reforming and democratizing Japanese
education at all levels. The entire educational system was
changed. In the place of the old 6-5-3-3 system--six years for
elementary school, five years for middle school, three years for
higher school, and three years for university--the Japanese were
forced to adopt the American-like 6-3-3-4 system. This meant that
the elementary schools were not changed, and that the old middle
school was shortened to three years and made into something like a
junior high school. But the old higher schools became lower
divisions (the freshmen and sophomore years) of a four-year
university. Consequently the old First Higher School in Tokyo
became the lower division of Tokyo University--both located in
different parts of the city. And my Fourth Higher School in
Kanazawa became the lower division of a new Kanazawa university
that was made up of some old and new colleges of that city. These
changes meant that new schools had to be built all over the country
as new high schools. And this was done although many Japanese
complained that this was far too costly and unjustified.

Were they giving more access to higher education, greater numbers
who could go to high school?

Yes, many more students attended all these new high schools and new
universities. Almost all young people could and did go through
high school, and a very large percent of them went on to
university. I have not seen recent statistics but my impression is
that the percentage of high school graduates attending and
graduating from universities is now about as high as in the United
States.

But the "reforms" went well beyond organizational change.
Drastic alterations were made in courses and textbooks,
particularly for schools above the junior high school level.
Courses in ethics, which had been used for making students into
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obedient and loyal servants of the state, were either eliminated or
drastically revised. But much attention was also given to
instruction in Japanese history.

I was invited by SCAP (General MacArthur) to come to Japan in
the summer of 1948 as a consultant in higher education. Although I
received no definite instructions as to what I should do, I came to
feel that I was expected to study and make recommendations for
change, at the university level, that would make these institutions
into more effective instruments for developing an individual's
potential, and for instilling in students a deeper understanding of
the ideals of political democracy, social justice, and human
rights.

My study and thoughts were centered on the kdza (professorial
chair) system which was, and still is, at the core of an
established university organization. The funds for each chair,
approved by the Department of Education, included not only the
salary of the chair holder but the salaries of all associate
professors, researchers, assistants, and clerks employed by him.
The chair holder usually had his own library and his own nest of
offices for professorial and clerical employees. He was therefore
something like an American departmental chairman who occupies his
office until retirement, who exercises almost absolute control over
who is appointed and promoted within the department, and who
decides what the department’s graduate students should study, what
research money they receive and what appointments will be
recommended for them.

Did you come up with a report or make a series of recommendations?

Oh yes. I wrote a report but kept no copy for myself. In addition
to having my say about the kdza system, I recommended--and others
probably made the same recommendation--that a commission of
American scholars be sent to Japan for a summer. Such a commission
was sent a year or two later. A number of distinguished scholars
made more specific recommendations for change, many of which were
probably adopted. But apparently no basic change was made in the
kdza system.

Oh, it still prevails?

Yes, in the old national universities. I am not so sure that it
was right to recommend a change, but T did.

In general, were the people that you were dealing with, working
with, the Americans, sensitive to Japanese culture? Or was this
really an outside group coming in and wanting to make wholesale
changes?
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Brown: These people were very serious students of Japanese education. On
the whole they did a decent job and made good recommendations. But
not many had an in-depth knowledge of the age-old interaction
between education and social change.

We were, after all, representatives of a victorious power.
The Japanese with whom we talked must have thought we were
excessively sure of ourselves, if not downright bossy. Many surely
felt that we were pressing for change that really made very little
sense in the Japanese situation and that our views and
recommendations were shaped by a common assumption that only
American educational methods were democratically correct.

Our position must have seemed quite unreasonable, if not
objectionable. But the odd thing is that most educational reforms
have stuck. Even after SCAP control was removed and Japan became
an independent state in 1952, most of the educational reforms were
preserved. Although organizational changes had been criticized in
early years of the occupation, most of them are still intact,
including the American 6-3-3-4 system.

Lage: You certainly were in a different role. When you first came to
Japan, you were the sort of wet-behind-the-ears, and the Japanese
were showing you the way. Then you came back as a representative
of the victor. Was that something that was difficult for you?

Brown: It was embarrassing in a way. I was still in my thirties at the
time, going to meetings with distinguished scholars in various
fields of education.

Lage: You were probably very much in tune with the practice of showing
the respect that you knew was expected.

Brown: Well, I wasn't that much in. tune, I am afraid.
Lage: But I mean in the thirties you certainly were--

Brown: It was quite different. Here I was, a decade or so later, sitting
in meetings with distinguished Japanese scholars and
administrators, and I got the feeling they were waiting to hear
what I was going to say. It was unpleasant to be in a position in
which they were treating me with such deference. It was because I
was a representative of a victorious power, a relationship that was
strange and unbelievable and a little bit embarrassing. 1 really
didn't quite like it.

Later on, when I went back to Japan, after the country gained
independence and people were more sure of themselves, conversations
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with scholars were quite different. The situation had returned to
normal and relationships were much better.

So this one period was kind of an awkward interim?
Yes, it was awkward, to say the least.
I would think so.

I want to get us back to the [Berkeley] history department, or
do you have something else you want to say?

I would like to talk about an incident that occurred shortly after
my return to Berkeley. That arose when a young man from the
university's public relations office came to interview me about my
trip to Japan. He asked good questions and then wrote up a
statement for release to the press, which I read and approved.

A few days later a short article appeared in the Oakland
Tribune that was apparently based on that release. I do not recall
seeing it, but it must have been a rewrite that was badly
distorted. Anyway, that seems to have been picked up and again
rewritten by a correspondent of a national news service. I think
it was the Associated Press. That reached Japan and appeared on
the front page of every major newspaper in the country.

In order to understand why this was a headline story in Japan
but not in California, one should bear in mind that Japanese
newspapers were then operating under strict regulations not to
print anything the least bit critical of SCAP or the Allied
occupation. But no regulation forbade the printing of stories
appearing in an American press release. So this Associated Press
story about my visit to Japan, after being rewritten and distorted,
included a statement that read something like this: "Professor
Delmer Brown of the University of California says that the
occupation policy in Japan is leading more to the spread of
communism than to the spread of democracy."

Within a few hours that story appeared in newspapers all over
Japan, and I received from Tokyo the longest telegram I have ever
seen. It included a full English version of what had hit the front
page of Japan's leading newspapers, and asked whether I had
actually said such things and that, if not, I demand a retraction.
It was signed by my old friend Colonel Donald Nugent, head of
SCAP's Department of Education.

Where do you think they got that?
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They dreamed it up. I didn’'t say it. Nothing like that was in the
release from the University of California. It was irresponsible
journalism.

Immediately after receiving that long telegram, I went to the
public relations office to ask advice, pointing out that I had been
quoted as making a statement on a subject that had not been
mentioned in the interview. The head of the office readily
understood why General MacArthur, Colonel Nugent, and I were upset,
but he pointed out that although we might well get the Associated
Press to print a correction, that correction probably would appear
only at the bottom of some page in a few newspapers, and not be
read. So he recommended that I do nothing.

While the professor that I talked to at the public relations
office undoubtedly understood the press situation in America,
neither he nor I clearly understood why General MacArthur was so
irate, or why the Japanese press had been so quick to pick up a
critical remark that had not been made. We did not fully
appreciate how uneasy the general was about instituting some truly
radical reforms in Japan: big landowners were being forced to sell
land to the farmers who cultivated it, big business executives were
being forced to negotiate with labor unions, and the central
government was being forced to limit its control over schools, the
police, and the press. Such moves were leading conservatives in
both Japan and the United States to say that MacArthur was being
too liberal and too democratic, if not downright socialistic.

So when the release about my trip to Japan came out, a writer
for the conservative Qakland Tribune apparently thought he saw
something that he wanted to hear, and wrote up a story further
revised by the Associated Press for release to Japanese newspapers
that were only too happy to use it for pleasing their conservative
readers. These readers were undoubtedly influenced by the
complaints of rich and powerful landowners, huge corporation
executives, and high-ranking government bureaucrats who were being
undercut by General MacArthur's reforms.

Moreover, neither the P.R. professor nor I understood that,
under pressure from General MacArthur and his staff, the Japanese
press probably would have given proper attention to a retraction.
So I regret that I did not submit to Associated Press officials a
copy of the UC release, along with the AP version of it, and ask if
they could see any similarity between the two. In particular, 1
should have objected strongly to being quoted, by name and within
quotation marks, on a subject that had not been brought up in the
interview. But I didn't, which I regret.
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This experience destroyed my friendship with Colonel Nugent,
made it quite unlikely that I would be permitted to return to Japan
as long as that country was being occupied by the Allied Powers
(headed by General MacArthur), and increased my skepticism about
the veracity of anything I read in any newspaper.

Even then. Now everybody is skeptical.

Structure of UC Berkeley's History Department

When you were talking about the kdza in Japan, did you have k&dza in
the history department at Cal?

Oh no. [laughter]
Were there any correspondences?

Well, there was a bit of the koza-like authoritarianism in the
history department when I arrived there in 1946. And possibly that
was what made me alert to the way that the kdza system had
complicated, even blocked, the spread of egalitarianism and
democracy in Japanese universities.

Right. That's what I want you to talk about.

Until shortly before my arrival in Berkeley, the chairmanship of
the history department (like other departments in the university)
had been held by one professor until his retirement. In our case
that was Professor Herbert Bolton. During the many years he was
chairman, appointments and promotions were pretty much under his
control. The history department became a kind of Bolton show.
Then, and to some extent until the "Bouwsma revolution of 1958,"
the department was made up of professors who had studied under, or
been appointed and promoted by, Professor Bolton.

He had a very different view of history, American history.

Right! He thought the history of the United States should be
taught and studied within the context of North and South American
history. Consequently, introductory courses for lower division
students included one on the History of the Americas. And other
courses and programs reflected this "American" view of history.

When I arrived, Professor Bolton had retired. Professor
Frederic Paxson was chairman; and he was followed in a few years by
Professor John Hicks. Although both had been appointed diri~g the
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Bolton era, they were not lifetime chairmen and they were not
committed to the "American" approach to U.S. history. So by the
time of my arrival, the practice of holding a departmental
chairmanship for life had been abandoned, and three new professors
of U.S. history had been appointed who did not subscribe to the
"American" approach: Kenneth Stampp (Wisconsin), Henry May
(Harvard), and Carl Bridenbaugh (Harvard). We commonly think of
those pre-1958 years as a time when the department was ingrown and
Boltonian. But this generalization clouds the fact that those
three professors had been appointed before 1958, as were three
other "young Turks" of that year: Professor George Guttridge
(Cambridge), Professor Paul Schaeffer (Pennsylvania), and myself
(Stanford). Moreover, the distinguished Professor Kantorowicz had
been in the department before he left for Princeton over the
loyalty oath. And three assistant professors, who later gained
distinction for writing books outside the realm of "American"
history, had already been invited to Berkeley: Joseph Levenson
(Harvard), Robert Brentano (Oxford), and Gene Brucker (Princeton).
And we should not forget that many of the above appointments were
made while Professor Frederic Paxson (Wisconsin, I think) and
Professor John Hicks (Wisconsin) were departmental chairmen, both
of whom had come to Berkeley during the Bolton years.

Right. And Hicks was brought in by Paxson, I think.
Or earlier. Professor Hicks came before World War II. [1942-1957]

So the department was by no means limited to students of Professor
Bolton or committed to the "American" view of U.S. history.

Departmental Rivalries, Strong Personalities

Some have described a system in the department where certain
figures had their little coterie of--

That is another thing that I ran into when I first arrived here in
1946: a bitter rivalry between Professor Kerner and Professor Palm
that led to a crisis when, as I recall, six students taking the
Ph.D. written examination in European history were all failed:
three working under Palm were flunked by Kerner, and three Kerner
students were flunked by Palm. Each of the two senior professors
held something like a kdza position within the department, and
there was a good deal of rivalry between them.

Between Kerner and Palm?
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Yes. I remember the history department meeting at which this
problem was taken up. Professor Hicks was chairman. The situation
was tense. A vote in favor of passing any of the six would have
been a slap in the face for either Professor Palm or Professor
Kerner; and it did not seem right to approve a flunk of all six
when all were passed by their guiding professors.

What did Palm and Rerner have to say for themselves?

Each insisted that he was justified in flunking the three who had
not studied under him, and that his own students should be passed.

It was I--believe it or not--who proposed that a special
committee should be appointed to review the entire record of all
six students--not just their examinations--and to come back to the
department with a recommendation as to which of the six students
should be failed and which should be passed. Although I was then
only a lowly assistant professor and must have come off as pretty
brash, I was not a follower of either Palm or Kerner; and my field
of teaching and research was on the other side of the globe from
Europe. So I could and did make the proposal from a position of
neutrality. And it was the only proposal made. [laughter] So a
committee was set up, and I was made chairman, although I was only
an assistant professor.

In a completely different field.

That may have been the principal reason for making me chairman, for
my teaching and research were not in the European field. Guttridge
and Schaeffer, as I recall, were also appointed to the committee.
We worked hard on those cases and--

Did you look at papers they had written?
We looked at the entire record of each.
But you didn't do the oral exam over?

Oh, no. We didn't subject the students to another written exam,
but we did read other papers, such as their seminar papers. Then
we came back to the department with a recommendation that certain
individuals be passed and others failed. The department accepted
our recommendations. And it was then, as I recall, that a decision
was made that the training of graduate students should henceforth
not be limited to work under a single professor. That,
incidentally, was common practice under Japan's kdza system. And
it was after the Kerner-Palm incident that the department began
requiring that every graduate student work in more than one field
and under more than one professor of history.
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Do you remember how many of these six students ended up passing?

I think most of them passed, but one or two failed. I can't
remember the details.

#

Had the same thing happened with faculty hiring, that these
professors had a lot of power in that area?

Yes. I have ambivalent feelings about the situation in the
department then. I didn't like its kdza-like authoritarianism but
could not but appreciate the freedom to teach and study Japanese
history in any way I wished. I also liked being given
responsibilities, such as chairing the committee set up to
recommend which of the Kerner-Palm students should be passed, even
though I had not yet received tenure. Shortly after the Kerner-
Palm incident, by the way, my friend and golf partner Walt Bean
said that he had never heard of such a young assistant professor
functioning as an elder statesman. [laughter]

That is quite a compliment.
Yes. I remember it; I must have liked it.

What do you think accounted for your ability to--I guess you had an
ability to bring people together.

It was mostly, you know, studying and making our recommendations on
the basis of objective evidence. I think it was a kind of proper
historical approach. But I did get such jobs quite early. One was
my appointment as chairman of the T.A. room assignment committee.

I do not think that there were any other members of the committee,
so maybe I was simply given that assignment because, as I remember
John saying, Miss Steele of the registrar's office, who was in
charge of assigning rooms for all courses, was getting sick of
hearing history T.A.s complain so much about receiving terrible
rooms for use at the worst times of the day. So Miss Steele was
quite willing to hand to the history department the task of
assigning rooms to our T.A.s. Having received a block of over two
or three hundred rooms, I first worked with some T.A.s in
classifying each room and hour as either desirable, acceptable, or
undesirable. Then the T.A.s readily agreed to take an equitable
share of each. The last I heard, T.A. classroom assignments were
still being handled in this way, but by the T.A.s themselves
without any professorial supervision or control.

This is the quality of the room?
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Yes, of the assignment, not only of the room, but especially the
time.

Oh, yes, that's right. Time is--

Nobody wanted to teach at eight in the morning or five in the
afternoon. Various things made a room assignment undesirable:
either it was too large, too small, too dingy, or too far away; or
the hour was too early, during the noon hour, or late in the
afternoon. We rated each room and hour, and then we saw to it that
every T.A. got an equal share of good and bad assignments.

Good. That sounds very complicated.

How did you get into the teaching business at this point? Did
you have to teach these large lectures too?

Oh no. I was hired to teach Japanese history. I taught two
lecture courses and a seminar in Japanese history.

And there wasn't a big lecture course?

No. In those early years there was not that much interest in
Japan. Many students felt that the Japanese problem had been
solved: we had defeated them in war and there was no need to think
about them any more. [laughter] Enrollment in my classes varied,
but usually it was between fifty and one hundred, sometimes more.
I also taught a graduate seminar. The normal teaching load then
was two undergraduate lecture courses and a graduate seminar per
semester. Later, there was a shift to one undergraduate lecture
course and one graduate course.

Was that decision made at a certain point, to reduce the teaching
load?

That was later on.

Okay. We will put that down for later, because we are trying to
get a picture of what it was like then.

Appointments to the Department

Even in those early years, much of our attention was given to new
appointments and, to my surprise and delight, even assistant

professors became involved in the selection process, especially if
the new appointment was to be in the assistant professor's general
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field of teaching and research. For example, I was on the
selection committee for a new appointment in modern Chinese
history. Maybe I was chairman, for I remember having the
responsibility of interviewing John Fairbanks of Harvard about his
two most promising students: Benjamin Schwartz who had already done
some excellent work in Chinese communist thought; and Joseph
Levenson who was making a name for himself in nineteenth century
intellectual history.

Even as an assistant--

Even as an assistant professor. I remember comparing the two
candidates in discussions with fellow members of the selection
committee. It was assumed that we could have either of the two.
We chose Levenson. Schwartz later received an appointment at
Harvard.

Was he too at Harvard?

They both had received, or were receiving, their Ph.D.s from
Harvard. We looked at other candidates but these were the two most
promising scholars. Joe soon produced outstanding publications
and, during my first term as departmental chairman, he received
accelerated merit increases that made him so delighted to be at
Berkeley that he turned down offers from other universities before
mentioning them to me. That is, he did not use these offers to
pressure us for another accelerated merit increase. As you know,
he and his son were thrown from a boat on the Russian River and Joe
was drowned trying to save his son. That was a great blow and loss
to us all.

What about Bingham?

Bingham was already here.

He was not that much older than you, it seems.
He was a few years older.

Was there anybody in the Asian studies area that exercised the kind
of power that, let's say, Kerner and Palm did in European history?

Yes, Professor Kerner seemed to feel that he was chief of the Asian
area as well. He had worked with Professor Kuno in producing a
translation of a medieval source on Japanese-Chinese relations.
That and his studies of Russia's eastern movement gave him a
special interest in Asia and made him feel that he should have a
say about such matters as new appointments in that area.
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Was he fluent in Japanese?

Kerner? No, he didn't teach anything about Japan. European
history was his field.

He just sort of reached over and took in the others?

Yes. I recall someone saying that Professor Kerner, strongly
anticommunist, would undoubtedly oppose an appointment for Schwartz
who was specializing in Chinese communist thought. But since we
considered Levenson a deeper and more creative scholar, we selected
him and faced no opposition from Kerner. Although Schwartz too
became distinguished for his books in modern Chinese thought,
members of the selection committee continued to be certain that we
had made the right choice.

Did Kerner have kind of a political take on teaching Russian, is
this what you are saying?

He was simply anticommunist. I think his position was so strong
and well known that it was assumed any scholar who had a special
interest in communist thought would be, to him, objectionable.

That is interesting.

His influence was very strong in the Far Eastern field. He was
irritated with me whenever I didn't do things the way he wanted
them done.

As a person, was he difficult to deal with?

Well, he was difficult in the sense that most any authoritarian
figure is difficult. His way was always right and you really
couldn't discuss anything with him. I got along with him, but I
must have resented the authority he was trying to exert.

Did either of these men, Kerner and Palm, aspire to be chairman of
the department?

I don't know, they probably did. But in those years the
appointment of departmental chairmen was in the hands of President
Sproul, and he probably was not too keen on either Palm or Kerner
because of the bitter rivalry between them.

The president appointed the chair?
Yes, the president undoubtedly consulted a few members of the

department when appointing a new chairman, but my impression was
that he listened mainly to Professor John Hicks who carried a lot
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of weight on campus. Hicks was not only named departmental
chairman shortly after my arrival but was graduate dean. As far as
I know, the practice of asking each member of the department to
indicate his or her preferences, when selecting a new chairman, had
not yet been established. That came later.

Lage: Are there other old-timers in the department that you want to talk
about? Not everybody is going to remember these, you know.

Brown: I remember them all.

Lage: What about Raymond Sontag?

Brown: [laughs) He was another powerful figure in the department at the
time of my arrival in 1946. As a distinguished teacher and scholar

in German diplomatic history, he was a man of considerable
influence. In a sense he had his own koza.

The Revolution of the "Young Turks"

Lage: Now, how about the "young Turks"?

Brown: Last spring Professor Gene Brucker, who was this year's Faculty
Lecturer, delivered his lecture on the history of the history
department. His speech was focused on the department's remarkable
growth after the so-called "revolution" of the 1950s. At a later
meeting of history professors, talks and comments were made about
Gene's presentation. Most of what was said that afternoon seemed
rooted in an assumption that a small group of "young Turks" had
stirred up the "revolution," and that these same professors were
largely responsible for the subsequent spate of good appointments.

Lage: We are still in the early fifties?

Brown: 1In 1956, to be exact. That was when six relatively young members
of the department (George Guttridge, Paul Schaeffer, Carl
Bridenbaugh, Kenneth Stampp, Henry May, and Delmer Brown)
recommended the appointment of Professor William Bouwsma, whereas
the majority of the department did not.

Lage: Was this appointment in European history?

Brown: Yes. But only two of the young Turks (George and Paul) taught
courses in European history. The other four were far afield: three
(Carl, Ken, and Henry) were in American history, and yours truly in
Japanese history. So in addition to being relatively young--I was
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forty-six at the time and Ken and Henry were younger--the young
Turks were not specialists in European history.

And yet the recommendation of the six young Turks was accepted and
the department's majority recommendation was rejected. Did that
surprise you?

It certainly did. We were not surprised that a faculty
recommendation led to a faculty appointment but that a departmental
recommendation (backed by an overwhelming majority that included
our most senior scholars) was rejected and another recommendation
(backed only by six junior professors) was approved.

All of us were familiar with, and proud of, the Berkeley
tradition established back in 1923 when President Wheeler agreed
that no faculty appointment would be made until he had received and
considered a recommendation from the Academic Senate's Budget
Committee.

In subsequent years the Budget Committee came to make its
recommendations on the basis of a two-tiered review process. First
came a departmental review-recommendation of three distinct stages:
(1) a departmental selection committee's recommendation in terms of
the candidate's capabilities in teaching, research, and university-
public service; (2) a review of the selection committee's
recommendation by the tenured members of the department; and (3) a
departmental recommendation submitted by the chairman. Second came
a Budget Committee review-recommendation of two stages: (l) a
review by a special committee (made up of one person from the
department and two from related fields outside the department); and
(2) a final recommendation of the Budget Committee, which is then
submitted to the chancellor for a decision. In my three years on
the Budget Committee, no single Budget Committee recommendation of
a faculty appointment was ever rejected, although in a few cases
the chancellor made the recommended appointments or promotions at a
higher salary level.

And that was the situation in 19567

Yes, except that the practice of appointing departmental chairmen
for a period of no longer than five years, initiated after World
War II, reduced the power of the chairman to dominate the selection
and review process within his department. Therefore by 1956 a
chairman of the history department could not exert the kind of
influence over departmental recommendations that had been exerted
in earlier years by Professor Bolton.
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Now how do you explain how the recommendations of a minority of six
could prevail over a departmental recommendation supported by a
majority of its professors, including the most senior ones?

Our separate letters recommending the appointment of Professor
William Bouwsma were apparently sent to the Budget Committee by
Dean [Lincoln]) Constance. I say "apparently” because the details
of what the Budget Committee does and recommends are highly
confidential. I was on that committee between 1964 and 1967 and 1
discovered then that what the Budget Committee does is not known by
anyone but the chancellor and the committee staff. We had a
separate cluster of offices to which only committee members and the
staff had keys; the names of professors selected by the committee
to serve on special review committees were not disclosed; and
conclusions reached either by the Budget Committee or its special
review committee were seen only by the chancellor. So I can only
deduce that the young-Turk letters were handed over to the Budget
Committee and that these were seen and studied before a
recommendation was sent to the chancellor for his decision.
Although the names of persons serving on the Budget Committee at
the time were surely reported to the Academic Senate, we can only
assume that their recommendations became the basis of the
chancellor’s official rejection of the history department's
majority recommendation. No one has definitely said so. After
serving on the Budget Committee (about a decade later), I concluded
that the dean and the chancellor had probably been able to reject
the department's recommendation only because that was the position
taken by the Budget Committee.

How do you characterize young Turk influence on the history
department at the time of 1956 "revolution” and in later years?

As I think back over the comments that have been made by my
colleagues on this subject, I feel that I have heard at least three
rather different views of what the young Turks were up to. One is
that they were led by Harvard men trying to "strengthen” the
department by adding as many Harvard men as possible to the staff.
The second is that they were a small group of young professors from
other universities who were rebelling against the control of Bolton
students and Bolton appointees. And the third one is that they
were young professors making a serious attempt to add interesting
and creative historians to the department.

Each of these views is rooted in a measure of truth about who
the young Turks were and what they were doing. But differences
depended, it seems to me, on who is talking. The Harvard view, for
example, is probably aired most by members of the defeated
majority; the Bolton view on the other hand is most commonly
expressed by colleagues who came to the department after the
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"revolution” or who were recommended by one or more young Turks;
and I think the third "hard-look" view would be preferred by the
young Turks themselves.

Was there any substance to the Harvard view?

Yes, quite a bit. Although only Carl and Henry received their
Ph.D. degrees from Harvard, the rest of us certainly held Harvard,
and Harvard historians, in high esteem. As was noted in an earlier
interview, I was at Harvard working on my Ph.D. dissertation
(submitted at Stanford) when I was first approached for an
appointment at Berkeley, and the man who first approached me was
Woodbridge Bingham, also from Harvard. You will remember too that,
as a member of the search committee for an appointment in modern
Chinese history, I talked first with John Fairbanks (a Harvard
professor) about two of his most promising students: Joseph
Levenson and Benjamin Schwartz. Also I have often expressed the
view that any graduate student is sure to gain prestige and self-
confidence from the possession of a Ph.D. from Harvard, even if and
when Harvard has no specialist in that student’s chosen area of
research. But most young Turks were not Harvard men, and most of
our new appointments were offered to men and women who had received
their training elsewhere.

And was there any substance to the Bolton view?

Yes. Although Professor Bolton's term as chairman had ended
several years before 1956, as I have already noted, a Bolton
student (James King) was departmental chairman when the blow-up
came. And most of our tenured professors had joined the department
in Bolton years, before and during the World War II. Since most
Bolton students with professorships in the history department had
not achieved much distinction, and seemed prone to favor mediocre
appointments, it was logical to deduce that the young Turks were
rebelling against the Bolton gang.

But that view, in my opinion, is only the negative side of who
we were and what we were trying to do: it emphasizes what we were
against rather than what we were for. I don’t think any of us
disliked Jim. He was a most personable man and administered
departmental affairs in a gentle and even-handed way. He had
suffered from the death, by cancer, of his young and lovely wife;
and we had no desire to increase his misery by having him ousted
from the chairmanship. We were not driven to oppose the majority
recommendation by feelings of antipathy toward anyone, including
Professor Bolton himself who, after all, had been elected president
of the American Historical Association. Instead, I submit that we
were motivated, first and foremost, by a desire to make the history
department one of the world's most distinguished history departments.
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If you were not rebelling against anyone, how would you
characterize what was done?

The action which led to the so-called "rebellion" of the young
Turks was the writing of our six letters, and the reading, talking,
and thinking that made the letters convincing. We did not read
what each other had written, but the discussions we had together
beforehand, plus the memory of what I personally wrote, makes me
quite sure that every sentence was focused on the position that
Bill Bouwsma--not the person recommended by the majority--should be
appointed. I did not write, and I do not think anyone else wrote,
anything about the wrong-headedness or evil intentions of our
opponents.

After the "rebellion" was over, and George was appointed
chairman and I his vice chairman, two members of majority did give
us a bit of trouble, but neither of the two was thought of as a
hated leader of the opposition. One was Engel Sluiter, who was
really teed off by what had happened to his good friend Jim King,
and who seems to have felt that we six self-serving Harvard types
had done the damage. Even though I did what I could when I was
chairman to obtain additional research grants for Engel (grants
that seem never to have led to a single publication), our old
poker-playing friendship was never re-established. But Engel's
rather sullen behavior posed no serious problems, for his
opposition never took the form of a carefully considered plan or
recommendation.

Ray Sontag's opposition, however, was different. Because he
was such a respected member of the faculty, and such a smooth and
convincing talker, we could not but assume that any departmental
proposal we wanted might well be scuttled by a review committee on
which Ray sat. So his assumed opposition forced us to be
particularly careful in preparing cases for faculty promotions and
appointments.

But later on, when I was chairman, and moved to recommend that
George Guttridge be awarded onme of the endowed chairs, I felt I had
to do more than prepare a good case, because Ray's position on
George'’s scholarship was well known. So I took the unusual, and
probably improper, step of asking the dean to do what he could to
prevent the Budget Committee from appointing Ray to its review
committee. The dean made no promises but since our recommendation
was approved, I could not but conclude that Ray had not been made a
member of the review committee. I also had to be careful about
including Ray on departmental search committees, making quite sure
that if he was appointed, some other equally hard-working and
outspoken person (like Carl Bridembaugh) was also included. We
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began to say and think that every committee should have at least
one "watch dog" member. i

Although I could not but think of Ray as the person most
likely to keep us from doing what we felt should be done, I am
inclined to think that his opposition was constructive: he forced
us to make sure that we did our homework.

Because Ray, more than anyone else, stood out as the opponent
of our "rebellion", the most pleasing and gratifying compliment I
ever received came from him. This occurred at an informal
retirement party held at the Durant Hotel. Toward the end of the
party, Ray came to where I was standing and said, "Delmer, our
department is now what a department should be."” I could hardly
believe what I was hearing. And since nobody else seems to have
heard him say that, I feel impelled to slip his comment into my
oral history.

Therefore I insist that the most significant action taken by
the young Turks was not opposition to Boltonian enemies but
department-building, which required hard work (reading, discussing,
and writing), not Bolton-bashing.

Did this hard-work attention to department-building last?

Although we may not have been aware that we were working any harder
than anybody else, and although others probably did not or would
not characterize our activity in any such a way, I know that after
that (and hopefully right down to the present day) search committee
reports came to be based on discriminating and comparative
evaluations grounded in extensive reading and research, that tenure
meetings became long affairs at which the teaching and research
records of leading candidates were rigorously examined and debated,
and that departmental recommendations were well-documented
presentations that must have caused Dean Constance to say, some
years later, that everything a historian writes is bound to be
long.

I dare to say that hard work on appointments and promotions
lasted because of what I saw and read during my two terms as
departmental chairman (from 1967 to 1961 and again from 1971 to
1975). And what I saw and read as a member of the Budget Committee
(1964 to 1967) suggests that the history department's tradition of
hard work on appointments and promotions was spreading. Shortly
after I became a member of the Budget Committee, I was told (and I
could readily see) that history department recommendations were
marked not only by their length but by the results of
discriminating and comparative study. By the end of my three years
on the Budget Committee, it was clear that tle recommen lations of
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other departments were getting much better, suggesting that the
hard-work tradition was gaining strength in other parts of the
university.

Carl Bridenbaugh's Role, and his Departure from Berkeley

Did any one of the six young Turks have more to do with the
establishment of this tradition than anyone else?

I don't know what others would say (three of the six are now dead)
but my guess is that all would agree that Carl Bridenbaugh did more
hard work than anyone else. In most every case, even outside the
sphere of American colonial history, he usually made more telephone
calls, wrote more letters, and did more reading than anyone else.
Of course we always heard about the work he had done--probably what
was done by more reticent individuals (such as Paul and George) was
not properly appreciated. But before any selection or tenure
committee meeting, every individual was apt to spend many hours on
preparation if he or she knew that Carl would be present. He or
she apparently assumed that Carl would already have read most
everything the major candidates had written, and had reached a
decision on whether any one had achieved true distinction. So I do
not object to Carl's being referred to as the "chief Turk",
although none of us would admit that we ever did or said anything
because that was what Carl wanted.

In connection with his hard work on personnel matters, I feel
impelled to state that Carl was also a stickler for high academic
standards. He was particularly outspoken about the difference
between a popular teacher and a good teacher, as well as between an
interesting book and one that leads us to think more clearly and
deeply about change in the life of human beings at a critical time
in history. 1In attempting to identify and measure the scholarly
achievement of a candidate considered for appointment or promotion,
Professor Emilio Segre (a Nobel Prize winner in chemistry who
served on the Budget Committee with me) frequently raised this
sharp question: "What does he make?" 1In a similar situation, Carl
would characteristically ask: "What has he done?" Both were
seeking evidence of originality and creativity.

I can't resist throwing in a story or two about Carl’'s
insistence on, and preoccupation with, high standards. One summer
we gave a dinner party for historians from other universities who
had been invited to teach in Berkeley during the current summer
session. Carl was not teaching then but we invited him and his
wife to at:-end because we were sure our visitors would like to meet
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him. Not long after everyone had arrived, and before we sat down-
to dinner, Carl was led by some comment or other to say, quite
loudly and clearly, that "no self-respecting scholar would ever
spend his time teaching in a summer session."

He also said, quite often, that he (and by implication any
other self-respecting scholar) would never serve as departmental
chairman. But after he left Berkeley to take a position at Brown
University, he did accept the chairmanship of their history
department. Rumor has it that he resigned, and his resignation was
accepted, on the second or third day of the appointment. Knowing
of his judgmental statements and demands about academic standards,
none of us at Berkeley was really surprised.

Why did Professor Bridenbaugh leave Berkeley?

This happened late in my first term as chairman, and it should not
have happened.

Why do you say that?

Because he was quite proud of his part in department-building and
surely was not interested in leaving Berkeley for a university
that, although quite strong, was not at the top of the academic
ladder.

Then why did he leave?

At lunch one day, he told me that he was going to leave the
university if the department did not apologize to him for some
terrible things that colleagues had said about him. He did not
tell me precisely what had been said, or who had said it. But he
was quite explicit about his desire to leave the university if no
apology was made. He knew that a tenure committee meeting was
coming up, said he would not attend, and indicated that he would be
waiting for an apology. I agreed to put the matter before the
tenure committee but must surely have expressed some doubts about
getting the committee to apologize for something about which most
members (including the chairman) knew little or nothing. Indeed 1
must have felt that he was being a bit paranoid and petty.

What happened?

I have a vivid memory of what transpired at that tenure committee
meeting and recall that Henry and Ken (who along with Carl were our
three American-history Turks) quickly and explicitly said they had
no intention of agreeing to a departmental apology.
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Even when I said that Carl was sure to become receptive to an
offer from another university, their positions were not softened.
So no apology was made. I came away from the meeting quite
frustrated, feeling that we would soon lose our "chief Turk"
because, as I saw it, all three American-history colleagues were
being somewhat petty and obstinate.

It was therefore not much of a surprise when, a few months
later, Carl told me that he had accepted an offer from Brown
University.

Lage: You suggest that his departure should not have happened. Do you
think you should have handled this matter differently?

Brown: 1 have given a lot of thought to this question, especially since
Carl told me in no uncertain terms (at a farewell party given by
Ren's first wife Kay) that when the chips were down I failed him.
I have interpreted this to mean that he had not really wanted to
leave Berkeley and had been forced to accept an invitation from
Brown University only because I had not acted like a really good
friend and effective chairman.

I have long had the uncomfortable feeling that he was right.
It is possible that I was too busy with other pressing matters to
find out what had gone wrong in relationships between these three
American historians (three of the six Young Turks) or to discover
ways (other than asking for a departmental apology) of smoothing
rustled feathers. But it may be that Ken, Henry, and I were
getting a little sick of Carl's harping on the lack of quality in
the work of almost every historian mentioned, making us more and
more likely to do likewise, even about one of Carl's favored
students. I still remember that after several hours of
"conversation" with Carl I didn't feel that good about myself. So
although we valued Carl's contributions to the "revolution", and
were sure that our homework on new appointments would continue to
be carried more diligently if he stayed on, we seem not to have
been willing to exert ourselves in keeping him in Berkeley.

Lage: Were persons outside the department important figures in the
department's development?

Brown: Oh yes, especially Dean Lincoln Constance and Chancellor Clark
Kerr. Lincoln was our channel to the chancellor, and we had no way
of knowing how much of what he had to say increased the likelihood
of a recommendation being accepted by the chancellor. And of
course the chancellor made the final decision on all faculty
appointments and promotions, leaving us quite unsure as to whether
his personal support was insignificant or decisive. I do know,
however, that both Lincoln and Clark took personal pride in the
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contributions they made to the rather sudden rise in the history
department's stature.

Probably both had something to do with the fact that no single
recommendation was ever rejected for lack of funds.

And as I said earlier, the power and independence of the
senate Budget Committee has always been important. It is
inconceivable that our minority report would have been accepted by
either the dean or the chancellor if such action had not already
been recommended by the Budget Committee.

Teaching, Research and Public University Service: Criteria for
Appointment and Promotion

When you looked at candidates, how much attention was given to
their personal qualities? Did you consider how a candidate would
fit into the department's culture? Did you look at wives?

We tried to consider everything. So we not only read all of a
candidate’s publications but usually managed to observe him or her
in teaching situations. When thinking of offering a tenure
appointment at the associate professor level, we preferred that the
candidate come on a visiting appointment for at least one semester
or one quarter, giving us the opportunity to get acquainted with
the candidate before extending a formal offer. Rumors and movie
stories to the contrary, we made a serious attempt to disregard
such irrelevant matters as the good looks and wealth of a spouse,
or a candidate's connections with a member of the Board of Regents,
a winning football team, the right political party, or the correct
hobby. Students and taxpayers seem to assume that appointments and
promotions (especially decisions not to grant tenure) are
politically, racially, and/or sexually determined. And the way you
phrase your question, Ann, suggests that you too are not aware that
all selections, reviews, and recommendations must be made in terms
of three basic criteria: teaching, research, and university-public
service.

The Regents and the Academic Senate have periodically
redefined these three criteria. And there has been a continuing
debate over which of the three is, or should be, given the greatest
weight. Persons outside the university seem to place teaching and
public service above research, and to assume that research is
measured quantitatively.
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My several years of involvement in recommending and reviewing
appointments and promotions (within the department, throughout the
campus, and university-wide) lead me to make some generalizations
that may surprise you:

First, university regulations, throughout my more than forty
years on the faculty, consistently stipulated that recommendations
for promotion and appointment assign equal weight to teaching,
research, and public-university service.

Second, although the above three criteria have always been
assigned equal weight, some parts of the university have always,
because of their very nature, assigned more weight to one than to
another. For example the Education School logically assigns more
weight to teaching, physics to research, and public administration
to public service. Moreover, undergraduates tend to see more value
in teaching than in research while graduates tend to see just the
opposite.)

Third, from my experience as departmental chairman and as a
member of the Budget Committee, I have the sense that the
administrative positions a person has held within the university
weighed more heavily before 1956, that research became increasingly
important after 1956, and that teaching has been given more
attention since 1970. These trends suggest that after the faculty
"revolutions", research became more important, and that since the
student movements of the 1960s, greater stress has been placed on
teaching.

Fourth, our ideas about service, research, and teaching have
been constantly changing. The value of service is now measured not
so much by the number of administrative posts held as by the
quality of a person's administrative service; research is now
measured not so much by the number of books and articles written as
by their originality and creativity; and teaching is now measured
not so much by the number of students attracted to a teacher’s
lectures as by the enthusiasm for learning generated in discussions
with that teacher.

Shifting Interests and Perspectives in History

What about new kinds of history? Was this a consideration? Were
there changes of emphasis?

Yes, we were always interested in the kind of history a candidate
was interested in. Indeed a selection committee for a new
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appointment was appointed only after the personnel committee had
asked and answered the "field-period" question: For what area of
the world, and for what period of that area’'s history, should the
history department be offering undergraduate and graduate courses?
Often that question would be answered without much study or debate
if the following two conditions existed: (a) undergraduate and
graduate courses in that area were well attended; and (b) the
professor teaching in that area was due to retire. If such
conditions existed, a search committee for an appointment in that
field and period was soon appointed.

But since we had a large number of history majors (usually in
the neighborhood of a thousand), and our graduate students were
numerous (in my early years at Berkeley when I was the department's
M.A. adviser, we usually had one hundred or more new M.A. students
a year), we were readily provided FTE for new appointments. It was
almost a "blank-check" situation in which the department's
personnel committee recommended (and we set selections committees
for) new appointments in the department's three traditional Euro-
American fields: U.S. history, Latin American history, and European
history. But new appointments were also made outside those
traditional fields: Chinese (Wakeman and Keightley), Japanese
(Scheiner and Smith), and Russian (Malia and Riasanovsky).
Appointments were also made in new historical fields: African, Near
Eastern, and Jewish. New appointments were made as well in one
field without geographical or temporal boundaries, the history of
science (Kuhn and Dupree). Because so many appointments were made,
the size of the department increased from the time of the
"rebellion" in 1956 to the close of my second term as chairman in
1975.

But there was also a notable shift of interest to historians
who taught and wrote about a wider range of human experience (not
just political or economic change but cultural and intellectual
change as well) and whose teaching and research went beyond
description to interpretation and analysis: from writing
interesting stories about, or detailed and accurate chronological
reports on, what happened to raising and answering questions about
the meaning of what has happened, and still is happening, in human
history. While this general shift would probably be readily
recognized by most us, each would verbalize it differently since he
or she has found meaning and significance in different kinds of
change in different times and places.

For me at this point in time, and from my perspective as an
American specialist in Japanese history, I am inclined to find
meaning and significance mainly in the nature and power of
continuing interaction between authoritarian and liberal ideas and
behavior, an infreraction that seems to have shaped and colored
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politics and religion (and therefore almost everything else) among
peoples at all times and places.

How did you judge the teaching? It is always said that people
didn't care about teaching at Berkeley.

Oh, we cared. We had to care because, as noted above, teaching was
one of the three established criteria for appointments and
promotions. Every recommendation had to include objective evidence
of effective teaching. After the student movement of the 1960's,
we were required to obtain evaluations of teaching from students
enrolled in every class. Thus when I, as chairman, wrote a
recommendation for promotion, I always had a stack of
questionnaires before me that had been filled out by students
enrolled in courses taught by a particular professor. I must say,
however, that these questionnaires were not that helpful, mainly
because most students had nothing but high praise for their
teachers and usually did not explain why they rated them so high.
There were always a few--even in the classes of a teacher who had
been selected as Berkeley's Teacher of the Year--who did not like a
given teacher, and said so in no uncertain terms. But these
negative evaluations, too, usually did not reveal just why the
teacher was disliked, leaving the impression that there had been
some personality conflict that revealed little or nothing about the
quality of the professor's teaching.

We came to feel that evaluations made by other teachers were
more helpful than student questionnaires. So whenever considering
a new appointment, we went out of our way to organize a colloquium
in which the candidate's lecture would be heard by several
colleagues, especially by those who taught and did their research
in the candidate's field. Statements by these colleagues about the
ability to teach made it possible for me to write something quite
concrete and specific on his or her ability to teach.

Would these things be discussed?

Absolutely. Everything was discussed at great length. [laughter]
What was the tenor of these discussions?

They were great fun, long, and windy.

What about the feelings between colleagues? Were the discussions
heated?

We never got angry. We had disagreements but the meetings of our
tenure committee (professors who were associate and full professors

a



Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

Brown:

Lage:

123

with tenure) were nearly always sparked by perceptive comments made
in good humor. I thought of them as intellectual feasts.

The Loyalty Oath Controversy

We didn't talk at all about the loyalty oath and what effect that
had on the department, how the department reacted to that.

There was a lot of strong feeling. That was when Kantorowicz left
us.

That is what I've heard. What was he like? Tell me a little bit
more about him.

I don't know too much about his background. I know from talking
with him that he was friendly, had a great sense of humor, and had
broad intellectual interests. He was highly regarded by his
students. He felt strongly about the loyalty oath and left because
of it. Others also felt strongly. 1 personally didn't get so
deeply involved. I signed the oath without too much hesitation. I
suppose I should have taken a stronger position about it, but
somehow it didn't bother me that much.

Was it divisive within the department?

No. I think it was pretty much an individual matter. No one held
anything against anyone else because of what he or she did or did
not do. I remember Jim King felt very strongly that the president
and the Regents were wrong in requiring us to take an oath that we
were not communists.

He was against it?

Yes.

It didn't become a situation of taking sides within the department?

No. We didn't divide up on that. The student uprising in the
sixties was a different matter.

We're going to get to that next time.
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The Gender Issue: Only One Woman History Professor

Are there any more things that you think we should talk about the
fifties and your first chairmanship? We didn’t really talk
specifically about your chairmanship of the department [first term
as chair, 1957-1961].

When I talked about our appointments and Carl Bridenbaugh's
influence, we were talking about the fifties.

Yes. In those days did anybody think about, Why don't we have more
women professors, or--

We had one or two.
You had one.

We had a very distinguished woman quite early, Adrienne Koch in
American history. She was with us quite early, and very
distinguished.

But with you gentlemen on search committees, did the gender issue
arise?

There was a feeling that we ought to have more women professors.
But we would not have favored the selection of one who didn’'t
measure up academically.

Were there very many in the hiring pool?

Usually not. For many of the positions to be filled, there
wouldn't be a single woman candidate. There just weren’'t that many
around. We would have welcomed the chance to extend an offer to a
woman if she had been academically qualified.

Okay. The question didn't come up too often, it seems, the way it
did later.

It just didn’t come up, because it wasn’'t forced on us at that
time. Affirmative action was not yet passed by the courts and the
government.

Did Adrienne Koch take part in the governance of the department?
No, she didn’t. I had a great respect for her but, for some

reason, she did not seem to be liked that much by her colleagues in
the American field. I don't think it was because she was a woman.
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She was not considered for such positions as chairman or vice
chairman of the department.

Would she serve on search committees and things like that?

Undoubtedly she did that. I can't remember the details.

Increasing Secretarial and Administrative Assistance as Department
Chair

I am just trying to get a picture of these earlier years.

One thing that stands out in my memory of those early years was
that we really had only one secretary (Mildred Radke) in a
department that had over twenty professors, about one hundred
teaching assistants, and several hundred graduate students working
for advanced degrees in history. That was a big problem on which I
spent hours and hours of time.

Why did it become a problem at that time?

It was a problem because a clear line existed between academic work
(teaching and research) and nonacademic work (filing, typing,
filling out reports, drawing up budgets, and administering
programs), and relatively well paid members of the academic staff
were using an increasingly large percent of their time on
nonacademic matters, thereby decreasing their time for, and
undoubtedly reducing the quality of, the work they were paid to do.
Most of us were writing letters and administering programs that
should have been handled by nonacademic members of the staff, which
was one secretary.

She must have been busy.

She was very busy, but there was so much that she couldn’t do, and
much that she did not want to do. Chairmen who preceded me tried
to correct the situation by hiring secretaries, usually on a part-
time basis, to help her. But those hired to assist her usually did
not stay long, soon finding a job more to their liking. Mildred
was a very gentle and conscientious lady who was well liked by
everyone, especially the graduate students. She thought of herself
as the chairman’s secretary and could not and would not assume
responsibility for anything as complicated as the budget and
administering a departmental office.
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We felt that she should not only have more help but that we
ought to get someone else to do some of the clerical chores being
handled by the chairman or other members of the department. But we
couldn't move. The people hired to help would soon leave, and we
could not hire anyone to take over such matters as the budget
because a department of our size was entitled to only one
administrative assistant, a position that was held by Mildred
Radke. In talking with officials in the university's personnel
office, it became quite clear that if we wanted someone to handle
such difficult matters as the budget we had two options: either
have our present administrative assistant do it, or fire her and
get someone who could. And we couldn't fire her. She was doing
what she wanted to do very well, and everybody liked her. Neither
the department nor the union of nonacademic employees would have
put up with that. But it was pointed out, over and over, that our
department could have only one administrative assistant and that
position was held by Mildred Radke.

Regardless of size.

Possibly some units in the university were entitled to more than
one administrative assistant, but not the history department which,
along with English and political science and mathematics, was one
of the four largest departments on campus.

Finally we thought of making room for a new administrative
assistant by having Mildred take a lower rank, but retaining her
present salary. The personnel office said it could accept such an
arrangement if Mildred could. After long conversations with her,
she finally agreed to step down if she could keep her current
salary. She realized that we needed someone who would take on more
administrative responsibilities, and that she would soon be
retiring. We also tried to make the change easier for her by
putting her desk in a prominent place and giving her special
responsibilities with undergraduate majors, which numbered a
thousand or so at that time. Then we found a very able and
energetic woman to be our new administrative assistant, Janet
Purcell. Thereafter, a history department office gradually emerged
around the chairman’s office on the fourth floor of Dwinelle Hall
and the big room beside it where hundreds of history majors and
graduate students came for information, all departmental telephone
calls were made, and secretarial services for the faculty were
centered. To the side of that big room was our faculty mail room.
And beside the chairman's office (and across the hall) additional
rooms were gradually acquired for the chairman’s secretary, the
administrative assistant (Janet Purcell), an assistant to the
administrative assistant, an assistant for graduate studies, an
assistant for undergraduate studies, a secretary for the holders of
endowed chairs, and the storsge and copying of tezching and
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research materials. By the time Mildred retired, the office must
have had a staff of ten people.

It may be destined to get smaller again with the budget cuts.

Could be, but my guess is that cuts will come first in other areas:
fewer professors (there are already fewer members of the department
than when I retired); more professors at junior ranks (almost no
new appointments are now made at the tenure rank); and less money
for books, research materials, and travel. As teaching and
research become affected more by the use of electronic teaching
aids and computerized databases, the department will probably need
even more clerical assistance, not less, especially if our
department continues to hold the lead in creative teaching and
research.

What is secretarial assistance--isn't it assistance for academic
work?

Certainly it is, but there is an area of assistance that is
nonacademic (which is done by secretaries and assistants who are
nonacademic employees of the university) and that is academic
(which is done by graduate students who serve as teaching and
research assistants and who are academic employees of the
university). It is often difficult to draw the line separating
assistance from actual teaching, especially when a teaching
assistant spends more time with individual students than the
professor being assisted, and for research, when a research
assistant digs up most of the data incorporated in a research paper
published by the professor being assisted. Even secretaries must
feel that they are getting into teaching when helping a professor
write evaluations of research papers written by his students. But
the line is important: it differentiates assistance from the
academic functions of a university, without which the teaching and
research of a professor would suffer.

The value of assistance is easier to see in the fields of
science but more difficult, especially for the outsider, in the
humanities and social sciences. But unless that value is
recognized and funded, teaching and research in those disciplines
are sure to slide toward mediocrity and stagnation.

Nonacademic assistance is more often seen and measured in
terms of assistance to the teaching and research of an individual
professor but it is far more important for those who have taken on
administrative responsibilities (such as the chairmanship) and who
serve on key committees (such as special committees for new
academic appointments). The need is particularly heavy for the
committee appointed to decide which of the hundreds of applicants
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will be admitted to the graduate division for work toward the Ph.D.
degree in history. This heavy burden would be far heavier if there
was no assistant to open up all these packets, put the
recommendations and transcripts in order, make tables showing just
how each student compares with others in grades and SAT scores, and
handle other clerical chores.

Every new teaching program creates additional administrative
burdens that can be best handled, in terms of cost and the
teaching-research function of professors, by clerks and typists.
Let me give two examples of how two generously funded programs have
greatly enhanced teaching and research and, at the same time,
increased the need for additional help from the office staff. Such
administrative-assistance burdens are always increased with every
new generously supported teaching-research program; and a
distinguished department attracts, and is made more distinguished
by, these new programs. Almost every professor in the history
department regularly receives research grants that enable him or
her to take off as much as a full year for research and as
frequently as every three years. And each grant involves
considerable paperwork, much of which can and should be handled by
a secretary or assistant. Also, the department as a whole receives
generous grants that, while enhancing teaching and research, add to
the administrative burdens for which assistance is required.

Endowed Chairs and Professional Promotion Policies

What grants do you mean?

I would like to comment on two: our endowed chairs, and the so-
called anonymous fund.

When I was last chairman, we had five or six endowed chairs
and I hear that there are now at least two more. It now takes
around one million dollars to endow a chair. So everyone knows
that the history department has been generously treated. Each
endowment provides funds not merely for the salary of the chair
holder but support for teaching and research. But the department
is presented with the additional burden of budgeting and processing
all endowed-chair expenditures. [Editor's note--endowed chairs
have not traditionally paid the base salary of faculty who hold the
endowed chair.)

But before going into detail about my experience with that
particular administrative burden, I feel impelled to say something
about the larger question of whether we have used our endowments
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according to the wishes and expectations of the donors. I have an
uneasy feeling that those who have given the university millions of
dollars for chairs may have been thinking or assuming, as others
have, that these endowments would enable the department to hire
distinguished professors from other universities to teach and do
research in new fields of history. To my knowledge, no such
limitations have been spelled out in any of the existing
endowments, although some are limited to appointments in the fields
of American or European history. But I wonder if the donors or
their heirs would not be disturbed to find that (1) very few
appointments have gone to professors not already in the department,
and (2) the history department at Berkeley, with its six or more
chairs, has no more professors than the history department at UCLA
which, in my days at least, had no chairs at all. Those two points
may not bother living or prospective donors, but our presidents and
chancellors, in their endeavors to obtain more chairs should be
quite certain, not necessarily in writing, that the donors are not
motivated to endow chairs by hopes and expectations that are not
likely to be met.

Having aired one concern about our chairs, I might as well air
another. This is that the very existence of chairs, especially
since they tend to be awarded to persons already in the department,
creates a special professorial rank that a majority of our
professors can never attain. That is a break with the established
tradition--which I think most of my colleagues would agree has been
an important source of departmental strength--that any man or woman
appointed to the position of assistant professor (a ladder
appointment) will never be prevented by the absence of a budgetary
provision (an FTE or full-time equivalent) from moving to the top
of the academic ladder.

Unlike Ivy League universities where there are never enough
budgetary slots at the associate professor level to permit the
promotion of every assistant professor to tenure, we have never
been constrained by such a situation. No blockage of this kind has
kept any assistant professor from rising to a higher rank or from
rising, at least during my years as chairman, to a higher pay scale
within his or her rank. But the existence of chairs does present
such blockage for a majority of our full professors. This surely
creates uncertainty, 1f not disappointment and resentment, for
many.

I know that this made George Guttridge, at least before he
himself was awarded a chair, wonder whether chairs were good for
the department. Others have claimed (with little or no valid
evidence to support their claims) that some professors have
accepted appointments at other institutions because they did not
receive, or saw no chance of receiving, a chair appointment at
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Berkeley. I have detected no deterioration of collegiality as a
result of having chairs, but this "ladder blockage" is a concern I
feel impelled to draw to the attention of those who will be
involved in the department's future growth. A few things have been
done, and will surely continue to be done, to prevent non-chair-
holding professors from feeling that they have been demoted.

Which brings to mind a proposal that was brought before the
statewide Budget Committee when I was a member in 1965-66. This
was that we abandon the practice of considering every professor for
advancement to the next highest pay scale after a specified number
of years. The person proposing the change argued that (1) too many
professors were being advanced to higher pay scales whose teaching,
research, and service records were mediocre and (2) too many
outstanding professors were not being advanced far enough or fast
enough. Every member of that select Budget Committee except me
favored the proposal, maybe feeling that they were (or would like
to be) among the outstanding professors who should be treated
better.

Anyway, my objections were strong enough to convince the
statewide Budget Committee that we should check back with our
respective senates before putting the proposal to a vote. At the
next meeting, each member of the committee came back to announce
(in many cases with considerable surprise) that his particular
campus was overwhelmingly against dropping the tradition of
requiring a consideration of advancement after a prescribed number
of years. Most members of the Academic Senate on each campus must
have felt not only that they had been properly promoted and
advanced but that they did not want their university to gravitate
toward a situation, seen elsewhere, in which a professor assumes he
will not be promoted unless he obtains an offer of higher rank and
pay from some other university. Such a situation surely
constitutes a drag on, if not an obstruction to, creative teaching
and research.

In an attempt to avoid such discontent, I made a point of
trying, and usually succeeding, to obtain accelerated advancements
and promotions for professors with particularly strong teaching and
research records. And I am convinced that it was because of such
efforts that Joseph Levenson, for example, turned down offers from
Eastern universities before telling me that he had received those
offers.

In sum, I value our traditional policy of relatively regular
promotions and advancements and would not like to have it weakened
by the possession of so many, but not enough, good chairs.
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I say "not enough" with conviction because it is clear that
the chairs provide financially meaningful recognition for
outstanding historians and, in addition, give these professors
extra funds for teaching and research. Both add prestige to the
professors and their department, as well as luster to their
teaching and research records. So although I am concerned that our
use of the endowments may not be in accord with the hopes and
expectations of the donors and that, if we are not careful, the
chairs may lead to a deterioration of morale among those who are
destined to be no more than a professor of history, we should have
more chairs, not less.

Didn't you want to say something about the administrative burden of
endowed chairs?

Yes, I would like to get back to that. One day during my second
term as chairman [1972-1975], it was revealed that each chair
endowment had a rather large sum of income that was not being used.
This was because the terms of each endowment stipulated that none
of its income, even savings created when a professor receives a
grant for full-time research, could be used except for the salary,
and research and teaching, of that particular chair holder. And
since each one of our chair holders was a distinguished scholar who
regularly receives such grants, his endowment had considerable
savings that could not be tapped even for the pay of a replacement
while a chair holder was on leave. After noticing a constant
increase in these savings for each chair, one of the budget
officers brought this to my attention. He was apparently uneasy
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